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D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Unequal pay for men and women; and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: II Attachments 1-10 

Chairman Keiser: Opens the hearing on HB 1257. 

Representative Kylie Oversen-District 42 in Grand Forks: (Attachment 1 ). 

7:00 

Representative Laning: It seems that this is already law? 

Oversen: Yes, but it's cleaning up the language because it hasn't been done in 50 years, 
but we still have a problem with equal pay. There is a wage gap and I'm hoping to enforce 
what is already in the books. 

Representative Laning: On your wage comparisons, was there an in-depth analysis on 
the wage comparison where we are talking hours to hours and so on? 

Oversen: I can get you more statistics that were pulled out of the data we have. They 
take into account education, experience, hours, and work requirement. It's intended to 
show a real reflection of the differential that women versus men earn. 

Representative Becker: The stats that you give, what concerns me is these stats aren't 
overly helpful. You need to show more meaningful statistics. 

Oversen: To the best my knowledge, in reading all the data, the researchers who did the 
wage gap; do follow their best to account for all sectors. I 'm happy to email more 
information to help ease your concerns. 

Representative Kasper: I would like to see the detail where you came up with these 
numbers, who did it and their actual research and data. 
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Oversen: OK. 

Representative M Nelson: That individual, if they feel that they were discriminated 
against and they can show that there is a pay differential, then the employer does get the 
opportunity to bring in all of those things. We can talk the big picture, but in the court room, 
it's down to what the facts are to the individual case. 

Oversen: That's correct, that's what the prima facie case establishes. 

Representative Ruby: I don't have much problem with the clean ups, I'm wondering if it's 
basically trying to address the situation, the difference of the sexes. What about the races 
and age that could also have some disparity? 

Oversen: I completely agree with you, but they are protected under the human rights act. 

Representative Kasper: Page 3, line 26, have we not switched or changed the normal 
course of action when the accused is accused? Isn't it current law, the accuser must prove 
beyond reasonable doubt. Here the employer has to prove they're innocent, isn't that a flip 
of our current law in the state in North Dakota? 

Oversen: That would be the standard under criminal law but under civil law the standards 
differ. Specifically to this chapter of the code, there isn't a standard in place. It's different 
under federal law than state law and I thought we would better clarify it at state law what we 
expect. 

Representative Kasper: Is it the state's choice to choose how we handle this situation, 
could we reverse it or because of federal law, do we have to go with what your language 
says? 

Oversen: It's up to the committee, if they choose to do an amendment to reverse that. My 
opinion, it makes more sense, as the employee won't have access to the necessary 
records after they offer that minimum standard of proof. The employer is the one who has 
to provide all the records of all of their employers to proof that this is what they base their 
pay off of. That's the investigative process that currently takes place. 

Representative Kasper: On the other hand, in a court case that has been filed, would not 
the employer be required to provide that data anyway? 

Oversen: Correct, if I'm hearing what you're saying. 

Representative Ruby: If you look on the line above that, that doesn't take in consideration 
for longevity or experiences. Does this allow that flexibility or are we pretty much stuck to 
that type of bar? 

Oversen: What all of this section is doing is, what evidence the employee does have to 
produce. 

Representative Louser: Do we have a pay gap in state government? 
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Oversen: There is more transparency in state government jobs. 

Chairman Keiser: Page 3, lines 16-18, are you sure we should be doing that? Could 
there be an administrative action that would be different than a legal action and for the 
workers should be upheld in both criminal and civil action in the court system? Do you 
want to eliminate the option for our employees to dismiss any administrative action, once 
they filed court? 

Oversen: I t  does make sense that if the court is going to the investigative process and 
hear the entire claim, it wouldn't make sense for the labor department doing the same work. 
The penalty in the end would be stronger under the district court. I will leave that up to the 
discretion of the committee to make it permissive. 

Representative Frantsvog: Do all claims go to the labor commission? 

Oversen: Not necessarily, they don't have to file first with the commissioner of labor. 

Renee Stromme-Women's Network: (Attachment 2, 2A, 28, 3,4). 
Representative Becker: I'm not seeing in the study including longevity or taking the 
longevity variable out of the equation? Is it addressing longevity? 

Stromme: There is a section about "life choices", in that section, that addressed a piece of 
it. They do take into consideration all of the factors, they do the apples and oranges 
comparison in general that women earn less money that aren't on the hands of the 
business community to figure out. They also put it on the hands of women, you need to 
negotiate. Women are less prone to negotiate their pay wages; again, discrimination bills 
don't address this. What happens is when there is more transparency, women negotiate 
more. There is a level of discrimination that it does occur and that's a piece of the puzzle 
too and that's what the law can do when women are not given the raises at the same level. 
These laws only address a piece of that. 

Representative Becker: They address the longevity in the sense of "like choices", but 
statically is what I'm asking about and they don't show that in there. I would like to see the 
data. If there is a pay gap based on bias, I would want to be a part in the effort to eliminate 
that. If there is a perceived pay gap because people aren't looking closely enough and it 
turned out not to be necessary, I don't want to be a part of that. Education, is that the 
same? 

Stromme: I don't know of hand. 

Representative Louser: Looking at page 7, we are showing North Dakota as number 4]1h 
in medium income, but we are hearing in reports that we are in the top five for medium 
income. Why are we 4]1h 

in one report and other reports, we are in the top 5? 

Stromme: We are 4]1h in the ranking of the gap and not income. 
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Chairman Keiser: Are you helping the committee understand the conditions under which 
the employer legal authority to not discriminate, but to pay differentially? What are the legal 
mechanisms providing the employer has policies and procedures that can be use legally to 
pay differently? I'm looking for the list of variables that an employer can use to differentiate 
pay for the same job, like a teacher ladder pay salary? 

Stromme: If you look a HB 1293, then reads it. 

Chairman Keiser: That doesn't define it very well. Next is the informal thing, I'm an 
employer; I have two employees doing the same job. One employee who contributes to the 
job and the other employee who causes a lot of problems, I cannot discriminate on wages, 
one is acceptable and other is outstanding, can I use these ladder ratings of job evaluation 
to give one a 5% raise and the other no raise? 

Stromme: I would like to go back and research and give concrete information. 

Chairman Keiser: The committee needs to understand that. 

Stromme: I agree to that. 

Stewart Savakol: On behalf of Nick Archuleta-President of North Dakota United: 
(Reads his testimony-attachment 5). 

Representative Becker: Gives a hypothetical. Will they be paid the same, one on 11th 
year the other on 5th year? 

Savakol: No, they will not be. 

Representative Becker: You do agree we should consider longevity in statistic to 
determine whether there is a pay gap? 

Savakol: I believe someone is better equipped to answer on how that would impact that, 
for teachers, absolutely. 

T J Jerke-On behalf of the North Dakota Human Rights Coalition: (Attachment 6) 

Tom Ricker- President of the ND AFL-CIO: (Attachment 7). 

Representative Ruby: On the second page of your handout, "raising the minimum and 
tipped minimum wages would help close the wage gap, this leads me to believe that the 
gap is determined more on the wage it's given for the type of job. A minimum wage job is 
not necessarily disparity between doing the same job. 

Ricker: I don't think that is necessarily true. The reason is at the bottom of the page you 
will see links to access to see where the research came from. 

Josh Askvig-Associate State Director of Advocacy for AARP North Dakota: 
(Attachment 8). 
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Chairman Keiser: Is there anyone else here to testify in support, opposition? 

Andy Peterson-President & CEO of the Greater ND Chamber: (Attachment 9). 

Representative Hanson: Do you feel the chamber sees a route that this bill could become 
supported by the chamber. 

Peterson: If you could take out that section that I reference to, we would be much more 
amendable to this bill. 

Representative Hanson: Could you gage the status in favor or opposition. 

Peterson: We would like to see the language, but most likely support it. 

Chairman Keiser: I share your concern about crowding the court system with non-valid 
complaints, the valid ones we want. In worker's compensation, we do have a system 
established where they can first file with the labor commissioner. If they weren't satisfied 
with the labor commissioner, the interim step is an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) that can 
adjudicate the case. Then if they are not happy with that, then they can go to the district 
court. It's been proven successful. Do you see having any practicality to try to reduce the 
district court level? I have a concern that the district court has to take the case and be 
overwhelmed. 

Peterson: In theory, we like the approach and would support it. 

Representative M Nelson: Have you ever filed a complaint with an administrative 
agency? 

Peterson: Short answer, yes. 

Representative M Nelson: Have you ever initiated a law suit in district court? 

Peterson: No. 

Representative M Nelson: You characterized the district court as being easier under this 
law. What did you base that on? 

Peterson: I rely on our attorneys. 

Representative M Nelson: It's easier to complain to the labor commissioner, than it would 
be to hire a lawyer, come to an agreement and so on and go to district court. Is it not 
easier to go to court? 

Peterson: One of the things that employers want is a straight path forward without any 
deviations. They don't want to get into that situation with them. We don't want that to be a 
first line of defense. 
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Chairman Keiser: Anyone else here to testify on HB 1257 in opposition, a neu ral 
position? 

52:45 

Troy Seibel-Commissioner of Labor: (Attachment 10). 

59:09 

Representative Louser: You said less than 5 cases per year get referred to the EEOC. 
The vast majority you investigate, what number is that per year? 

Seibel: In fiscal year July 2013-14, all the cases based on sex discrimination that we 
closed totaled 46. That may or may not be pay issues. We don't break down into 
subcategories those claims. 

Representative Louser: How often do you do fine yourself issuing new regulations to 
perform here? 

Seibel: We have not issued any regulations. 

Representative Becker: Of the 5 for the EEOC and 46 in the fiscal year, how many were 
deemed to have merit to go on to the next phase? 

Seibel: I don't know, but I can get that fact figure but I would say it's around the 5% figure. 

Representative Laning: Have you ever had a case where a male was being 
discriminated? 

Seibel: Yes, but that's under the human rights. 

Representative Boschee: Have there been incidences where a citizen has come to he 
department with a complaint, you had to turn them away based on your staffing? 

Seibel: No, we do not turn anyone away. We have had requests for transfers to EEOC. 

Representative Boschee: This makes me happy that you don't turn anyone away. 

Representative M Nelson: An equal pay that goes to the EEOC, the next step is federal 
court? 

Seibel: That's correct. 

Representative M Nelson: On the human rights, do you issue a ruling or have to go to 
administrative law judge? 

Seibel: Under our human right act, if we a cause finding that the statue was violated, he 
charging party has the opportunity to make an election between an administrative hearing 
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or going to district court. It's up to the individual to where they want to go. The department 
will bring a complaint with the office of administrative hearing and the ALJ will be assigned 
and the Attorney General's office represents the department in that proceeding. 

Chairman Keiser: Anyone else here to testify in neutral? Seeing none, closes the hearing 
on HB 1257. 

Chairman Keiser: Appoints a subcommittee with Vice Chairman Sukut as chairman and 
Representative Becker & Representative Boschee will serve on the committee. Anyone in 
the audience who wants to participate, give our committee clerk your information. We will 
send you notification when they will meet. The committee will address a couple of points: 
find the problem, if it exists, on the bill addresses the problem if one exists, look at the 
prima facie problem and decide what changes to make if there is problems. The 
subcommittee will report to the full committee . 
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IZl Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Unequal pay for men and women and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: 

Meeting location: Peace Garden room. 

Members present: Vice Chairman Sukut, Representative Becker, Representative 
Boschee. 

Others Present: Representative Oversen, Troy Seibel-North Dakota Department of 
Labor, Tom Ricker-President of the AFL-CIO, Renee Stromme-North Dakota Women's 
Network and Helene Herauf-G NDC. 

TOPIC DISCUSSED 

Chairman Sukut: Calls the subcommittee hearing on HB1257. Our bill is dealing with 
equal pay for men and women with comparable working and skills. The bill is attempting 
to make it better. We will identify the problem and we are going to fix. A couple of 
problems are prima facie section where it's innocent until proven guilty but the area was 
guilty until proven innocent. The other area is the labor commissioner, with receiving 
additional complaints which will create a lot of work. 

We will get a hold of Legislative Council, make arrangements with Katherine Hill on 
speaker phone to address our concerns there and the main thing is to determine, do we 
have a problem with current laws addressing this issue adequately. We need to set up 
quickly. 

We will find the best option to meet next week but first we have to see when Katherine Hill 
from DC is available by phone. 

No Motion and vote. 
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� Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of l:J1 I/resolution: 

Unequal pay for men and women and t provide a penalty. 

Minutes: hment 1-3 

Meeting Location: Peace Garden room. 

Members Present: Chairman Sukut, Representative Becker, Representative Boschee . 

Others present: Dr Catherine Hill-the American Association of University Women-By 
phone, Representative Oversen, Troy Seibel-North Dakota Department of Labor, Renee 
Strommee. 

TOPIC DISCUSSED 

Vice Chairman Sukut: Calls the subcommittee hearing on HB 1257. Representative 
Becker has questions on the studies done by Dr Catherine Hill. 

Our plan is to address the issues brought by the three drafts at the next subcommittee. 

Troy Seibel-North Dakota Department of Labor: (Attachment 1 ). He was asked for 
information to present to the committee from the first hearing. 

(Attachment 2)-CT Marhula from Grand Forks. They were unable to attend the hearing 
and wanted testimony for the record. 

(Attachment 3)-Renee Stromme-Additional survey study. 

No motion and vote. 
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� Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for intro 

{o . 
Unequal pay for men and women and bprov1de a penalty. 

Minutes: Attachment 1 

Meeting Location: Peace Garden room. 

Members Present: Chairman Sukut, Representative Becker, Representative Boschee. 

Others present: Dr Catherine Hill-the American Association of University Women-By 
phone, Representative Oversen, Troy Seibel-North Dakota Department of Labor, Renee 
Stromme & Jennifer Clark-Legal Counsel for North Dakota Legislative Council. 

[ (J; ·.()CJ -- 0 i � 0 VJ TOPIC DISCUSSED 

Vice Chairman S���e�n the subcommittee hearing on HB 1257 when Jennifer Clark 
present. She walks through the mocked up bill providing legal counsel. 

No motion and vote. 
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� Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Unequal pay for men and women and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: Attachment 1-2 

Meeting Location: Peace Garden room. 

Members Present: Chairman Sukut, Representative Becker & Representative Boschee. 

Other Present: Troy Seibel-North Dakota Department of Labor, Renee Stromme, 
Representative Oversen and Laney Herauf-North Dakota Chamber. 

TOPIC DISCUSSED 

Chairman Sukut: Opens the subcommittee on HB 1257. Discussion on amendments 
(Attachment 1A-.01003), (Attachment 1B-.01002) and (Attachment 2-the mockup version). 

We need to present these amendments before the committee to see where they will be at 
on these. If the committee has problems, we still can amend and change it. 

No motion or vote. 
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D Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Unequal pay for men and women and provide a penalty. 

Minutes: tachments 1, 1A & 1 B 

Chairman Keiser: Opens the work session on HB 1257. 

Vice Chairman Sukut: Reports on the subcommittee actions. We have 2 amendments 
which were handed out but we also handed out a marked up addition if the bill. 
(Attachment 1, 1 B). Goes through the marked up attachment. 

Representative Boschee: (Attachment 1A). Goes over his amendment 15.0793.01003. 

Representative Ruby: It doesn't say it's egregious and that would be the only time that it 
would be determined. Yes, it may have gone to court but it went to court because they 
didn't think they violated it, they thought they had a different interpretation. Once they lost, 
they going to be some punitive damages that will come to them or they are going to change 
their practice. That's fine if they do, but then why would that information have to be 
distributed to every agency and they may never bid under any of those other agencies. I 
think it's an unnecessary notification. 

Representative Boschee: If you recall , OMB says they only do a small pie of the contract. 
They don't do centralized contracting for all agencies, that's the intent. It doesn't say they 
have to cancel contracts only if they wish. 

Representative Ruby: Can't they do their own background checks if they were concerned 
about that? 

Representative Boschee: I think where the concern is if we are under current contract 
with someone and found a violation. In the last five years, I think there have been two 
equal pay violations that have been found? 

Troy Seibel-Director of the North Dakota Department of Labor: I'm not aware of any 
cause finding by the EEOC in North Dakota under the equal pay act. 
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Representative Boschee: I take it back, there were four. 

Vice Chairman Sukut: Continues going over attachment 1, the marked up bill. 

Chairman Keiser: (Attachment 1 B). I asked Jennifer Clark to explain the difference. 

Jennifer Clark-Legislative Council: In the version of the prima facie language you have 
right now, in section 1 of the bill. They are design to be parallel. As this bill was 
introduced, that prima facia evidence required was slightly less and it made it a little bit 
easier for the plaintiff to get their foot in the door but they are not the holders of the 
information. Now as we have amended in Vice Chairman Sukut's version, they are the 
same. The way you get your foot in the door is to prove that a violation happened. The 
way an employer returns is, I'm not in violation and they say that the differentials are a 
result of one of these permissible items. That permissible item cannot be gender related, 
so their seniority system can't be gender bias. I haven't been in a civil court room in a 
number of years. I would rely on an expert, a civil practitioner, to confirm that nothing we 
are doing in that prima facie provides a tool for either party. I don't think it does. You run 
the risk, if you pass them both, somewhere down the line you amended one body of law 
and not the other, now they would be different. 

Representative Laning: Would you prefer in your opinion, the prima facie left in or taken 
out? 

Clark: With the preface that the only reason, is for future sessions in drafting, my 
preference for it to be in one place. 

Representative Beadle: Under title 7, of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, there is a prima 
facia requirement under federal law. Our laws make it so they can take discrimination 
complaint into the state courts as to oppose seeking federal district court remedies. Is their 
burden on the federal different from our burden on the state, when it comes into conflict, 
does it matter what jurisdiction they are taking the case to. 

Clark: That is always going to be the party needs to take which forms that has better law 
and history on how they applied it. 

Representative Beadle: It just applies to the jurisdiction you are taking? 

Clark: Correct. 

Representative Ruby: I want your thought on the statute of limitations for court action. In 
the new language isn't it making it a determination that it's unlawful before the court case 
determines that it is? 

Clark: It is the alleged unlawful action, so that might be the distinction you are looking at. 
That might be a valuable word to add there but I think it's important to focus on the 
terminology being used is unlawful employment practice and when it occurs. 
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Representative Ruby: Before it said, claim of relieve occurs, which is, still what would be 
happening or the alleged. They are kind of the same thing. 

Clark: That language unlawful employment practice. Page 2 on your markup, lines 4-9, 
pulls together as you are talking about what is that unlawful employment practice. 

Chairman Keiser: Commissioner would you walk through, the needs for a prima facia 
approach is unnecessary. If a complaint is filed by an employee, you have a statutory legal 
obligation to immediately step in and investigate. Your investigation, you have to make the 
determinations whether it's frivolous or a legitimate claim. In pursing that answer, you have 
at your disposal every tool necessary on behalf of that party to obtain information. It's the 
little people going against the big organization but it's not just the little person. It's the 
Department of Labor going up against that organization. When everything was requested, 
we overwhelmed them and something missing, wouldn't you subpoena them? 

Seibel: More than likely yes, we would go and get those records. In employment 
discrimination law, in the early 90's, the Supreme Court issued the McDowell-Douglas 
decision. What it did essentially is put in place the idea, burden shifting framework when it 
comes to discrimination statue. An employee needs to come in and make a sufficient 
allegation that they have met their prima facie burden. If they don't do that, the 
investigation ends there and the employee loses. If they do that, the burden then shifts to 
the employer to simply articulate a legitimate non-discriminatory business reason why it 
took the action they took. Once that reason is given, then the burden shifts to the 
employee to show that that reason shown, pretext. The ultimate burden of whether or not 
our discrimination statues are violated always remains with the charging party. 

25:00 

Chairman Keiser: But you did the investigation and demanded the information. It wasn't 
up to the employee to provide it. You jumped in first. 

Chairman Keiser: We have HB 1257 before us with two amendments options before us, 
what are your wishes. 

Representative Laning: Move to adopt the amendment 15.0793.01004. 

Representative Ruby: Second. 

Roll call was taken on amendment 15.0793.01004 with 11 yes, 4 no, 0 absent, motion 
carried. 

Chairman Keiser: We have the second amendment regarding the reporting of a violation 
that is recurring. 

Representative Boschee: Moves to further amend, amendment 15.0793.01003. 

Representative Hanson: Second. 
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Vice Chairman Sukut: Why are we including the commissioner to inform the head of each 
executive branch agency, including the institutions of high learning, under the control of the 
state board? 

Representative Boschee: That because OMS testified, they only do a small pie of the 
contracting of the state. This is to insure all contracting entities of the state would receive a 
notification from the labor commissioner and do it as their policies required. 

Chairman Keiser: That is correct. OMS only manages the executive branch. The judicial 
branch does it on their own and Legislature does our own purchasing outside of OMS. 

Representative Becker: Amendment .01003, now includes what on the 2nd page, which is 
the "however"? 

Chairman Keiser: That's correct. Further discussion, we will take roll call for amendment 
on .01003. 

Roll call was taken on the adoption of amendment .01003 with 5 yes, 10 no, 0 absent, 
motion fails. 

Chairman Keiser: What are the wishes of the committee? 

Representative Ruby: Moves a Do Pass as Amended. 

Vice Chairman Sukut: Second. 

Roll call for a Do Pass as Amended on HB 1257 with 15 yes, 0 no, 0 absent and Vice 
Chairman Sukut is the carrier. 



15.0793.01004 
Title .02000 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for~ 9'\Vi 
Representative Keiser / 

February 2, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 1, remove "create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women; to" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "job descriptive" 

Page 1, line 14, after the second "systems" insert "that measure earnings by quantity or quality 
of production" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "increase" 

Page 1, line 15, overstrike "executive training programs" and insert immediately thereafter"£ 
bona fide factor other than gender, such as education , training, or experience" 

Page 2, line 17, remove "Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a 
discriminatory practice" 

Page 2, remove lines 18 and 19 

Page 2, line 20, remove ".1." 

Page 3, line 1, replace "4." with "3." 

Page 3, line 4, replace "5." with "4." 

Page 3, line 16, replace "§,,"with "~" 

Page 3, line 17, remove "administrative" 

Page 3, remove lines 19 through 26 

Page 4, line 2, remove "dismisses the complaint or issues a" 

Page 4, line 3, replace "written probable cause determination" with "completes an investigation 
or otherwise notifies the complainant the commissioner will be taking no further action 
on the complaint" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0793.01004 
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15.0793.01003 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Boschee 

January 29, 2015 

PROPOSEDAMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "section 34-05-05 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after the first "to" insert "duties of the labor commissioner and" 

Page 1, after line 5 insert: 

"SECTION 1. Section 34-05-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and 
enacted as follows: 

34-05-05. Labor commissioner - Notification of state agencies. 

If the commissioner determines or becomes aware a district court has 
determined an employer committed a discriminatory practice under chapter 14-02.4 or 
section 34-06.1-03. or the commissioner becomes aware of a determination a North 
Dakota employer committed a comparable discriminatory practice under federal law, 
the commissioner shall inform the head of each executive branch agency. including 
institutions of higher education under the control of the state board of higher education. 
that the prohibited act occurred." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0793.01003 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
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Module ID: h_stcomrep_21_007 
Carrier: Sukut 

Insert LC: 15.0793.01004 Title: 02000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1257: Industry, Business and Labor Committee (Rep. Keiser, Chairman) 

recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended , recommends 
DO PASS (15 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1257 was placed 
on the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, remove "create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North 
Dakota" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women ; to" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "job descriptive" 

Page 1, line 14, after the second "systems" insert "that measure earnings by quantity or 
quality of production" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "increase" 

Page 1, line 15, overstrike "executive training programs" and insert immediately thereafter "2 
bona fide factor other than gender, such as education, training, or experience" 

Page 2, line 17, remove "Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a 
discriminatory practice" 

Page 2, remove lines 18 and 19 

Page 2, line 20, remove ".1." 

Page 3, line 1, replace "4." with ".1." 

Page 3, line 4, replace"~" with "4." 

Page 3, line 16, replace "~" with "~" 

Page 3, line 17, remove "administrative" 

Page 3, remove lines 19 through 26 

Page 4, line 2, remove "dismisses the complaint or issues a" 

Page 4, line 3, replace "written probable cause determination" with "completes an 
investigation or otherwise notifies the complainant the commissioner will be taking no 
further action on the complaint" 

Renumber accordingly 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 h_stcomrep_21_007 
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2015 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Industry, Business and Labor Committee 
Roosevelt Park Room, State Capitol 

HB 1257 
3/4/2015 

Job Number 24298 

D Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to unequal pay for men and women. 

Minutes: ts 1-4 

Chairman Klein opened the hearing on HB 1257. 

Representative Kylie Oversen (District 42) See attachment #1 in support of HB 1257. 
(Meter 05:22) 

Sen. Klein: Does North Dakota not have to follow federal statute today? Why would we 
need to provide this language in ND law when we have to follow the federal law anyway? 

Rep. Oversen: By placing more provisions in state law it allows an employee to bring a 
claim into state court as opposed to a federal court and they can bring it through our 
Department of Labor. 

Sen. Burckhard: Is the 2 years after the fact the way it is in the federal law as well? 

Rep. Oversen: For the statute of limitations I believe it is already 2 years. What we did 
was clarify that it means 2 years after the unlawful practice had occurred as opposed to 
maybe 2 years after they were dismissed from the job or 2 years after they started the job. 
This pertains to any size business. 

Renee Stromme (ND Women's Network) See attachment #2 in support of HB 1257 which 
includes letters from 2 women affected by pay discrimination. 

Sen. Klein: The laws are on the books now. This just makes it easier because they can 
still file currently, right? 

Ms. Stromme: Yes, they can. There is a process in place. One of the biggest obstacles 
in North Dakota is the number of lawyers who are willing to take the cases. There is 
discrimination happening. There is a lack of civil rights attorneys. 
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Sen. Klein: So it will more clearly define what the rules are so that when they are filing a 
suit on behalf of someone the rules aren't ambiguous? That's what this helps do? 

Ms. Stromme: Correct. 

Tom Ricker (President of ND AFLCIO) testified in support of HB 1 257. He pointed out that 
an employee is an asset to their employer and hopefully creates value to the employer. 
Whether they are male or female, regardless of their race, if they are creating a value to the 
employer, the value is the same and the compensation should be the same. The bill does 
spell out that there are factors where people can be compensated differently like length of 
service, education, etc. If the sole determination for the pay difference is because of their 
gender, that is not acceptable and should not be acceptable in North Dakota. 

T J Jerke (ND Human Rights Coalition) See attachment #3 in support of HB 1 257. 

Stuart Savelkoul (Assistant Executive Director, ND United) This organization represents 
1 1 ,000 K-12, higher education, and public employees in North Dakota. On behalf of half of 
those employees he testified in support of HB 1257. Equal pay for equal work has been an 
immutable principle in education in North Dakota since 1 969. As all K-12 teachers perform 
their duties under a collectively bargained agreement with a school district all teachers are 
paid based on where they fall on a salary schedule regardless of gender. All ND 
employees no matter where they are employed should work in accordance with that same 
principle but they don't. 

Josh Askvig (AARP) Presented testimony in support of HB 1257. See attachment #4. 

There was no opposing testimony. 

Senator Klein closed the hearing on HB 1257. He said he would ask the labor 
commissioner to stop by the committee to explain his position on this before committee 
action would be taken. 



2015 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Industry, Business and Labor Committee 
Roosevelt Park Room, State Capitol 

HB 1257 
3/9/2015 

Job Number 24511 

D Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to unequal pay for men and women 

Minutes: No Attachments 

Chairman Klein: Said that they heard the bill last week but the commissioner was absent 
and he just wanted to make sure what they were doing is conforming to what he believe is 
the State law. 

Troy Seibel, Labor Commissioner: The bill before you, we spent a lot of time on over on 
the House side in a subcommittee. We had several meetings and hammered out what you 
got before you which is the amended version of the bill. He went over the bill. (:50-5:13) 

Senator Sinner: What that means is the statute of limitations expires two years after they 
leave the job. 

Troy Seibel: That's right, essentially now it will start running at the last possible time when 
we consider they were a victim of a discriminatory practice. He continues going over the 
bill. (5:32-7:09) 

Senator Murphy: Is that because the district ruling would supersede the commission? 

Troy Seibel: It is primarily so we are not duplicating are resources. He continues going 
over the bill. (7:25-11 :53) 

Chairman Klein: So employers will be required to maintain payroll records for two years, 
would that be State or Federal law? 

Troy Seibel: That would be State law. (12:11-12:46) 

Senator Sinner: My question is if you only require the employer to keep those records for 
two years and the employee files a wage discrimination suit at one year and eleven months 
by the time you get around to looking at them they are gone. 
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Troy Seibel: If it got to that point, it is really in the best interest of the employer to keep 
those payroll records. At that point an employer would have been on notice but if someone 
came in on the eve of the two year mark this would not prohibit them from getting rid of 
those records. (13:25-14:23) 

Chairman Klein: Do we have a lot of issues right now? Do you want to give us an overview 
of what is happening? 

Troy Seibel: So much depends on how they come in and complain. In the last year we 
received six. One of them settled, four were not considered and one went to the Feds. 
(15:05-19:00) 

Senator Poolman: This bill isn't about individual sex discrimination case it is about an 
attorney going and saying there is a systematic problem with this particular employer and 
the case is much bigger than that. 

Troy Seibel: We use the human rights act and title 7 for those individualized cases, you're 
correct. The statute is not written that narrowly. We are dealing with two statutes that are 
almost identical. (21 :33-22:36) 

Senator Burckhard: Someone at the hearing that day said that the real problem is that 
there is a lack of civil rights attorneys that want to represent the female. 

Troy Seibel: It is tough for me to say the lack of the availability but we are told that pretty 
frequently at the department. We don't see many charging parties that come to us that are 
represented. The vast majority of lawyers we deal with are representing the employers. 

Chairman Klein: Closed the hearing. 



2015 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Industry, Business and Labor Committee 
Roosevelt Park Room, State Capitol 

HB 1257 Engrossed 
3/9/2015 

Job Number 24513 

D Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to unequal pay for men and women 

Minutes: No Attachments 

Chairman Klein: Asked the committee to go to 1257. 

Senator Sinner: Moved a do pass. 

Senator Burckhard: Seconded the motion. 

Roll Call Vote: Yes-7 No-0 Absent-0 

Senator Miller will carry the bill. 



2015 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE 
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HB 1257 Engrossed 

Senate Industry, Business and Labor 

D Subcommittee 
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Roll Call Vote #: 1 

Committee 
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Recommendation : D Adopt Amendment 

IZI Do Pass D Do Not Pass D Without Committee Recommendation 

Other Actions: 

D As Amended 
D Place on Consent Calendar 
D Reconsider 

D Rerefer to Appropriations 
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Motion Made By Senator Sinner Seconded By Senator Burckhard 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1257, as engrossed: Industry, Business and Labor Committee (Sen. Klein, 

Chairman) recommends DO PASS (7 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT 
VOTING). Engrossed HB 1257 was placed on the Fourteenth order on the calendar. 
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Testimony - House Bill 1 257 
House Industry, Business, and Labor Committee 

January 2 1 ,  20 1 5  

Chairman Keiser and members of the House Industry, B usiness, and Labor 

committee, my name is Kyl ie Oversen and I represent District 42 in Grand Forks. I 

am here to testify in support of HB 1 25 7 ,  which c larifies and expands North 

Dakota's existing equal pay statute. 

For your reference here, I am including the beginning sections of Chapter 34-06. 1 ,  

outlining the pub lic policy regarding equal pay: 

34.06. 1 -0 1  - Declaration of public policy: The public policy of this state is 

declared to be that the practice of discriminating on the basis of sex by paying 

wages to employees of one sex at a lesser rate than the rate paid to employees of 

the opposite sex for comparable work on j obs which have comparable 

requirements unj ustly discriminates against the person receiving the lesser rate; 

leads to low worker morale, high turnover, and frequent labor unrest; 

discourages workers paid at the lesser wage rates from training for higher level 

j obs; curtail s  employment opportunities, decreases workers' mobility, and 

increases labor costs; impairs purchasing power and threatens the maintenance of 

an adequate standard of l iving by such workers and their families; prevents 

optimum utilization of the state's available labor resources; threatens the well­

being of citizens of this state; and adversely affects the general welfare. I t  is  

therefore declared to be the policy of this state through exercise of its police 

power to correct and, as rapidly as possible, to eliminate discriminatory wage 

practices based on sex. 

This first section was enacted in 1 965 and has not been amended since then . 

As you read the reasoning in this section on why unequal pay is  harmful, 

you might think it is  outdated or irrelevant. However, much research exists 

to show that the wage gap across the country is sti l l  harmful for many of the 

same reasons. 

Despite the enactment of equal pay laws in the l 960's at the state and federal level,  

a significant gap remains between what men earn and what women earn, for equal 

work. These discrepancies cannot be simply explained away by differentials in 

education, experience, or performance. 

I 



The wage gap is  calculated by the difference in men's and women's median 

earnings. The calculations are based on data from the Census B ureau, the 

Department of Education, and the Bureau of Labor Statistics.  The most recent data 

shows that in North Dakota, women earn only 70% of what men earn. For every 

dollar that a man brings home, a woman with comparable experience and 

education, doing comparable work, brings home only 70 cents. 1 

I n  real numbers, the 20 1 3  Census showed that the median earnings of North 

Dakota men were up to $49 ,23 1 ,  an increase from $46,225 in 20 1 2 . For women, 

the median earnings increased from $34,43 8 to $3 5 , 549.2 That amount of take 

home pay that women lose out on significantly affects their abi lity to care and 

provide for their families.  

HB 1 25 7  cleans up several sections of the equal pay statute. Throughout the bil l ,  

there are many minor changes for grammatical errors. On page 2, subsection 5,  the 

added section defines when an unlawful employment practice occurs, pursuant to 

this section. This is included to clarify the statute of l imitations found later in the 

chapter. 

Also on page 2, section 2 :  in short, the additional language clarifies the j urisdiction 

for claims under this  section. This allows an individual or individuals to bring a 

claim for rel ief either with the commissioner of labor or with a district court. I t  also 

explains which district court may have j urisdiction. 

On page 3, section 2,  subsection 6 allows the commissioner of labor to dismiss an 

administrative action if an employee elects to bring the same claim before a district 

court. Also on page 3 ,  section 3 creates a prima facie case. This simply states that 

if an employee meets the minimum standard of showing that he or she is  earning 

less than a co-worker of a different gender who is doing comparable work with 

comparable j ob requirements, the burden then shifts to the employer to show that 

the difference exists for reasons other than gender. 

On pages 3 and 4, section 4 clarifies the statute of l imitations. This allows an 

employee to bring a claim for relief, with a district court, two years after the 

1 The Wage Gap: State Rankings 2013, National Women's Law Center, September 2014. Available at 
www.nwlc.org; See also 1 The Gender Pay Gap: North Dakota, AAUW, September 201 4 .  Available at 
www.aauw.org. 
2 The Gender Pay Gap, Supra note I . 



unlawful practice occurred. Further, the added language states that if an employee 

decides to first file the complaint with the commissioner of labor, the time 

limitation is tolled, or put on pause, while the commissioner investigates or 

dismisses the claim. 

Finally, on page 4, section 5 amends the records requirements, stating that an 

employer must keep employee records for the duration of an employee's career 

with that employer and for two years beyond that time. This allows an employee to 

appropriately exercise his or her right to bring a claim within two years, as allowed 

under the previous section. 

Overall ,  the changes to chapter 34.06- 1 are intended to clarify the existing 

language and to allow for better enforcement of the statute. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I urge to you favorably consider HB 

1 25 7  and I would be happy to answer any questions that you have. 



House Industry, B usiness, and Labor Committee 
Requested Amendment for HB 1 25 7  

Rep. Kylie Oversen 
Jan. 2 1 , 20 1 5  

On page 2, l ine 1 9  -- After sentence ending with commissioner, add a new 
sentence stating: 

" The commissioner may refer the complaint to an appropriate federal agency for 
investigation. "  

This clarifies l anguage to fol low current practice o f  the commissioner o f  labor. 
Currently, equal pay claims are referred to the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Center (EEOC). An equal pay claim may require many staff hours of intensive 
investigation and the EEOC is better equipped, at this time, to handle such 
complaints. As such, the two agencies have a work agreement so that the EEOC 

wi l l  take any equal pay claims filed with the department of l abor. The permissive 
language allows the commissioner to maintain fil ing and investigative powers 
should that work agreement cease to exist. 



H 

....... .r-Ai:h-L.-iness and Labor 

, V 93, and 1294 

Good morning Chairman Keiser and members of the House Industry, Business, and Labor 
committee . I am Renee Stromme representing the North Dakota Women's Network. We are a 
statewide advocacy organization working to improve the lives of women . We stand in support 
of House Bills 1257, 1293, and 1294. In the interest of brevity I will testify once for all three bills 
and ask that my testimony be placed in record for all three. 

The time is due for ND to update our laws regarding equal pay for equal work. These have not 
been updated since they were enacted in 1965. These updates are critical to address several 
gaps in the current statute . Equal pay laws have become an empty promise for many women 
who experience pay discrimination . These bills set forth a balanced approach to update the 
tools we have to work toward equal pay for equal work. 

1257 provides a clean up to current laws and clarification on jurisdiction, statute of limitations, 

retention of records, and standards. These updates are helpful for all parties. I would suggest 
that the committee consider changing the word 11establishment" on line 9 to 11business". This 
will clarify that the law applies to the enti re business or 11enterprise" with multiple office 

locations, and not a distinct physical place of business. 

1293 provides a requirement that large contracts are only awarded to businesses who are in 
compliance with equal pay laws. Our state resources should be preserved to ensure that all 
employment laws are followed, including equal pay laws. 

Fin ally, 1294 recognizes that transparency is an important tool in addressing pay equity. Pay 
secrecy has allowed unlawful pay disparities to flourish, undetected and undeterred. To address 

this problem, 1294 prohibits employers from retaliating against employees who ask about or 
discuss wage information. This reinforces that equal pay for equal work cannot be ignored 
simply because no one knows about unlawful pay disparities. It will motivate employers to 
correct unjustified pay disparities before they turn into fodder for litigation. 

Wage discrimination does exist and has consequences. Pay disparities cost women and their 
families thousands of dollars each year wh ile they are working and thousands in retirement 

income when they leave the workforce. It is long past time for the state to act to ensure that 
the promise of equal pay becomes a reality. The North Dakota Women's Network supports 

1257, 1293 and 1294 and ask the committee give favorable approval to the bills. 

1120 College Drive, Suite I 00, Bismarck, ND 5850 I • ndwomen.org PS\ 
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Foreword 

If you take one simple truth from this guide, I hope it's this: The pay gap is 

real. This guide backs up this assertion with the latest evidence and presents 

ideas for what we can do about ir. 

The American Association of University Women (AAUW) has been on the 

front lines of the fight for pay equity since 1913. AAUW members were in 

the Oval Office when President John F. Kennedy signed the Equal Pay Act of 

1963 into law, and more than 50 years later, we continue rn lead the push for 

policies and legislation w encourage and enforce fair pay in the workplace. 

Pay equity is a priority for AAUW, and it will continue ro be until women 

everywhere earn a fair day's pay for a fair day's work. In January 2009, Presi­

dent Barack Obama signed the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act into law, thanks 

to the hard work and leadership of AAUW, our members, and our coalition 

partners. Since then, AAUW has worked for the passage of the Paycheck 

Fairness Act, which would give women additional and much-needed equal 

pay protections. The legislation failed in procedural votes in the House and 

Senate in the l 13th Congress. But the Senate did vote to fully debate the 

bill for the first time ever in September 2014. We haven't gotten our up-or­

down vote yet, bur we are moving ever closer. 

This guide is designed ro empower our members and other advocates with 

the facts and resources they need ro tell the simple truth about the pay gap. 

It's real, it's persistent, and it's undermining the economic security of Ameri­

can women and their families. We hope you will join us in the fight. 

Linda D . Hallman, CAE 

AAUW Executive Director 



Introduction 

D id you know that in 2013, women working full time in the United States 

typically were paid just 78 percent of what men were paid, a gap of 22 

percent? 1he gap has narrowed since the 1970s (Figure 1), due largely ro 

women's progress in education and workforce participation and to men's 

wages rising at a slower rate . Progress has stalled in recent years, and the pay 

gap does not appear likely to go away on its own. 

Figure 1. 
Women's Median Annual Earnings as a Percentage of Men's Median 

Annual Earnings for Full-time, Year-round Workers, 1973-2013 1 
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Note: Includes people oges 15 ond older beginning in 1980; for previous yeors. includes people oges 14 and 
older os of the following yeor. Before 1989. only civilian workers are included. 
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Equal pay is nor simply a women's issue-it's a family issue. Between 1 967 

and 20 1 0, the percentage of mothers who brought home at least a quarter 

of the family's earnings rose from less than a third (28 percent) to nearly 

two-thirds (64 percent) . 2 Families increasingly rely on women's wages to 

make ends meet. 

A large majority of mothers are in the paid labor force, and about one-third 

of employed mothers are the sole breadwinners for their families. For the 

34 percent of working mothers who are their families' sol� bread-winner­

either because they are s ingle parents or their spouses are not in the labor 

force-the gender pay gap can contribute to poor living conditions, poor 

nutrition, and fewer opportunities for their children.3 For these women, 

closi ng the gender pay gap is much more than a point of pride. 

This guide provides key facts about the gender pay gap i n  the United States, 

along with explanations and resources. Information is organized around s ix 

common questions: 

1 .  What is the pay gap? 

2. Is the pay gap really about women's life choices? 

3. How does the pay gap affect women of different demographics? 

4. Is there a pay gap in all j obs? 

5. What can I do to mal{e a difference? 

6. What should I do if I experience sex discrimination at work? 

The information in this guide will help you to effectively and confidently 

advocate for pay equity for all workers in your community. 



What Is the Pay Gap? 

The pay gap is the difference in men's and women's median earnings, usu­

ally reported as either the earnings ratio between men and women or as an 

actual pay gap, as defined below. The median value is the middle value, with 

equal numbers of full-time workers earning more and earning less . 

.E
, . . \'<!omen's median earnings 
,arnmgs ratio = ---------~-

Men's median earnings 

P 
[Men's median earnings - Women's median earnings] 

ay gap= , . . 
Mens median earnmgs 

In 2013, m edian annual earnings in the United States for women and men 

working full time, year round were $39,157 and $50,033, respectively. 

$39,157 
2013 earnings ratio= = 78% 

$50,033 
[$50,033 - $39,157) 

2013 pay gap= = 22% 
$50,033 

Earnings can also be reported on a weekly basis . The gender pay gap in 

weekly earn ings tends to be slightly smaller than the pay gap in terms of 

annual earnings. In 2013, the pay gap in median weekly earnings was 18 

percenr, according to the U.S. Departmenr of Labor. 

Where do the data come from? 
Federal agencies such as the Census Bureau, the Department of Education, 

and the Bureau of Labor Statisti cs conduct surveys of individuals, house­

holds, and businesses ro gather information about people's salaries and other 

earnings. 



Most reports on national workforce participation, pay, and pay differences 

depend on data from the Current Population Survey (CPS) (www. census. 

gov/cps) , the country's primary source of labor force statistics. The CPS is a 

monthly survey of about 50,000 households conducted by the U.S .  Census 

Bureau for the Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

The estimate of the pay gap using weekly earnings is based on the annual 

average of median weekly earnings for the previous year, usually released 

in January of each year by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (www.bls.gov/ 

cps) .  The estimate of the pay gap using annual earnings is based on the 

CPS Annual Social and Economic Supplement data, which is published 

each September by the Census Bureau and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

In recent years, this data has been published in Income, Poverty, and Health 

Insurance Coverage in the United States.4 

State - level data 
A pay gap can also be calculated for each state (Figure 2) .  The American 

Community Survey (ACS) (www.census.gov/acs) is often used to estimate 

the pay gap at the state level and for specific racial/ethnic groups because i t  

includes more households than the CPS. The Census Bureau began the ACS 

in 1 996 as the successor to the " long form" of the decennial census. The 

ACS results are released annually in September, and briefs based on the sur­

vey can be found on the bureau's website.5 According to ACS data, in 20 1 3  

the pay gap was smallest i n  Washington, D.C. ,  where women were paid 

9 1  percent of what men were paid, and largest in Louisiana, where women 

were paid 66 percent of what men were paid. 



Figure 2. 
Median Annual Earnings and Earnings Ratio for Full-time, Year -round 

Workers, Ages 16 and Older, by State and Gender, 20136 

Men Women 
Earnings 

Me n Wome n 
Earnings 

Ratio Ratio 

• Washington, D.C. $67,610 $61.760 913 21 Wisconsin $46.801 $36,884 793 

'New York $51.414 $44, 114 863 2a Texas $45,820 $36,032 793 

·'Maryland $58,7 46 $50.21 t 853 " New Hampshire $52,954 $41,542 783 

'Florida $40,809 $34.419 843 ,. Connecticut $60,990 $47,623 783 

' California $50,268 $42, 199 843 " South Carolina $41,599 $32.385 783 

•Arizona $44,284 $37.021 843 "Kentucky $42,425 $32,951 783 

1 Hawaii $48.440 $40.370 833 "Iowa $45,930 $35,602 783 

•Nevada $42,682 $35,557 833 "Ohio $47,323 $36,569 773 

•Vermont $46, 175 $38.316 833 "Arkansas $40.306 $31.015 773 

10 North Carolina $42, 146 $34,917 833 '•Mississippi $39,956 $30,667 773 

11 Georgia $43,084 $35,626 833 " Pennsylvania $50.231 $38,368 763 

"Tennessee $41,493 $34,301 833 "Alaska $55,639 $42,350 763 

"Delaware $50,413 $41.655 833 " Idaho $41,278 $31.368 763 

" Rhode Island $51,695 $42.455 823 ' 'Alabama $42,913 $32,451 763 

"New Mexico $42,305 $34,591 823 " Michigan $49,449 $37,258 753 

" Massachusetts $60,588 $49,470 823 " South Dakota $41,328 $31.038 753 

n Maine $43,950 $35.420 813 "Oklahoma $42. 116 $31.539 753 

"Oregon $46,679 $37,555 803 "Nebraska $45,037 $33.385 743 

"Minnesota $51.340 $41,082 803 "Indiana $46,300 $34, 180 743 

20 New Jersey $60.815 $48.640 803 ,. Montana $42,942 $31.564 743 

21 Washington $52,482 $41,897 803 " North Dakota $49.231 $34,549 703 

"Colorado $50,950 $40,671 803 "Utah $50,396 $35.252 703 

"Virginia $52,453 $41,545 793 " West Virginia $44,994 $31.240 693 

24 Missouri $43,921 $34.708 793 so Wyoming $51.708 $35,829 693 

"Illinois $51,510 $40,679 793 s1 Louisiana $48,318 $31.865 663 

2, Kansas $45,463 $35.869 793 
United States· I $50.033 I $39, 1571 783 

*National data inclJde workers ages 15 and older and ore based on data from the U.S. Census Bureau's 
Current Population Survey. 



Is the Pay Gap Really about 
Women's Life Choices? 

Critics charge that pay differences between men and women are simply a 

matter of personal choices . AAUW addressed this argument in our 2012 

report, Graduating to a Pay Gap: The Earnings of Women and Men One Year 

after CoUege Graduation. Our analysis found that just one year after college 

graduation, women were paid just 82 percent of what their male counter­

parts were paid.7 An earlier report, Behind the Pay Gap (AAUW, 2007), 

found that 10 years after graduation, the pay gap widened, and women 

were paid only 69 percent of what men were paid.8 

In part, these pay gaps do reflect men's and women's choices, especially the 

choice of college major and the type of job pursued after graduation. For 

example, women are more likely than men to go into teaching, and this 

contributes to the pay gap because teachers tend to be paid less than other 

college graduates. This portion of the pay gap is considered to be explained, 

regardless of whether teachers' wages are considered fair. 

Yet not all of the gap can be "explained away." After accounting for college 

major, occupation, economic sector, hours worked, months unemployed 

since graduation, GPA, type of undergraduate institution, institution 

selectivity, age, geographical region , and marital status, Graduating to a Pay 

Gap found that a 7 percent difference in the earnings of maJe and femaJe 

college graduates one year after graduation was still unexplained. 

Similarly, Behind the Pay Gap fo und a 12 percent unexplained difference in 

earnings among full-time workers 10 years after college graduation. Other 

researchers have also found that the gender pay gap is not fully accounted 

for by women's and men's choices. 9· 
10 



Becoming a parent is an example of a choice that ofren has different out­

comes for men and women. Behind the Pay Gap found that 10 years afrer 

graduation, 23 percent of mothers were out of the workforce, and 17 

percent worked part time. Among fathers, only 1 percent were out of the 

workforce, and only 2 percent worked pan time. 

Many stay-at-home and part-time working mothers will eventually decide 

to return ro the full-time workfo rce, and when they do they may encoun­

ter a "motherhood penalty" that extends beyond the actual time out of the 

workforce. Experimental research has documented that employers are less 

likely to hire mothers compared with childless women, and when employ­

ers do make an offer ro a mother, they offer her a lower salary than they 

do other women. Fathers, in contrast, do not suffer a penalty compared 

with other men. 11 Clearly, parenthood often affects men and women very 

differently in terms of labor force participation and how they are viewed by 

employers, and that difference may be reflected in a worker's salary. 
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How Does the Pay Gap Affect 
Women of Different Demographics? 

The pay gap aifects women from all backgrounds, at all ages, and of all levels 

of educational achievement, although earnings and the gap vary depending 

on a woman's individual situation. 

Figure 3. 
Median Annual Earnings, by Race/Ethnicity and Gender, 2013 12 
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Race/ethnicity 
Among full- time workers in 2013, H ispanic, American Indian, African 

American, and Native Hawaiian women had lower median annual earn­

ings compared with non-Hispanic white and Asian American women. But 

within racial/ethnic groups, African American, Hispanic, American Indian, 

and Native Hawaiian women experienced a smaller gender pay gap com­

pared with men in the same group than did non-Hispanic white and Asian 

American women (Figure 3). 

Using a single benchmark provides a more informative picture. Because 

non-Hispanic white men are the largest demographic group in the labor 

force, they are often used for that purpose. 

Compared with salary information for white male workers, Asian American 

women's salaries show the smallest gender pay gap, at 90 percent of white 

m en's earnings . The gap was largest for Hispanic and Latina women, who 

were paid only 54 percent of what white men were paid in 2013 (Figure 4) . 

The smaller gender pay gap among African Americans, Hispanics, American 

Indians, and Native Hawaiians is due solely w the fact that those men of 

color were paid substantially less than non-Hispanic white men in 2013. 

Figure 4. 
Earnings Ratio, by Race/Ethnicity, 2013 13 

Women's earnings 
Women's earnings 

as a percentage of 
as a percentage of 

men 's earnings within 
white men 's earnings 

race/ethnicity 

Hispanic or Latina 903 543 

American Indian and Alaska Native 853 593 

African American 913 643 

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander 843 653 

While (non-Hispanic) 783 783 

Asian Americari 793 903 

Note: Bosed on medion annual earnings of full-time. year-round workers. ages 16 and older 



Age 
Earnings for both female and male full -rime workers tend to increase with 

age, with a plateau after 45 and a drop after age 65 . The gender pay gap also 

grows with age, and differences among older workers are considerably larger 

than gaps among younger workers. 

In 2012, for full-tim e workers ages 20-24, women were paid 89 percent 

of what men were paid on a weekly basis. Among workers 55-64 years 

old, women were paid only 76 percent of what their male peers were paid. 

Women typically are paid about 90 percent of what men are paid until 

around the age of 35, at which point median earnings for women start to 

grow much more slowly than median earnings for men. From around age 

Figure 5. 
Median Weekly Earnings, by Age and Gender, 201214 
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35 through retirement, women are typically paid 75 to 80 percent of what 

men are paid (Figure 5). 

Education 
}s a rule, earnings increase as years of education increase for both men and 

'.!Omen. While more edu cation is an effective tool for in creas ing earnings, it 

i, not an effective tool against the gender pay gap. At every level of academic 

achievement, women's median earn ings are less rhan men's median earnings, 

and in some cases, the gender pay gap is larger at higher levels of education 

(Figure 6) . 

Figure 6. 
Median Weekly Earnings, by Level of Education and Gender, 2011 15 
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Education improves earnings for women of all races and ethnicities, but 

earnings are affected by race and ethnicity as well as gender. White women 

are paid more than African American and Hispanic women at all education 

levels (Figure 7). 

Research suggests that differences in education and orher measurable factors 

explain part of the difference in earnings between racial and ethnic groups. 

However, as is the case with gender, part of the racial /edrnic pay gap cannot 

be explained by factors known to affect earnings and is likely due, at least in 

part, to discrimination .16 

Figure 7. 
Median Weekly Earnings of Women, by Race/Ethnicity and Level of 

Education, 2013 17 
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J" . . . 

Q~ Is There a Pay Gap in All Jobs? 

In nearly every line of wo rk, women face a pay gap. Among the many 

occupations fo r which the Bureau of Labor Statistics collects data that 

allow for valid compari son, women's earnin gs are higher than men's in 

only a handful. 18 

Wh ile a pay gap exists in nearly every occupational fie ld , jobs traditionally 

associated with men tend to pay better than traditionally fe male jobs for the 

same level of skill requi red. And even in 201 4, women and men sti ll tend to 

work in different kinds of jobs. Th is segregation of occupations is a major 

facto r behind the pay gap. l 9. 20 

In 201 2, the U.S. civilian workforce in cluded slightly more than 140 

million full- and part-time employed workers; 53 percent were men , and 

47 percent were women.21 Nearly 40 percent of working women were 

employed in traditionally female occupations such as social work, nursing, 

and teaching. In contrast, fewer than 5 percent of men worked in these jobs. 

Forry-five percent of working men were in traditionally male occupations, 

such as computer programming, aerospace engineering, and firefighting, 

compared with just under 6 percent of women in those jobs.22 Women are 

m ore likely to ·work in professional , offi ce and administrative support, sal es , 

and service occupations, and men are more likely to work in construction , 

maintenance and repair, and production and transportation occupations. 

Although men and wo men still tend to work in diffe rent jobs, occupational 

gender segregation has dec reased over the last 40 years. The reduction in 

gender segregation is largely due to women moving in to previously predom­

inan tly male jobs, especially during the 1970s and 1980s,23 and to fas ter 

growth of more mixed-gender occupations in the l 990s. 24 



Increasing the number of women in traditionally male fields is likely to 

improve wages for women, but ir is unlikely to fully eliminate the pay gap. 

Women in "male" jobs such as computer programming still face a pay gap 

compared with their male counterpans (Figure 8), even though they may 

be paid higher salaries than women in traditionally female fields. It will take 

more than individual women pursuing careers in "male" fields to ensure fair 

pay for all. 

Figure 8. 
The Gender Pay Gap in Median Weekly Earnings among Full -time Workers, 
Selected Occupations, 2012 25 
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•' (¥ How Can I Make a Difference? 

111e gender pay gap is unlikely to go away on its own, bur there are many 

things that we can do in our workplaces and in our communities to make 

a difference. Here are some steps that employers, individuals, and govern­

ments can take to ensure fair pay. 

Individuals 
Many personal decisions have profound implications for our economic 

security, Pursuing a college education has long been viewed as an impor­

tant step toward ensuring a middle-class lifesryle. Bur not all college majors 

will provide an equal foundation for a secure financial future. In addition, 

the kinds of jobs pursued early in a career ser the stage for an entire career 

of earnings . Because benefits and subsequent raises are generally based on 

initial wages , a lower starting salary could mean a lifetime of lower compen­

sation and smaller retirement benefits. Decisions about marriage, children, 

and caregiving also play critical roles in women's economic security. 

Developing negotiation skills can help workers to be paid fairly. Because 

most employers have some latitude when it comes to salaries, negotiating 

can pay off But negoriation skills are especially tricky for women because 

some behaviors, like self-promotion, that work for men may backfire on 

women. 26
· 

27 Knowing what your skills are worth, malcing clear what you 

bring to the table, emphasizing common goals, and maintaining a positive 

attitude are som e negotiation tactics that have been shown to be effective 

for women. 28 AAUW offers $ran $man and Work $mart salary negotiation 

workshops to train women how to negotiate. 



Beyond their personal lives, individuals can also rake steps to influence 

employers and governments. There are more ways to make your voice heard 

than ever before-letters to your legislators and local papers, blogs, and 

tweets are just a few examples. Joining an organization like AAUW can 

make all these activities eas ier, especially if you use our Programs in a Box 

and other resources and connect with our ready-made network of activists. 

Employers 
Companies should know by now that paying workers fairly is necessary 

for legal and ethical reasons. Indeed, fair pay can be good for the bottom 

line. Believing that an employer is fair improves workers' morale, 29
• 

30 and 

employees are less likely to be absent when they perceive that their employer 

is fair. Work performance has also been linked to the perception of organiza­

tional justice.31 In other words, a worker who believes that she or he is paid 

fairly is more likely to contribute her or his best effort to the job. 

But not every employer has taken this lesson to heart. Companies like 

H ome Depot, Novartis, and Smith Barney have paid hundreds of millions 

of dollars to settle cases of gender pay discrimination brought by women 

employees under the Equal Pay Act and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act. 

Wal-Marr recently spent billions of dollars defending what would have been 

the largest class-action lawsuit in history, brought by women employees 

alleging systemic pay and promotion discrimination. 

As U.S. Supreme Court Justice Louis Brandeis once noted, "Sunshine is 

the best disinfectant." Transparency in compensation is one policy that 

can make a difference. A recent survey by the Institute for Women's Policy 

Research (IWPR) fo und that about half of employees said they worked in a 

setting where discussions of wages and salaries are either formally prohi bited 

or discouraged by managers.32 According to IWPR, pay secrecy is much 



more common in the private sector, where 61 percent of employees are 

either discouraged or prohibited from discussing wage and salary informa­

ti on. In contrast, on ly 14 percent of publi c-secror employees reported that 

pay discussions were either discouraged or prohibited. This higher degree of 

transparency in th e publi c secror may be rela[ed to rhe greater gender pay 

equity fo und in the federal government. Federal workers can easily see how 

their salaries compare with others at their grade level and geographi cal loca­

tion because rhe U.S. Office of Personn el Management makes public rhe 

salary and wage range for each level of fede ral worker and additional local ity 

pay fo r areas where the cost of living is higher. 33 A 2009 report found that, 

among federal workers, women were paid 89 percent of what men were 

paid, compared with 78 percent in rhe workforce as a whole. 34 

Employers can also use audits to mon itor and address gender pay differ­

ences. The stare of Minnesota requires public-sector employers to conduct 
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a pay equity study every few years and eliminate pay disparities between 

female-dominated and male-dominated jobs that require comparable levels 

of expertise. Employers use a job evaluation tool to compare jobs on dimen­

sions such as the complexity of issues encountered, the depth and breadth 

of knowledge needed, the nature of interpersonal contacts required, and the 

physical working conditions. This allows employers to identify jobs-for 

example, delivery van drivers and clerk typists-that, despite being dif­

ferent, require similar levels of knowledge and responsibili ty. An analysis 

is then done to compare wages for predominantly female jobs with those 

of predominantly male jobs of comparable skil l  levels. If the results of the 

study show that women are consistently paid less than men for jobs requir­

ing similar levels of knowledge and responsibility, the employer makes the 

necessary salary increases. For more i nformation on the audits, visit Minne­

sota's pay equity web page.35 

Government 
In 1 963, Congress passed the Equal Pay Act, which requires employers to 

give men and women employees "equal pay for equal work." A year later, in 

1 964, the Civil Rights Act was passed. Title VII of that act bars all discrimi­

nation in employment, including discrimination in hiring, firing, promo­

tion, and wages on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin .  

Yet these legal protections have n o t  ensured equal pay for women and men. 

The first piece of legislation signed into law by President Barack Obama, 

the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, provides some additional protec­

tion against discrimination. The law clarifies that pay discrimination occurs 

when a pay decision is made, when an employee is subject to that decision, 

or at any time an employee is injured by it; employees have 1 80 days from 

any of those instances to file a claim.36 

This is an essential law, bur it is by no means sufficient. Additional legisla­

tion is needed to provide more effective equal pay protections. During 



each session of Congress since the Equal Pay Act was passed, bills designed 

to update it have been introduced and sometimes voted on. In 2009, the 

House of Representatives passed the Paycheck Fairness Act, a comprehensive 

bill aimed at updating the Equal Pay Act by closing loopholes, strengthen­

ing incentives to prevent pay discrimination, and prohibiting retaliation 

against workers who inquire about employers' wage practices or disclose 

their own wages. Bur despite widespread backing from the American public, 

the srrong leadership of AAUW, and the diligent efforrs of our members and 

coalition partners-as well as the support of a majority of senators and the 

White House-the Senate defeated the Paycheck Fairness Act in November 

20 1 0  in a procedural vote (58-4 1 ) .  AAUW lobbied hard for the Paycheck 

Fairness Act in the l 1 2th Congress after it was reintroduced. Unfortunately, 

the act failed in procedural votes in  summer 20 1 2, this time in both the 

Senate and the House. In the l 1 3 th Congress, the Senate voted to fully 

debate the Paycheck Fairness Act for the first time ever. The bill did not get 

the necessary 60 votes to overcome a second procedural hurdle and move 

forward to an up-or-down vote, but AAUW was encouraged that a majority 

of senators agreed to talk about the bill for the first time. 

In April 20 1 4, President Obama signed two executive orders on equal pay 

that AAUW members and supporters had long been pushing for. The first 

bans federal contractors from retaliating against workers who talk about 

their salaries. The second tells the U.S .  Department of Labor to collect wage 

data from federal contractors, including the race, sex, and national origin 

of employees . This will help identify patterns of discrimination and support 

voluntary compliance. 

AAUW continues to advocate for strong pay equity legislation, regulation, 

and enforcement to protect employees and assist employers. AAUW also 

educates the public about this persistent problem and its effect on working 

families. These efforts are critical elements as we work to close the gender 

pay gap. 



W hat Should I D o  I f  I Experienc e 
Sex Discrimination at Work? 

1 .  P ut i t  i n  writing. Always put  everything in writing so you have a record 

and a t imeline. 

2. Do your h o m ework. For more information on your rights, call the 

U.S.  Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) hotline at 

800 .669.4000. 

3. Seek help. Talk with your supervisor or human resources representative 

at work to learn about the grievance procedure. 

4. Av oid loose l ips.  While the desire to talk about your case is under­

standable, the threat of countersuits for defamation is real. 

5. Get legal  a dvice. Talk to a lawyer who has specific experience with sex 

discrimination in the workplace. For a referral in your state, e-mail the 

AAUW Legal Advocacy Fund at laf@aauw.org. 

6. Act quic kly. There is a stature of l imitations on filing complaints with 

the EEOC. 

7. Watc h your nickels  and dimes.  Talk w a lawyer or an accountant 

about the financial burdens of a lawsuit. 

8. Visit your d octor-yes, your d octor. You may experience a physical 

and emotional mil that should be addressed and documented. 

9. Prepare for the long haul .  Filing a discrimination lawsuit is a long 

process, but others have succeeded in fighting discrimination ,  and you 

can too. 

1 0. Find a support netwo rk. AAUW branches can help support you. Find 

a branch near you at www. aauw.org. 
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• Visir AAUW's pay equiry resource page on the AAUW websire ar wv.rw. 

aauw.org/issues/economic-jusrice for currenr informarion on rhe srarus 

of legislar ion, federal policies, and acrion rhar you can take to narrow the 

pay gap. 

• Join AAUW's Action Network to keep up wirh equal pay advocacy and 

receive notices ro tell your legislarors whar you think: W\Nw. aauw.org/ 

action network. 

• Visir rhe LAP online resource library ro learn more abour pay equity and 

whar you can do if you believe you're being paid unfairly: www. aauw.org/ 

whar-we-do/legal-resources. 

Learn abour your righrs ar work by visiring www. aauw.org/whar-we-do/ 

legal-resources/know-your-righrs-at-work. 

Get ideas for programming and advocacy ar fighrforfairpay.org. 

• Visir AAUW's $rarr $man salary negoriarion page ar www.aauw.org/ 

whar-we-do/campus-programs/srarr-smarr-salary-negoriarion-workshop 

ro find our how to artend a salary negoriarion workshop. 

• Read more abour rhe pay gap ar www. aauw.org/whar-we-do/research. 

• Join AAUW and help ensure pay equity for all: www.aauw.org/join. 
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Foreword 

Founded in 1881, the American Association of University \\'./omen has championed th e rights of 

women and girls in higher education and the workplace for more than 125 years. During this time, 

women have gone from a small minority on college campuses to a majority of the student body. 

College-educated women have achieved positions of leadership in every field of endeavor, including 

making remarkable gains in traditionally male fields, such as medicine, business, and law. Yet women's 

earnings continue to lag behind those of their male peers in nearly every occupation and at every 

educational level. 

Why have women's educational accomplishments failed to close the gender pay gap in the workplace) 

This question is a focal point of AAlJ\'V's research and advocacy work . Four years ago the AAUW' 

Educational Foundation published fl;'/'011m1 at l ~ork (2003), a report documenti ng sex segregation in th e 

workplace. The report found that while women's overalJ levels of education and parti cipation in the 

paid labor force had increased, women remained segregated in lower-paying occupations. 

Over time, the gender pay gap cumulates into substantial differences in economic security. As noted in 

the Educational Foundation's repor t A1rm/r Rdirefllenl Secmit_y (2006), women are twice as likely as men to 

spend their re[irement years living alone, in o r near poverty. 

BFhind thf Pqy Cap examines how the choices made in college affect later earnings and, by implication, 

economic secu rity throughout a lifetim e. Building on the Educational Foundation's previous research 

on '..vorkplace equity, including LVomeu at !York and Public Perceptiom of the I'<!Y c;ap (2(105), this report 

analyzes the gender pay gap and presents strategies for its dismantling. 

Barbara O'Connor, Presidem 

1\ 1\UW Educational Foundation 

April 2007 
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Women have made remarkable gains in education 

<luring the past three decades, yet these achievements have 

resulted in only modest improvements in pav equ ity. The 

gender pay gap has become a fixrure of the U.S. workplace 

and is so ubiguitous that many simply v iew it as normal. 

Behind the Pq;1 Gap examines the gender pay gap for college 

graduates. One year out of college, women working full 

time earn only 8() percent as much as their male colleagues 

earn. Ten years after graduation, women fal l farther behind, 

earning only 69 percent as much as men earn. Controlling 

for hours, occupatinn, parentho<>d, and other factors nor­

mally associated with pay, college-educated women still earn 

less than their male peers earn. 

Individuals can. however, make choices that cm greatly 

enhance their earnings potential. Choosing to attend colJege 

and completing a college degree have strong positive effects 

on earnings. ;J._t\10ugh all college degrees do not have the same 

effect. The selectivity of the college attended and tl1e choice 

of a major also affect later e:unings. Many majors remain 

strongly dominated by one gender. Female students are con­

centrated in fi~l.ds associated with lower earnings, such as edu­

cation, health, and psycholngy. Mak swdents dominate the 

higher-paying fic:lds: engineering, rnatl1cmatics, and physical 

sciences. Wonl'ef1 and men who majored in "male-dominated" 

subjects earn more than d() those who rnaj<>red in "female­

dominated" o r "mixed-gender" fields. For example, one year 

after graduation, the average female education major working 

full time earns only 60 percent as much as the average female 

engineering major working full time cams. 

The ch<>ice of maj<>r is not the full st<>ry, however. i\s early 

:is one year after graduation, a pay gap is found between 

women and men who had the same college major. Tn edu­

cation, a female-dominated major, women earn 95 percent 

as much as their male colleagues earn. ln biological sci­

ences, a mixed-gender major, women earn only 75 percent 

as much as men earn. Likewise in mathematics-a male­

dominated major-women earn only 76 percent as much as 

men earn. Female students cannot simply choose a major 

that will allow them to an>id the pay gap . 

. ehind the Pay Gap 

Early career choices, most prominently occupational 

choices, also play a role in the gender pay gap. While the 

choice of major is related to occupati()n, the relationship is 

not st rict. For example, some mathematics majors choose to 

teach, while others work in business or computer science. 

One year after graduation. women who work in computer 

science, for instance, earn over 37 percent more than do 

women who are employed in education or administrati\·e, 

clerical, or legal support occupations. J<>b sector also affects 

earnings. \Vomen are more likely than men to work in the 

nonprofit and local government secto rs, where wages are 

typically lower than those in the for-profit and federal gov­

ernment sectors. 

The division of labor between parents appears to be similar 

to th:it of previous generations. Motherhood and father­

hood affect careers differently. Mothers are more likely than 

fathers (or other women) to work part time, take leave, or 

take a break from the work force-factors that negativdv 

affect wages. Among women who graduated from college in 

1992-93, more than <me-fifth (23 percent) of mothers were 

out of the work force in 2003, and another J 7 percent were 

working part time. Less than :2 percent of fathers were our 

of the work force in 2flfl3, and less than :2 percent were 

working part time. On average, mothers earn less than 

women wirhout children earn, and both groups earn Jess 

than men earn . 

The gender pay gap among full-time workers understates 

the real difference between women's and men's earnings 

because it excludes women who arc not in the labor force or 

who are working part time. Most college-educated women 

'A'110 are not working full rime will even wally return to the 

full -time labor market. On average, these women will then 

have lower wages than wi.11 their continuously employed 

counterparts, further widening the pay gap. 

What can be done about the gender pay gap~ To begin with, 

it must be publicly recognized as a problem. Too often, 

both women and men dismiss the pay gap as simply a 

matter of different choices. but even women who make the 

same occup:Hional choices that men make will not typically 



end up with the same earnings. Moreover, if "too many" 

women make the same choice, earnings in that occupation 

can be expected to decline overall. 

Women's personal choices are similarly fraught with 

ineyuiries. The difference between motherhood and father­

hood is particularly stark. Motherhood in our society entails 

substantial economic and personal sacrifices. Fatherhood, 

on the rither hand, appears to engender a "wage premium." 

Indeed, men appear to spend more time at the office after 

becoming a fath er, whereas women spend considerably less 

rime at work after becoming a mother. \X'omen who do no t 

have children may still be viewed as "potential mothers" by 

employers, who may, as a result, give women te\ver profes ­

sional opportunities. 

IdeaJly, women and men should have similar economic 

opportunities and equal opportunities to enjoy meaningful 

unpaid work, such as parenting. Improving women's earn­

ings could have positive consequences for men who would 

like to spend more time with their children but who can't 

afford to reduce their work ho urs. Likewise, workplace 

accommodations for parenting could be valuable for fathers 

as well as mothers. Other groups may also benefit fro m 

greater flexibility in the workplace, including older workers 

seeking "partial retirement," students hoping to combine 

work with study, and workers with other kinds of caregiving 

responsibilities. 

The pay gap bet\veen female and male college graduates 

cannot be fully accounted for by factors known to a ffecr 

wages, such as experience (i11clucling work hours), training, 

education, and personal characteristics. Gender pay cliscrimi­

nation can be overt or it can be subtle. It is difficult to docu­

ment because someone's gender .is usually easily identified by 

name, voice, or appearance. The only way to discover discrim­

ination is to eliminate the other possible explanations. In this 

analysis tl1e portion of the pay gap that remains w1explained 

after all other factors are taken into account is 5 percent one 

year afrer graduation and 12 percent 10 years after graduation. 

These unexplained gaps are evidence of cliscriminatio n, which 

remains a serious problem for women in the work force. 

Women's progress througho ut the past 30 years attests to 

the possibility of change. Before Title Vll of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964 and Title IX of the Education 

I\mendments of 1972, employe rs could- and did- refuse 

to hire women for occupations deemed "unsuitable," fire 

women when they became pregnant, or limit women's work 

schedules on the basis of gender. Schools could-and did­

set guo tas for the number of women admitted or refuse 

women admission altogether. In the decades since these civil 

rights Jaws were enacted, women have made remarkable 

progress in fields such as Jaw, medicine, and business as well 

as some progress in nontraditional "blue-collar" jo bs such 

as aviation and firefighting. 

Despite the progress women have made, gender pay eguity 

in the workplace remains an issue. Improvements to federal 

equal pay laws are needed to ensure that women and men 

are compensated fairly when they perform the same or 

comparable work. Flexibility, meaningful part-time work 

opportunities, and expanded provisions for meclical and 

fa mily leave are important to help women and men better 

balance work and family responsib ili ties. Making gender pay 

equity a reality will require action by individuals, employers, 

and federal and state governments. 

AAUW Educational Foundation 







Women h ave made remarkable gain s in education 

during the past three decades, yet improvements in women's 

earnings have been relatively modest during this time (see 

F igure 1). Jn the 1970s, men outnumbered women on 

college campuses, with 38 percent of young men ages 

18 through 24 enrr) lled in college in 1974 compared to 

33 percent of young women in this age group. During 

the intervening decades, coJJege attendance grew for both 

women and m en, but women made more rapid gains. 13 v 

2003, 51 percent of young women and 41 percent 

of young men had attended, or gr:iduatecl from, some kind 

of co llege (U.S. D epartment of Education, 2005:1). Despite 

the dramatic increase in women's participation in highe r 

education, the gender pay gap narrowed only somewhat 

during these decades. 

Tn part, pay equity is simply a matter of fairness. \Vhen 

women are p:iid Jess than men are for comparable work, 

women havC''tcwer resou rces to sup ort themselves and 

their fami lies. Some women experience real deprivation as a 

result r>f the.pay gap, especially when they enter their retire­

m ent vears. The pay gap impedes women's ;ibili ty to negoti 

ate in the workplace, at home. and in the political ;ircna. 

Because women earn Jess, most couples are likely to priori ­

tize the highe r-earn ing husband's well -being in chi ld care, 

choice of residence, and other household decisions. 

In marriages that last a lifetime, these compromises could 

concei,·ably work out well for both parties. Yet as the eco­

nomi c lives of women and men have grown farther apart, 

the gender pay gap proves especially trrJUbJing. Nearly one­

half of U.S. women did not live with a husband in 2005, 

and while most women marry at some point, most also 

spend a large part of their Jives on their own. Furthermore, 

women arc much more likely than men to be single parents, 

anJ many mothers shoulder the full responsibility for the 

care of their children with little or no tinanciaJ ass istance 

from fathers. In this way, pay equ ity for women is a ch il­

dren's issue as wel l as a women's issue. 

The larger issue at stake in pay equiry, however, revolves 

around fam il y values. Many critics have charged that the 

U.S. w<>rkplace is unnecessarily rigid and punitive toward 

any time out o f the work force. 1\ s described in Clnpters 3 

Figure 1. Median Usual Weekly Earnings of Full-Time Wage and Salary Workers 
(25 Years and Older), Annual Averages in 2006 Dollars 
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and 4, mothers pay a hefty price if they reduce their hours 

or temporarily leave the work force to care for children. 

Fathers do not pay thi s penalty, nor do they typically reduce 

their work hours when they become parents. Ironically, 

many men who might want to spend more time with their 

children are prevented from doing so because their wives do 

not make equivalen t salaries. Improving gender equity in the 

workplace is truly a family value. 

The U.S. economy is characterized by "masculine" values of 

competition and individual achievement. Both women and 

men reap economic rewards for competing successfu!Jy in 

the workplace. With few exceptions. workers arc rewarded 

for working more hours, and those who fail to work Jong 

hours are off the "fast track"-probably for good. \\'omen 

who professionally care for you ng children o r di sabled 

adults are among the worst-paid workers in the economy. 

Closing the pay gap demands that caregiving work be valued 

and adequately compensated (Crittenden, 2001). 

Few dispute that women earn less than men earn, but there 

is little agreement about what to do abou t it o r, indeed, 

whether anything should be done. D o we see the pay gap 

disappearing for the younger 'l.vork force? Is the gap large r 

or smaller among the college-educa ted pop ulatio n than it is 

among the whole work force? 

Brhind the Pt!J Gap addresses these questions by anaJyzing 

early career choices and earnings for female and male gradu­

ates one year and 10 years out of college. These segments of 

the labor force represent the upcoming generation of edu­

cated workers, and understanding pay differences with.in 

these populations provides us with insight into the future <Jf 

the pay gap. 

The group one year out o f college should arguably be the 

least likely to show a gender pay gap. Women and men grad-

uating from four-year colleges have made a considerable 

inves tment in their education, and it is reasonable to assume 

that both plan to have a career. Furthermore, neither male 

nor female g raduates are likely to have children yet, so both 

enter the work force without this constraint. With some 

exceptions, bo th female and male graduates enter the work 

force without signi ficant prior experience, eliminating 

ano ther potential source of pay differences. If the pay gap 

can be expected to disappear " naturally" over time, as many 

claim that it will , we would expect to see small differences 

among young fe male and male coUege graduates at the 

beginning of their careers, and we would expect any differ­

ences to shrink as their careers progress. 

The first decade after graduation is a formative time in the 

careers of women and men. Many pursue additional pro­

fe ssional and g raduate training, and many start families. 

For this g rou p, a more narrow pay ga p might indicate that 

women increase their earnings by attending graduate or 

profe ssionaJ school, while a wider pay gap might sugges t 

that m<Jtherhood is exac ting a penalty on women's earn­

ings. In either case, the examination o f these graduates 

provides a valuab.le perspective on the relative importance 

o f educational, occupational, and parenting choices and 

offers a unit1ue opportunity to link ed ucational choices 

with later earnings. 

Behind the Pqy Gap uses data from the U.S. Department of 

Education's .Baccalaureate and .B~yond L ongitudinal St11r!J (B&B), 

which provides a nationally representative sample of students 

graduating with bachelor's degrees in selected ycars.1 Two sets 

of data were analyzed: 1992-93 graduates, who were inter­

viewed in 1994, 1997, and 2003, and 1999-2000 graduates, 

who were interviewed in 2001.2 The 1999-2000 graduates 

are the source for the anal ys is of outcomes one year out of 

college, and the 1992-93 graduates are the source for the 

anaJysis of outcomes 10 years after graduation.3 

1 The B&B is conducted by the U.S. Department of Education, ~ational Center for Education Statistics. Student cohorts are drawn from 
t11e Natjonal Post Secondary Student Aid Study-a large, national ly representative sample of institutions, students, and parents. 
Behi11rl the Pay Cap focuses on the full -time work fo rce, although pan-time workers and those out of the work force are included as noted. 
Because age (a nd presumably experience) is often associated wit11 earnings, only individuals who graduated from an undergraduate ins6tu­
tion at or before age 35 were included, resulting in the exclusion of about 10 percent of the 8&B population who .received their first bach­
elor's degree after age 35. f or the 1999-2000 group, more than 10,000 women and men were interviewed. for the 1992-93 group, 9,000 
women and men were interviewed . 

.J A comparison of these two groups reveals few significant differences related to the variables studied here (Bradburn, 2006, pp. 43-44). 
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C h a pter 2 .  One Yea r  After G rad u at i,on,  
the Pay G a p  I s  Al ready Esta"b l i s he�d · 



If the p ay gap is going to disappear naturaUy over time, 

we would expect that pay differences among fuJJ-tirne 

female and male \lJ<Jrker' after colJege wouJd be 'mall <>r 

even nonexistent. J\:fost new college grad uates are at the 

beginning of their careers and t:ypica.lly don't have extensive 

profess ional experience. Few graduates have started a family, 

so parenthood is a less important factor than it will be later 

in their career. Yet, one year after college, female graduates 

W()rking full time earn only about 80 percent as much as 

male graduates earn. Among part- time worke rs, the gap is 

large r, with women earning 73 percent as much as their male 

colleagues earn (see F igure 2). 

Figure 2. Average Weekly Earnings of 
1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed in 2001, by Gender and 
Employment Status 

$800 -.;;;. 

700 
:,z,-

600 r=J Female - Male 
500 

XX% Pay gap 

400 
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100 

Full time Part time 

Notes: Includes respondents with multiple Jobs, regardless of hours 
worked in any job; for these respondents, earnings are for the 
primary job . Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's 
degree completion Bold indicates a significant gender difference 
(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test) 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for 
Education Statistics, 2000-2007 Baccalaureate and Beyond 
Longitudinal Study. 

Behind the Pay Gap 

fvlore women than men graduated in 1999-2000. 

About 57 percem of students who received a bacheJor's 

degree in 1999-2000 were women. \X-'()men made up 60 per­

cent o f graduates ages 22 or younger and 67 percent of stu­

dents ages 40 or older at graduation. About half of bachelor's 

degree recipients received their degree before age 2.2. 

Women and men attended similar kinds of colleges 

Most \W>men and men receiving a bachelor's degree attended 

"moderately selective" schools, (59 percent of women and 

54 percent of men). Among graduates in the full-t·imc w1 >1· k 

force, men were more likely to have attended "very selec­

tive:" institutions (35 percent of men and 28 percent of 

women). About half nf women (50 percent) and m en (49 

rercent) took classes at a community coll ege at some time, 

and nearly half gradua ted from public doctoral institutions 

(46 pe rcent of women and 49 percent" of men), with the 

remainder attending noncloctoral or private doctoral institu­
tions (see Figure 3). 

Women outperformed men academically. 

1\mong those working fuJI time one year after graduation . 

women as a group had a slightl y higher grade point average 

(3. 16 on a 4.0-point scale) tban did their male peers (3.04). 

\,'</omen were also more likely to have a GPA of 3.75 or 

higher. For aJJ graduates, employed or not, women's Gp,.\ 

was 3. 19 and men's was 3.07 on average. \~omen's c;p,\ , 

were higher than men's in every maior, including science 

and mathematics. At the very least, a comparison of GPA 

by gender does not pmvide evidence that women are Jess 

l.ikclv to be successful than men in the work force. 

Women are more likely to earn a professional license 
or certificate. 

\~'omen are slightly mo re likely than men to hold a profes­

sion::i11icense or certificate after g raduation (34 percent of 

womc:n and 28 percent of men). One year after completing 

a bachelor's degree, 12 percent of fuJJ -time workers enrol l in 

somt kind of graduate educatirm, and 2 percent complete a 

g raduate certificate or master's degree. Partic ipation in 

work-related training one year our of college is comparable 

for women and men. 



Figure 3. Undergraduate Institution 
Characteristics of 1999-2000 Bachelor's 
Degree Recipients Employed Full Time* 
in 2001, by Gender 

Female Male 
Ever attended less-than-four-year institution 50% 49% 

Degree-granting institution sector 
Public doctoral 46% 49% 
Private nonprofit doctoral 13% 15% 
Public fourcyear nondoctora l 21% 18% 
Private nonprofit four-year nondoctoral 19% 17% 
Private for-profit 1% 1% 

Degree-granting institution selectivity 
Very selective 28% 35% 
Moderately selective 59% 54% 
Minimally selective 8% 7% 
Open admission 5% 4% 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked 
in any job. . 

Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. 
Gender differences are not statistically significant. 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Women and men choose different majors. 

\X'omen and men who received bachelor's degrees in 

1999-2000 made different choices about their undergradu­

ate major (see Figure 4). Women earned the maj ority 

of bacheJor's degrees in education (79 percent versus 

21 percent), psychology (78 percent versus 22 percent), 

and health professions (73 percent versus 27 percent). 

Men earned the majority of bachelor's degrees in engineer­

ing (82 percent versus 18 percent), mathematics and 

physical sciences (61 percent ve rsus 39 percent), history 

(59 percent versus 41 percent), and business and manage­

men t (SS percent versus 45 percent) . 

Looked at another way, about 13 percent of women 

majored in education compared m only 4 percent of men. 

Conversely, 25 percent of men majored in business and 

management compared to 17 percent of women, and 

12 percent of men majored in engineering compared to 

2 percent of women. \11/omen and men were about equally 

]jkely to major in biological sciences (3 percent each) and 

social science (8 percent each) (see Figure 5). 

Choice of major plays a significant role in 

future wages. 

Choice of major emerges as the learung difference between 

women and men in their education and training. When we 

look at women's and men's wages by undergraduate major, 

some clear patterns emerge. Students who graduated in 

female-dominated majors tend to ge t jobs that pay less than 

do students who graduated in male-dominated majors. For 

example, one year after graduation, the average full-time­

employed female education major earns just 60 percent as 

much as the average full-time-employed female engineering 

major earns ($520 versus $872 per week). Men who majored 

in education also earned only 60 percent as much as men 

who majored in engineering ($547 versus $915 per week). 

But even within majors, women earn less than 

men earn. 

One year out of college, female full - time workers earn less 

than men earn in nearl y every major; ho\vever, the size of 

this gap varies (see Figure 6). In education, a female-domi ­

nated major (and occupation), women earn 95 percent as 

much as their male colleagues earn. In biology, a mixed­

gender major, women make only 75 percent as much as men 

make; likewise in humanities-another mixed gender 

major-women earn only 73 percent as much as men earn. 

The one major where women earn more than men earn­

history-accounts for a very small proportion of graduates. 

Most women and men work full time in the year 

following graduation. 

Most women and men (89 and 87 percent respectiveJy) are 

employed one year following graduation . Men are more 

]jkcJy to be working full time for one em ployer (74 percent 

of men and 67 percent o f women). A sizeable minority of 

women and men enroll in g raduate education instead of or 

in addition to wo rking. Overall , women are slightly Jess likely 

to work full time and slightly more ljkely to be out of the 

work force or enrolled in an educational program. 

AAUW Educational Foundation 11 



Figure 4. Gender Composition of Undergraduate Majors of 1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree 
Recipients Employed Full Time* in 2001 

Education ~L----''---"'"----~~~-~----'~~----=-----=~----'---• 
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Health profess ions 

Public affa irs/socia l services 
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Other 
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Socia l science 

Business and management 

History 

Mathematics and physical sciences 

Engineering 
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- Male 

* Includes respondents wi th mul t iple jobs. regardless of hours worked in any job. 
Note: Excludes graduates older than 35 at completion of bachelor's degree. 
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Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Stat1st1cs. 2000- 2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study 
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Figure 5. Choice of Undergraduate Major of 1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time * in 2001, by Gender 

Female 

Male 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test) 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Women and men work in different occupations. 
Echoing segregation in choice of major, women and men 

tend to work in different occupations one year out of 

college (see Figure 7). Women are more likely to work in 

education, medical professions, and administrative/ clerical/ 

legal support jobs. Men are more likely to be engineers/ 

architects or computer scientists or employed in research, 

science, or technology. 

Occupational choices translate into different earnings 

for women and men (see Figure 8). The "within occupa­

tion" pay gap varies considerably, ranging from parity 

among engineers (105 percent), medical professionals 

(99 percent), and educators (98 percent) to wide disparities 

in the service (75 percent) and business (81 percent) occu-

pations. T'he relationsh ip between the percentage of 

female college graduates entering an occupation and the 

pay gap is not linear. for example, computer science 

and administrative jobs have a simi lar pay gap (92 and 

93 percent respectively), but women make up 29 percent 

of those working in computer science and 72 percent of 

those working in administrative jobs. In mixed-gender 

occupations such as business, women earn only 81 percent 

as much as men earn. 

Similar pay differences also exist by sector of the economy. 

Women are more likely to work in the nonprofit or local 

government sectors, which typically pay less, whereas men 

are more likely to work in the for-profit or federal govern­

ment sectors, where salaries tend to be higher. 
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Figure 6. Average Weekly Earnings of 1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed 
Full Time* in 2001, by Gender and Undergraduate Major 
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* Includes respondents with mult iple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job; for these respondents, earnings are for the primary JOb. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a signif icant gender difference 

(p < .OS, 2-tailed t-test). 
Sour·ce: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Educat ion Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 
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.Figure 7. Occupation of 1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed 
Full Time* in 2001, by Gender 

Female 

Male 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion . Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test). 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Men report working more hours than women 
report working. 

One year out of coJlege, women in full-time jobs report 

working an average of 42 hours per week compared to men, 

who report working an average of 45 hours per week. In 

fact, 15 percent of full-time empJoyed men and 9 percent 

of fuJl-time employed women report working more than 

50 hours per week (see Figure 9). Men working part time 

report averaging about 22 hours a week, and female part­

time workers report working 20 hours per week. 

Women graduates are not trading lower earnings for 
flexibility or other benefits. 

Women and men graduating in 1999- 2000 are about equally 

likely to report that their jobs are very flexible.4 Among 

those who say their jobs are flexible, however, female full­

time workers are more likely to say that they would not be 

able to work in the job without that flexibility (21 percent 

of women and 16 percent of men). Men are more likely 

to say that they can telecommute (30 percent of men and 

21 percen t of women). Among those who can telecommute, 

4 Teachers were not asked to report on job flexibility or whether they could telecommute. 
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Figure 8. Average Weekly Earnings of 1999- 2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2001, by Gender and Occupation 
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* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job; for these respondents, earnings are fo r the primary job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < .05, 2-tai led t-test) 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 
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Figure 9. Hours Worked Per Week of 1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2001, by Gender 

Less than 35 hours 

35-40 hours 

41-50 hours 

More than 50 hours 

10% 20% 30% 40% 

C'[L'.~ljj Female 

- Male 

50% 60% 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job . 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion . Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < 05, 2-tailed t-test). 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2000-2001 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

however, women and men do so with similar frequency. 

Most fringe benefits are available to similar proportions of 

women and men. Eighty-seven percent of full-time workers 

have health insurance, and 71 percent have life insurance. 

About four of five full -time workers have dental, optical, or 

other insurance and retirement benefits. 

A large portion of the gender pay gap is not 
explained by women's choices or characteristics. 

Discrimination cannot be measured directly. It is illegal, 

and fo r the most part, people do not believe that they dis­

criminate against women or other groups. One way to 

discover discrimination is to eliminate other explanations 

for the pay gap. To uncover discrimination, regression 

analysis was conducted to control for the different 

choices women and men make. An analysis of weekly 

earnings one year after graduation was examined as a 

function of foll-time employees' characteristics, includ­

ing job and workplace, employment experience and con­

tinuity, education and training, and demographic and 

personal characteristics. 5 

If a woman and a man make the same choices, will they 

receive the same pay? The answer is no. The evidence shows 

A fuller description of the analyses can be found in the appendix and Bradburn (2006). The regressions were run for women and men sep­

arately. T-tests were used to compare regression coefficients for women and men to determine if differential effects on earnings were sta­

tistically significant. In addition, women and men were combined in the third regression, and a dependent variable of gender was used to 

see whether, afrer controlling for other choices and characteristics, srarjstically significant systemarjc differences were seen in women's and 

men's wages. 
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that even when the '·cxpbnations" for the pay gap arc 

included in a regression, they cannot fully explai n the pay 

disparity. The regressions t<> r earn ings one year after college 

indicate thar when all variables are included, about o ne­

guarrer of the pay gap is attributable to gender. Th at is, 

after controlling for ail th e facto rs lmown to affect earnings, 

college-educated women earn abou t 5 percent less than 

college-educated men earn. Thus, while discrimination 

cannot be measured direcciy, it is reasonable to assume tha t 

ch is pay ga p is th e product o f gender discnmination. 

One year out of college, the pay gap is 
already established. 

\X1omen and men who received bachelor's c..l egrees in 

1999-2()()() attended similar kinds of colleges. Women 

earned slighciy higher grades, on average, and in o ther 

respects appear to be men's eguals in the classroom. Most 

women entered full-time employment following graduation. 

One year la ter, women earn only 80 percent as much as their 

male colleagues earn--about the same as the pay gap for the 

work force as a whrJle. Gender segregation in undergraduate 

majors and the subsequent segregation of rhe work fo rce 

partl y explain .the pay gap. Yet the pay gap within fields of 

study and occupations sugges ts that the answer is not so 

simple. lndccd, after accounting for all factors known to 

affect wages, abo ut one-quarter of the gap remains unex­

plained and may be amibuted to disc timination. 

Behind the Pay Gap 



Cha pter 3 .  Ten Yea rs After, G ra d u at ion,  
the Pay Gap W� dens ':'', 



Choices made in the decade after college graduation 

e>tablish a career trajecrnry. Through graduate training and 

early job experiences, graduates define themselves profes­

sionally during th is period. Both women and men also start 

families in these years and begin the time-consuming work 

associated with babies and young children . Understanding 

how these competing forces affect pay differences provides a 

valuable perspective on the future pay gap for this group. as 

well as fo r the work force as a whole. 

Figure 10. Average Weekly Earnings of 
1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed in 2003, by Gender and 
Employment Status 

$1 ,500 

1,200 

900 

600 

300 

Full time 

h; .... ~ l Female 

.. Male 

xx01r, Pay gap 

Part time 

Notes: Includes respondents with mu ltiple Jobs, regardless of hours 
worked in any job; for these respondents, earnings are for the 
primary job. Excludes graduates older than 35 at bache lor's 
degree completion . Bold indicates a significant gender difference 
(p < .OS, 2-ta iled t-test) 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

0 Behind the Pay Gap 

Ten years after graduation, \.l'Omcn working full time earn only 

69 percent as much as men working foll time earn, down from 

80 percent one year after graduation (see Figure 10). Did 

\VOmen and men make different choices during the course of 

these 10 years? Did similar choices resul t .in different out­

comes? To what extent is the pay gap explained by observable 

differences in men's and women's characteristics? 

About half of women and men have chilclre11. 

Ten yea rs after graduation, female and male graduates 

arc about egual ly likely to be married and have children 

(49 percent of women and 48 percent of men). A little less 

than one-fifth of women and men arc married but <lo not 

have children (20 percent of women and 19 percent· of 

men). About a quarter of women and men are 'ingJe ;li\ , I 

childless (25 percent of women and 29 pe rcent of men) 

(see F igu re 11). 

Women are more likely than men to take time off to 

care for children. 

Labor-fo rce participation rates confirm that women and 

men take different approaches to work-Life balance (sec 

Fii,rure 12). Ten years after graduation, 81 percent of men 

are employed full time, while only 61 percent of women arc 

employed full time. 

When parents are considered, the gender d ifference is stark. 

About one-fifth (23 percent) of mothers are out of the 

work force and another 17 percent work part time, whiJe 

only 1 percent o f fathers are our of the work force and 'in\\ 

2 percent work part time. Stay-at-home dads appear rrl be .1 

rare breed; indeed, most fathers do not work fewer hours 

than rheir peers without children work. \Vomen's and men's 

labor-force participation rates are much closer for those 

who don't have children than fo r those who do. 

By necessity, estimates of the gender pay gap include only 

full-tim e workers who are working at the time of the inter­

view. \',(.!omen who are not working at that time can be 

expected to have lower wages when the y return to the labor 

market than wi ll the fuLl -time workers included in th e analy­

sis for two reasons: \\-'omen are less likely to take breaks if 



Figure 11. Marital and Parental Status of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
in 1994 and 2003, by Gender 

lllll Unmarried without children Married without children • 

Female 

1994 
fvta fe 

Female 

2003 
Male 

Unmarried with children 

Note: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Stat ist ics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Figure 12. Employment Status of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients in 2003, 
by Gender and Parental Status 
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Source: U.S. Department of Education, Nat ional Center for Education Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 
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they have high wages (Lun<lbcrg & Rose, 2000), and leaving 

the labor force usually reSL!lts in lower pay upon return. 

Research shows that mothers who maintain employment 

after childbirth have higher earnings than do mothers who 

leave the work force (ibid.). Even among women who are 

em ployed fu ll time, having children exacts a pay penalty (see 

Figure 13). ln contrast, men wi th children earn more, on 

average, than Jo those without children. Thus, the results 

presented here, if anyth ing, understate the pay gap.6 

Figure 13. Average Weekly Earnings of 
1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2003, by Gender 
and Parental Status 
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* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours 
worked in any JOb; for these respondents, earnings are for the 
primary JOb 

Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree 
complet ion . Bold indicates a significant gender difference 
(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test) 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Women and men remain segregated in the 
work force. 

Gender segregation in the work force remains largely 

unchanged between one year and 10 years after gradua­

tion (see Figure l 4) . .A.bout as many women work in edu­

cation as in business and management-26 and 28 

percent respectively-followed by medical p rofessions (10 

percent) an<l human/ protective services, law (9 percent). 

Busine;:s and management (34 percent) is the largest 

occupation for male college g radua tes, with th e remainder 

of the male work force spread quite even.ly across the 

remaining occupations. \Vi th two exceptions-sen'ice 

industries and human/ protective services, law-the pro­

portion of full -time em ployed wo men and men differs in 

all occupational groups. 

Earnings differences within occupations, however, widen 

considerably in the 10 years following graduation (see 

Figure 15). Whereas women earn more than men earn in 

the first year after college in engineering an<l archi tecture, 

1 fl years later women working full -time in [hese occup:1tir 111' 

earn only abour 93 percent o f their male peers' earnings. Jn 

business and management, the gap widens from 81 percent to 

69 percent and in education from near eL1uality to 87 percent. 

111 medical professions the pay gap widens from parity to 

67 percent, in part reflecting the high number of women in 

nursing. \>?omen do not make gains in any fi elds rela tive to 

their male counterparts. Jn tlelds with th e fewest women, 

such as engineering/ architec ture and computer science, the 

gap appears to be narrower than in occupa tions in which 

women are a majority, such as administrative/ clerical/legal 

support and education. 

The gende r segregation found in occupatio ns is mirrored 

in the ge nder division by industry across the economy. 

Nearly one- third (30 pe rcen t) of female full-time emt'l(\1 -

c:cs work in the education sector and anothe r 14 percent 

wo rk in the health -care sector. the only industries with a 

Luger proportion of women than men. Most other indus­

tri es are male -dominated. 

6 
ln fact the earnings regression in Figure 24 in the appendix does not show a penalty for having children, contrary to most estimates of the 
motherhood pay gap. For a review of the literature on the motherhood pay gap, see :\ndcrson, Binder, and Krause (2003) or Budig and 
England (2001 ). 
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Figure 14. Occupation of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed 
Full Time* in 2003, by Gender 

Female 

Male 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test) 
Source: U.S . Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003 Bacca laureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

Differences in employment by sector of the economy are 

also found (see Figure 16). Nearly two-thirds (65 percent) of 

full-rime employed men work in the for-profit sector, com­

pared with 55 percent of women (these figures exclude 

teachers). Conversely, women are twice as likely to work for 

a nonprofit employer (22 percent of women and 11 percent 

of men). 

Part-time workers are much more likely than full-time 

workers to be self-employed, particularly among men. 

Part-time workers are also more Likely to work for a non­

profit organization. 

Meli report working more hours than women 
report working. 

Ten years after graduation, full-time employed men report 

working about 49 hours each week at their primary job, com­

pared to 44 hours per week reported by their female counter­

parts. Most men report working more than 40 hours per 

week, and most women report working 40 or fewer hours. 

Men have more authority and flexibility than women 

have in the workplace. 

'J'en years after graduation, male coJJege graduates working 

full time have more workplace authority than do their female 
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Figure 15. Average Weekly Earnings of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2003, by Gender and Occupation 
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* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job; for these respondents, earnings are for the primary job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a significant gender difference (p < .05, 2-tailed t- test) 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 
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Figure 16. Employment Sector of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed 
Full Time* in 2003, by Gender 

Female 

Male 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold indicates a significant gender difference 

(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test). 
Source: U.S Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

counterparts (see Figure 17). Men are more likely to super­

vise others (66 percent of men and 54 percent of women), 

participate in hiring and firing decisions (51 percent of men 

and 38 percent of women), or set pay rates (29 per-cent of 

men and 18 percent of women). Gender differences are 

even more pronounced when the entire work force is consid­

ered because women are more likely to work part time, and 

these kinds of authority are found less often among part­

time workers. 

Men are more likely than women to report thar they are 

basically their own boss (16 percent of men and 10 percent 

of women). Men are also more likely to be able to telecom­

mute, while women are more likely to say that telecommut­

ing does not make sense for the job. 

Women continue to invest in their education. 

Ten years after graduation, women are more likely than men 

to complete some graduate education (see Figure 18). 

Among full-time workers, women are more likely to have 

completed a master's degree (25 percent of women and 

19 percent of men), while men are more likely to have 

completed a doctorate (which is still relatively uncommon: 

3 percent of men and 2 percent of women). As in 1994, 

women are slightly more likely to be enrolled in school while 

employed full time (8 percent of women and 6 percent of 

men). \\-'omen arc more likely to have an occupational 

license or certification (42 percent of women and 34 

percent of men) or to have taken work-related training in 

tbe past year (55 percent of women and 45 percent of 

men). A regression analys is of weekly earnings shows that 
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Figure 17. Workplace Authority and 
Flexibility of 1992- 93 Bachelor's Degree 
Recipients Employed Full Time* in 2003, 
by Gender 

Female Male 
Workplace authority 

Supervise work of others 
Help set salary rates for others 
Participate in hiring/firing decisions 

54% 66% 
18% 29% 
38 % 51 % 

Workplace autonomy 
Someone else decides what you do 

and how you do it 
Someone else decides what you do, 

but you decide how you do it 
You have some freedom in deciding what 

you do and how you do it 
You are basically your own boss 

Describe job as "very flexible" 

Telecommuting availability 
Option to telecommute 
Telecommuting does not 

make sense for job 
Telecommuting possible but not offered 

4% 4% 

28% 24 % 

57% 55% 
10% 16% 

24% 25% 

21 % 28% 

64% 56% 
15% 15% 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in 
any job. 

Notes: The level of autonomy was not asked of those who were self­
employed . Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree 
completion. Bold numbers indicate a significant gender difference 
(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test) 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

these investments increase women's earnings more than 

men's (see Figure 24 in the appendix and Bradburn ['.!.006]). 

Women are more likely to use family leave, work 
part time, or leave the labor fotce for some period. 

\X'omen and men have similar tenure with their present 

employer and with.in the job title. In the previous six yea rs. 

women were more than twice as likely to take leave and paid 

leave for child care, regardless of employmenr st:uus. Among 

those who took leave for child care, women stayed out more 

than three months longer than men did. l .'u lJ-time employed 

women were more likely than men to leave the labor force 

entirely (16 percent of women and 6 percent of men) or 

spend more time working part time (see Figure 19). 

Behind the Pay Gap 

Figure 18. Education and Training of 
1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2003, by Gender 

Female 
Educational attainment 

Bachelor's degree 54% 
Some graduate enrollment, no completion 15% 
Master's degree 25 % 
Professional degree 4% 
Doctorate 2% 

Male 

60% 
13% 
19% 

5% 
3% 

Currently enrolled 8% 6% 

Other license or certification 

Took work-related training or 
classes in past 12 months 

42 % 34 % 

55 % 45 % 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in 
any job. 

Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. 
Bold numbers indicate a significant gender difference 
(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test). 

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

College selectivity appears to affect earnings 
for all workers. 

College selectivity appears to matter for both women and 

men, with graduates from "very selective" institutions 

earning more than rheir peers earn (see Figure 20). 

, \trending a very selective insritution does not insulate 

women from the pay gap, e.g., women from very selecrive 

colleges earn about the same ($ 1,07 1) as do men from 

" minimally sek:ctive'' colleges (S I, 101 ). Attending a school 

with "open admission" rather than a very selective school 

does not result in lower wages for men, but it results in sta­

tiscically signifi cant lower wages for women. 

The u11explamed portion of the gender pay gap 

increases over time . 

( )n average, women and men make different choices during 

the first LO ve:Hs after graduation. Yet this analysis shows 

that g raduates ' choices explain less of the widening gender 

pay gap during thi s period. 



Figure 19. Employment Experience and Continuity of 1992-93 Bachelor's Degree 
Recipients Employed in 2003, by Gender and Employment Stat us 

Full Time* Part Time 
Female Male Female Male 

Years at employer 5.0 5.3 4.6 4.6 
Years at job tit le regardless of employer 5.6 5.3 5.6 5.7 

Since graduation 
Number of jobs 6.0 5.5 5.7 6.1 
Ever unemployed 45% 46% 43% 64% 

Number of unemployment periods 1.5 1.5 1.6 1.9 
Total months unemployed 7.7 7.9 8. 1 13.1 

Since 1997 
Number of employers 2.3 2.2 2.3 2.7 
Number of jobs 2.8 2.8 2.8 3.0 
Ever unemployed 11% 11 % 10% 25% 

Number of unemployment periods 1.4 1.4 1.8 
Total months unemployed 6.7 7.6 11.4 

Ever ou t of the labor force 16% 6% 47% 20% 
Number of periods out of the labor force 1.4 1.5 1.5 
Total mon ths out of the labor force 15.2 16.0 13.2 

Years worked part time 1.4 1.1 3.1 3.8 
Ever took leave for child care 33 % 15% 63 % 11% 

Total months of leave 4.8 1.6 7.6 
Took paid leave for child care 28% 13% 49 % 6% 
Total months of paid leave 2.8 1.3 3.2 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs. regardless of hours worked in any job. 
- Too few cases for a reliable estimate. . 
Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. Bold numbers indicate a significant gender 

difference (p < .05, 2-tailed t-test). 
Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 

J\s mentioned in Chapter 2, discrimination cannot be meas­

ured directly. One way to discover discrimination is to elimi­

nate other explanations. A multiple regression was used to 

c"ntrnl fnr variables known to affect earnings, such as expe­

rience (including work hours), training, education, and per­

sonal characteristics (see the appendix and Bradburn [20061 

for details). After 10 years, variables such as education, train­

ing, and experience explained less of the gender pay gap. In 

other words, more of the gap is unexplained and may be 

attributed to discrimination . 

\X'h en women's and men's earnings eguations were run 

simultaneously, a gender variable was included to see how 

much of the pay gap could be explained by gender, after 

controlling for the other variables. Once job and workplace, 

demographic and experience, and education and training 

variables were added, an unexplained pay gap of 12 percent 

remained . Thus, it is reasonable to conclude that the nega­

tive effects of gender discrimination on women's pay have 

worsened over time. 

Ten years after college graduation, the gender pay 
gap widens. 

The 10 years after g raduation is a decade of changes for 

women and men: A majority of both begin careers, marry, 

and start families. In addition, many complete postgraduate 
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Figure 20. Average Weekly Earnings of 
1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients 
Employed Full Time* in 2003, by Gender and 
College Selectivity 

$1,500 

1,000 

500 

lli.i Female 

• Male 

XX% Pay gap 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours 
worked in any Job; for these respondents. earnings are for the 
primary job. 

Notes: Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's degree 
completion . Bold indicates a significant gender difference 
(p < .05, 2-tailed t-test). 

Sou rce: U.S. Department of Education , National Center for Education 
Statistics. 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. 
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education and training, such as earning credentials for law, 

medi cine, or business. During this time, the pay gap widens 

and becomes even larger than it is for the work force as a 

whole. Fo r these coll ege graduates, u:ho on average are now 

in their earl y thirties, the pay gap is firml y entrenched and 

appears tu be heading in the wrong direction. 

Choice of major and occupation remain important factors 

driving wages for both women and men. Interestingly. 

although motherhood is not associated with lower earnings 

among full -time workers, mothers are much more likely than 

other women (ur men) to take rime out of the paid work 

force or work part time, and these choices arc penalized. 

Ten years after graduation, the portion of the gender pay 

gap that remains unexplained increases from .5 percent to 

12 percent. This widening gap cannot be attributed to 

employment, educational, or personal choices, which sug­

gests that discrimination may worsen over time or that the 

effects of gender di scrimination are cum ulative. 





Field of study and occupational gender segreg ation , 

motherhood and work-force participation, and discrimina­

rion emerge as the critical factors behind the gendeu pay 

gap. This chapter ties key findings to recent research in eco­

nomics, psychology, soc iology, and public policy and makes 

recommendations for action . 

Integrate majors and occupations. 

Occupational gender ~egregation is a leading factor in 

the gender pay gap. Based on the regression analyses (see 

append.ix). job and workplace characteristics expla in about 

one-third of the variation in women's wages and one-fourth 

of the variation in men's wages. Reducing gender segrega­

tion in the classroom and in the workplace should improve 

women's economic opportunities. 

Promote careers in science, technology, 
engineering, and mathematics in ways that 
appeal to girls and women. 
A survey of undergraduate women majoring in traditionally 

female field~ found that the overwhelming majl)rit:y of 

women clo not select technical majors because the courses 

are "not interesting" (Wei nberger, 2004). Information about 

the societal benefits of engineering as well as hands-on 

experience with science. engineering, technology, and math­

ematics (STEM) helps boost girls' and women's interest in 

these fields (Klein, et al., in press). 

Many programs are available for promoting girls and young 

women in STEivI fields, yet most of these programs remain 

small-scale pilot programs held during after-school hours. 

Many programs operate on a shoestring budget and rely 

heavily on volunteers (AAUW Educational Foundation, 

2004) . Funding programs to encourage girls to participate in 

STEM fie.Ids and integrating these programs as part of the 

regular school day could go a long w:-iy toward preparing 

girls and young women to enter the STEM work force. 

Encourage girls to take advanced courses 

in mathematics. 

Gender segregation in the job market begins in the class­

room. Taking trigonometry, precalculus, or calculus in high 

Behind the- Pay Gap 

school has been found to influence the likelihood of major­

ing in math or science in college. ln fact one study found 

that a one-unit increase in calculus in high school doubled 

the odds that women would later choose a science or math 

major (l'rusty, 2002). 

Another factor is self-assessment. The higher students 

assess their abilities in a subject, the more likely they are to 

enroll in classes in tlur subjecr or choose it as their ma jor. 

Men make higher assessments of their mathematical abili­

ties than do women (above and beyond actua.l differences in 

achievement), contributing to men's higher particip:ition in 

STEM majors (Correll. 20ll4) . 

Encourage women to negotiate for better quality 
jobs and pay. 
Even women who majored in mixed-gender o r male-domi­

nated disciplines are more likely than men to en ter clerical 

or other low-paid occupations. Female science and busi­

ness majors, for example, are t\vice as li kely as their male 

counterparts to enter clerical work Qoy, 2006). Men in 

these majors are mo re likely to go into management jobs 

Qoy, 2000, 2006). Thus, encouraging women to choose 

STEM college majo rs will not necessarily address tbe 

problem of occupational segregation: \Vomcn must also 

find employment where they can bui ld upon the skills 

acc1uired in college. 

Further magnifying these gender diffe rences, women expect 

less and negotiate less pay for themselves than do men. 

Researchers have found that women expect less, sec the 

world as having fewer negotiable nppnrtun.ities, and see 

themselves as acting for what they care about as opposed to 

acting for pav. These learned behaviors and expectations 

(which may be based on experiences) tend to minimi7.e 

women's pay (Babcock & Laschever, 2003). 

Individual differences in negotiating skil ls may lead to pay 

variatinn among workers with similar skill sets. Employers 

have a fair amount of discretion in setting wages as long as 

they pay at .least the minimum wage and do not discrim inate 

based on gender, race, ethnicity, age, or other protected 



group.' One study by Babcock and Laschevcr (2003) found 

that starting salaries for male students graduating from 

Carnegie Mellon Universii:y with master's degrees were 

about 7 percent higher (almost $4,000) than the starting 

sa.laries for similarly qualifi ed women. Babcock and 

Laschever argue that this gap in part reflects differences in 

men's and women's wiJJingncss to negotiate. lt may also 

reflect women's perceptions about the labor market, expec­

tations about the wages they'll receive, and willingness to 

take a lower-wage job (Orazem, Werbel, & i'vfc E!roy, 2003). 

On a related front, several economic experiments have 

dl'monstratc:d that regardJess o f their actual work perform­

ance in a competitive setting and their beliefs about their 

performance, more women than men choose noncompeti­

tive payment schemes over tournament (where a winner gets 

a prize and a loser gets nothing) or competition rates of 

payment for a task (Niedede & Vesterlund, 2005). 

\X'hil e women's competitiveness or negotiation skills may 

account for some of the wage differences between ·women 

and men, they do not explain the o rigin of these behaviors. 

As with occupational choice, women may be strongly social­

ized to be less competitive, and far from being a choice, Jack 

of competitiveness or negotiation skills may simply be 

learned behaviors. In fact, research shows that women are 

viewed negatively when they behave confidently and 

>tssertively ::tnd rewarded when they behave in a self-effacing 

nunner (Rudman, 1998). 

But integrating women into male-dominated fields is 

only part of the solution. 

Eliminating gender segregation in college and the workplace 

is only part of the solution to the pay gap for several 

reasons. First, women earn less than men earn in every field, 

so only a portion of the pay gap could be overcome in this 

way. Second, as more women enter a field, wages tend to 

decrease, especially after the field reaches a " tipping point" 

(when the fi eld is perceived to no longer be the domain of 

one gender o r the other). Research con fi rms that the higher 

the proportion of women in an occupation, the lower the 

compensation (R.esk.in & Bielby, :2005). 

Support mothers in the workplace. 

Mothers earn considerab.ly less than other women earn. 

Although this regression analysis did not find a motherhood 

penalty among foJJ -time women 10 years after graduation, it 

did observe a large number of women leaving the fuJl-time 

labor force for at least some portion of time. Research indi­

cates that leaving the work fo rce or working part time 

resuJts in less work experience and diminished earnings 

potentiaJ (Gabriel, 2005; Felmlee, 1995; Bowlus, 1997; 

\X'aldfogel, 1998). 

Encourage employers to offer high-quality part-time 

employment opportunities. 

G iven the need for a reduced-hour schedule, many women 

turn to part-time jobs. The evidence shows, however, that 

part-time workers earn substantially less per hour than do 

full-time workers (Hirsch, 2005). One of the reasons for 

lower wages in the part-time sector is occupational segrega­

tion. In general , lower-paying occupations have part-time 

jobs and hjgher-paying occupations do not. In a national 

su rvey, 61 percent o f employees working in organizations 

that have part-time workers said that those workers receive 

less compensation on a pro rata basis than do full-time 

employees (GaJinsky, Bond, & Hill, 2004) . Lettau (1997) also 

found that part-time employees earn less on an hourly basis 

than do full-time employees working in the same firms at 

the same occupations. Although those who desire to obtain 

part-time jobs often must change employers, jobs, or occu­

pations (G ornick & Meyers, 2003), part-time work is penal ­

ized even if workers stay in the sarne occupation or with the 

same employer. 

Clearly a large gap exists between the needs of workers, 

especially women workers, and the availability of high­

quaJity part-ti me jobs. Many large firms have learned that 

providing the flexibili ty to move in and out of part-time 

status has radical ly increased the retention of women 

Federal and sta re laws dete rmi ne minimum \vages, and employees are entitled to the higher of rhe rwo. Various groups o f workers are not 

covered under federal minimum wage law, such as agricultural workers and tipped employees (who have a separa te, lower minimum hourly 

wJge). llnly employers who do at leasr $500,000 in business per year are covered unde r minimum wage rules (see www.bls.gov for more 

information). 
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workers (H ewlett & Luce, 2005). Federal employment stan­

dards should also be invesrigated to determine ways to 

promote part-time work (G ar rett, 1999). 

Rethink using hours as the measure of productivity. 

U.S. employees work more annual hours than do employees 

in almost any o ther country in the industrialized world. In 

most o ther countries, annual ho urs are declining, while in 

the United States the trend is in the other direcrion . In their 

national study o f the changi ng work force, Galinsky, Bond, 

and H iJJ (2004) found that 61 percent of wage and salaried 

workers want to work fewer hours. Nearly two-thirds of 

dual-ea rner couples work more than 80 combined hours a 

week (Gornick & Meyers, 2003) . 

The issue of long work days is particularly relevant for 

college-educated women, who are more likely than Jess 

educated women to be in a dual-earner household Oacobs 

& Gerson, 2001) . Long work hours make it particularly 

hard fo r women and men to be involved parents and 

probably encourage v.romen to leave the work force alto ­

gether. According to a Catalys t (2000) survey of 45 pro­

fessiona.I and managerial women with reduced-hours 

o ptions, 60 percent of them would leave if their jobs did 

not o ffer flexibility. 

Inefficien t competition may be a reason that work hours are 

so long. /\ number of econom ists have shown theoretically 

that when workers perceive others working long hours, they 

believe that they must work the same number of hours to 

compete (Eastman, 1998) . The national survey of employ­

ees echoes thi s notion. \Xihen as ked why they did not work 

their preferred hf)urs, abrmt half of employees resp<>nded 

that they feel they need to succeed or make their organiza­

tion success ful (Galinsky, Bond, & Hill, 2004). 

In their study of lawyers, Landers, Rebitzer, and Taylor 

(1996) found evidence that lawyers work ineffi ciently long 

hours to gain promotions. Kuhn and Lozano (2005) also 

found that men use long hours to win promotions and 

higher compensation. Using long hours as a measure of 
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productivity or as the basis for promotions is a disadvantage 

for women, who typicaJ!y have more family responsibilities 

than men have (Hewlett & Luce, 2006). 

Many firms are successfully challenging the notion that 

more hours are equivalent to more productivity. One recent 

example is the company Best Buy. Faced with retention and 

morale issues, this retailer insri tuted a policy called ROWE 

(Results-Only Work E nvironment), where workers set their 

own schedules and are responsible for meeting performance 

goals. 'T'h e results have been positive, with improved reten ­

tion and productivity (Conlin, 2006). 

Protect and extend the Family and Medical 

Leave Act. 

The Family and l\:Iedical Leave Act of 1993 requires that 

all employers with 50 or more employees provide up to 

12 weeks of annual unpaid family and medical leave to 

their workers. Among other things, family leave enablc:s 

parents to care for a child after birth or adoption. Typically, 

workers take only short leaves under FMLA, e.g., in 2(\(l(l 

the typical leave was 10 days, and 90 percent of employees 

using the policy took l 2 weeks or less (Waldfogel, 200 I) . 

A major limitation of FMLA is that it ensures only 11npaid 

leave, and many people cannot afford to take time off 

without pay. Only 8 percent of private sector emplo\'cr' 

provide paid leave (U.S. D epartment of Labor, Bureau ul 

Labor Statistics, 2006). While disability insurance covers 

some workers (ibid.), only 22 percent of families have 

access to paid leave of fo ur weeks or more (Gornick & 

Meyers, 2003). 

Unfortunately, short leaves are associated with \.Vorse 

hea lrh o utcomes fo r both morhers and chjldren (Berger, 

Hill , & Waldfogel, 2005). In addition to being good health 

policy, maternity leave helps wo men stay in the labor force. 

Working women with maternity leave are more likely to 

return to work than are women without materni ty leave 

(Heyman n, Earle, Simmons, Breslow, & Keuhnho ff, 2004; 

Waldfogel, 1998) . Currently at least 80 percent of women 



will be mothers,8 so these policies affect most women at 

some point. Nearly all working women (99 percent) 

who have a child take maternity leave, and more than 

25 percent must leave their job as a result (Overturf 

Johnson & Downs, 2005). 

Federal and state policy-makers should consider ways to 

improve upon FMLA by finding mechanisms to provide paid 

leave (Levin-Epstein, 2006). A promising example for the 

federal government is the state of California, which extends 

paid family .leave to residents th.rough its disability insurance 

program. Funding family leave may also encourage more 

men to take leave, possibly diminishing the pay differences 

between women and men (Gornick & Meyers, 2003). 

Another necessary expansion to Fl'vU..i\ is universal national 

sick leave policies. Only 68 percent of the work force 

receives paid time off for personal illness.9 Low-wage 

workers are less likely than higher-paid workers to receive 

paid personal sick days. More than half of employees are 

unable to take time off to care for sick children without 

losing pay, having to use vacation leave, or fabricating an 

excuse to use the.ir own sick leave. Only 30 percent of the 

51 percent who have paid sick leave arc allowed to use it to 

care for sick children (Lovell, 2004). The less the worker 

earns, the more likely she or he does not have time off to 

care for children. 

US. employees receive an average of 14 days per year of 

vacation time (Galinsky, Bond, & Hill, 2004), far less than 

Europeans receive. One impact on families is the care of 

children during school breaks (Gornick & Meyers, 2003). 

The lack of coordination between work and school sched­

ules increases family pressures. Since mothers tend to be 

the primary caregivers for their children, this pressure dis­

proportiona tely affects women. Long work hours and the 

lack of time for personal responsibilities or caring for 

others put women at risk for work separation and attendant 

pay penalties. 

Increase women's employment options by supporting 
high-quality child care in conjunction with other 
family-friendly policies. 
Most parents cannot work outside the home unless they can 

arrange care for their children. While all states provide 

kindergarten, no national system of child care exists for 

younger children. Even when children are old enough to 

attend school, schoo.l hours and caJendars do not match 

standard work schedules. Reliance on the market to obtain 

child care means that poorer families either choose not to 

work or sometimes have to rely on lower-quality child care. 

Low wages in the child care and education industry are not 

conducive to attracting and retaining highly qualified child ­

care workers (ibid.) . Programs should be developed to better 

assess communiry needs, monitor home-based care, increase 

compensation, and build career ladders in the child-care 

industry (Hamm, Gault, & Jones-DeWeever, 2005). 

Currently only high-income families and a portion of very 

low-income families have access to high-quality child care. 

Today's child-care market does not work, and state and 

federal governments must explore policies to resolve the 

problem (Brandon, Maher, Li, & Joesch, 2004). 

End gender discrimination. 

This report finds that the pay gap between female and male 

college graduates cannot be fully accounted for by factors 

known to affect wages. An extensive body of rese:i.rch also 

finds that some gap in pay between women and men is 

unexplained. While researchers disagree about the portion 

of the pay gap that is unaccounted for, many have attributed 

the unexplained portion to gender discrimination (Blau & 

Kahn, 2000; U.S. General Accounting Office, 2003; 

Hellerstein, Neumark, & Troske, 2002). 

s As of June 2004, 19 percent of women ages 40 through 44 were childless, and this estimate assumes that these women are at the end of their 
potential fertility. \Y/e do not know what the ferti]jty rates of young women will be as they age; therefore, this number is an approximation. 

9 This figure does not include the self-employed. 
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111 addition ro evidence of pay discrimination nationwide, 

researchers also found it within particular occupations, 

including c<>llege administrators (JVIonks & McG oldrick, 

2004), accountants (Smithson, Lewis, Cooper, & D yer, 

2004), \'{'all Street securiti es analysts (Roth, 2003), veterinari ­

ans (Smith, 2002), corporate executives (Bertrand & 

Hallock, 2002; H ealy Burress & Zucca, 2004), and engineers 

(l'vlorgan, 1998, 2000; Alessio & Andrzejewski, 2000). 

Whil e factors va ry across the analyses, in all cases at least 

some of the gender earnings differential cannot be 

explained by individual factors or work characteristics. In 

fact a recent comprehensive look by Bayard, H cllcrstein, 

Neumark, and Troske (2003) used a data set covering all 

industries and occupations and found that women art segre­

gated into lower-paying occupations, indust ri es, and estab­

Li shme11t"s and one-half the pay gap remains attributable to 

an indi vidual's gender. 

Gender pay di scrimination can be overt or subtle. It is diffi ­

cult to document discrimination because gender is usually 

eas ily identified by name, voice, or appearance. One study in 

which gender was masked completely showed evidence of 

di scrimination. Goldin and Rouse (2000) found that the 

adoption of " blind auditions" by symphony o rchestras-in 

which a screen was used to conceal tl1e identi ty of the can­

didate-ex plained 25 percent of rhe increase in the number 

of women in top U.S. symphony o rchestras, from less than 

5 percent of musicians .in 1970 to 25 percent by 2000. 

ln another case, economist David Neumark sent women 

and men with equaJ.ly impressive backgrounds and resumes 

to apply for jobs as wair staff in upscale restaurants in 

Philadelphia. He fou nd rhat women were 40 percent less 

likely than men to get called for interv.i ews and 50 percent 

less likely to receive job offers if they did get interviews. 

\'Vhilt women were generally viewed as being capable of 

serving food . male waiters were considered mnre desirable, 

simply because of their gender (Babcock & Laschever, 2003). 

G ender pay discri mination also happens in mo re subtle 

form s. For example, managers may et1uate good organi:ta-
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tional skiJJs with management ralcnt in men and secretarial 

talent in women (l\forphy, 2005). E mployers may subcon­

sciously make discrimi natory decisions about hiring, perform­

ance, and pay based on personal beliefa about gender roles. 

Action must happen on multiple levels. 

To address pay inequity, action must take place sin1uJrane­

ously, among employees, employers, and the public (Murphy, 

2005). Strong national legal remedies may be warranted 

(National Women's Law Center, 2006) . To make pay equity 

a reality, pressure must come from eve ry level. 

Individuals must take action at work. 

Women should coll ect information about thei r workplaces 

and become advocates for themselves and other women 

employed there. By educating themselves and collecting 

hard evidence on ineguities, women can apply pressure to 

employers to create change. For example, at the Massachu­

setts Institute o f Technology, professo r Nancy Hopkins 

was di smayed to discover that her lab space was smaller 

than that of colleagues wirh fewer creJentials. She then 

looked at wages, resea rch assistant al locarion, and budgets 

fo r women and men. H er detailed and complete informa­

tion, along with the support of other women faculty, was 

brought to the university president, who instituted policies 

to change the situation (Murphy, 2005). 

\X'hen women find pay ineguitits in th e workplace, they 

need to confront the problem. \\'omen are better negotia­

tors when they have solid knowledge about what their job is 

worth (Babcock & Laschever, 2003) . i\fany resources arc 

avai lable for women seeking to learn negotiation ski ll s. 

Leaders in the workplace must embrace change. 

T .eadership is critical to changing pay ineguit.ies with.in an 

o rgani zation. W'ithou t a concerted commitment at the top, 

policies and changes arc unlikely to be taken seriously by 

managers and employees (i'vlurphy, 2005). 

Once the leaders have made a commitment, an audit of an 

organi7.ation's jobs fo r gender composition, necessa.ry skills, 

and pay scale is a good place t<J start. An obvious and o ften 



overlooked second step is to implement the findings of the 

audit and change salaries to reflect its findings. In practice, 

salary increases may need to be implemented over time. In 

addition, an audit must be updated on a regular basis, and 

policies must be in place to ensure fair-pay practices. 

Fair-pay policies can be effective in improving equity for 

women and usually improve productivity and retention as weJJ 

(Chicago Area Partnerships, 2003; Murphy, 2005; Burk, 2005). 

The public sector should be a model employer. 
The public sector should model fair-pay practices. The state 

of tvlinnesota has been a leader in the pursuit of gender pay 

equity. Ir used an audit to evaluate job amibutes (including 

complexity, danger, and required levels of experience and 

education). Each job was then assigned points, and the state 

compared the gender concentration of each job and its 

points and pay. The audit found that jobs with more women 

paid much less than similarly ranked jobs for men, e.g., jobs 

of delivery van driver and clerk typist were given the same 

number of points, but the delivery van driver job was filled 

mostly by men and paid $1,900 a month, while the clerk 

typist job was filled mostly by women and pa.id $1,400 a 

month. The state raised the wages of affected workers in all 

cases of disparity (State of Minnesota, 2006). 

National legislation must be strengthened. 
The Equal Pay Act of 1963 provides a valuable foundation 

for gender equity in the workplace. Legislative efforts to 

improve enforcement of the Equal Pay Act, including the 

Paycheck Fairness Act and the Fair Pay Act, arc pending in 

Congress. Both proposals would extend the scope of the 

Equal Pay Act and improve protections for those who 

attempt to use it. "Equal pay for comparable wo rk" lies at 

the core of both proposals, with technical fixes to help 

make the Equal Pay Act workable. For example, the Fair Pay 

Act eliminates the "gag rule" on wage disclosure, prohibit­

ing employers from punishing employees who discuss their 

wages with a co-worker. The Paycheck Fairness Act reguires 

that employers affirmatively prove that pay differences 

between women and men are caused by something other 

than sex, as opposed co simply demonstrating that the clif-

ference is not the result of discrimination. Rules and proce­

dures that force employers to look carefully at pay differ­

ences and monitor ineguities are the key to overcoming 

gender eguities in the workplace. 
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Overview 

Regression analysis was used to better understand the 

reas<ms for the gender pay gap. \Xfhile the analysis presented 

in the text allows us to understand the correlation bet\veen 

each v:uiable and earnings, it does so only one variable at a 

time, e.g., to what extent various factors such as college 

major or occupation affect earnings. The regression analysis 

allowed m to assess the relative impact of each of the 

factors at the same time. 

Tn estimating the regression equations, the dependent \-ari ­

able was defined as the natural log of average weekly earn­

ings. This form has the :i<lvantagc that the resulting 

regression coefficients can be interpreted as the percentage 

change in weekly earnings for a one-unit change in the inde­

pendent variable. For each regress ion, a traditi onal earnings 

equation was specified, where log weekly earni ngs one year 

after graduation are a function of the full-time emplovee's 

charactcristies, including job and workplace, employment 

experience and continuity, education and training, and 

demographic and perwnal characteristics (see Figure 21 and 

Bradburn [2006] for a li st of the variables used in each cate-· 

gory). Most variables from the analysis presented in the 

report were included in the regression an:ilysis. 

A separate analysis was performed one year after graduation 

for the 1999-2000 graduates and 10 years after graduation 

for the l 992-9:> graduates. For each group, the regressions 

were run separ:itely for women and men. T-tests were used 

to compare regression coefficients for women and men to 

determine whether the differential effects of factors on 

earnings were statistically significant. 

Women and men were combined in the third regression, and 

an independent variable of gender was used to see whether 

women's and men's earn ings were statistically significantly 

different after controlling for other choices and characteris­

tics. The regression coefficient of gender can be interpreted 

as the remaining percentage difference in earnings when 

taking into account the other variables in the model. 

Behind the Pay Gap 

Figure 21. Key Variables Used in 
Regression Analysis, by Category 

Job and Workplace Characteristics 

Occupation 

Industry 

Employer sector (e.g., nonprofit) 

Hours worked per week 

Whether employee worked multiple jobs 

Workplace flexibility, ability to telecommute 

Months at employer 

Education and Training Characteristics 

Educational attainment (bachelor 's and any graduate 

enrollment or completion) 

Current enrollment status 

Other license or certification 

Work-related training 

Undergraduate GPA 

Undergraduate major 

Ever attended less-than-four-year institution 

Institution sector 

Institution selectivity 

Demographic and Personal Characteristics 

Gender 

Age 

Highest education of either parent 

Race/ethnicity 

U.S. citizen 

Disabled 

Region of res idence 

Marital status 

Has children 

Volunteered in past year 

Source Bradburn (2006). 
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Data 

The Bam11aureate and Bq;·o11d Longitudinal Studies, conducted by 

the U.S. Deparm1ent of Education National Center for 

Education Statistics, are used in this research. These studies 

provide nationally representative information on the lives of 

two groups of U.S. colJege graduates. As of 2006, two studies 

have been conducted. The first followed the 1992-93 bache­

lor's degree recipients for 10 years after college graduation, 

interviewing them first in 1994 and then in 1997 and 2003. 

Approximately 9,000 recipients participated to some extent in 

alJ row1ds of this srudy. The second study followed the 

1999-2000 bachelor's degree recipients for one year and 

included more than 10,000 participants. 

In both studies, the base year provided a wealth of informa­

tion on the respondents as well as a retrospective look at the 

w1dergraduate experience. The base year covered a variety 

of topics: enrolJment (field of srudy, institution type, atten­

dance and enrollment patterns, financial aid), employment 

(occupation, hours per week), plans and expectations for the 

future (employment after graduation, graduare school enroll­

ment, entry into the teaching profession), and basic demo­

graphic information (sex, age, race/ ethnicity, ma.riral status). 

The first fo!Jow-ups, which were conducted one year after 

the initial interviews, focused primarily on the lives of bach­

elor's degree recipients after graduation. Topics included 

postgraduation employment (occupation, hours per week, 

job search strategies, job training, job entry), posr-bachelor's 

degree enrollment (graduate school enrollment, fi eld of 

study, financial aid). family formation, civic participation, 

and undergraduate experiences (coursework, institutions, 

credits earned, grade point average). The first follow-up of 

the 1992-93 cohort also included an analysis of undergrad­

uate study transcripts. 

Sample Selection 

To avoid the confounding influence of prior bachelor's 

degrees, the sample in each year was restricted to those for 

whom the bachelor's degree that qualified them for partici­

pation was their first bachelor's degree. Prior certificates, 

licenses, associate degrees, or postsecondary enrollment 

without program completion were permitted. Demographic 

characteristics included age at bachelor's degree completion 

as indicated by graduates' age on D ec. 31 of the academic 

year in which they graduated. To minimize the effect o f out­

Liers, the sample in each year was restricted to those who 

were age 35 or younger at the time o f bachelor's degree 

completion. 

Employment Status 
The sample was divided by employment level, which was 

based on the response to the first question about employ­

ment status. Response categories included working full time 

and working part time, laid off, disabled, or homemaker. For 

these rounds, employment was determined based on the 

answer to the first question, and respondents who indicated 

they worked full or part time were included. 

In a few cases, a question or set of question s excluded a 

subset of these employed people. Elementary and sec­

ondary school teach ers were sometimes excluded because 

they completed an additional detailed survey section on 

their employment experiences. Self-employed respon­

den ts were sometimes excluded fro m questions thought 

to be irrelevant to them, and where appropriate, their 

res ponses were imputed. 

Once employment was determined, information about the 

number of jobs respondents held was used to determine 

who worked in multiple jobs, and these respondents were 

combined with those who worked full time in one job; part­

time wo rkers were analyzed separately. Approximate 

unweighte<l sample sizes are shown in Figure 22. 

Regression Results for 1999-2000 Graduates One 
Vear After Graduation 

The regression analysis of earnings one year after gradua­

tion for the combined sample of wo men and men shows a 

gender pay difference of 5 percent, controlling for educa­

tional and occupational choices as well as demographic and 

personal characteristics (see Figure 23). That is, when all the 

selected job and workplace, education and training, and 

demographic and personal variables were included, women 

AAUW Educational Foundation 



Figure 22. Sample Sizes of 1992-93 and 
1999-2000 Cohorts, by Employment Status 

Employment status 

Fu ll time or multiple jobs 
Full time or multiple jobs 
Part time 
Part time 

Cohort 

1992-93 
1999-2000 
1992-93 
1999-2000 

Unweighted 
sample size 

5,600 
6,100 
1, 100 

780 

Note: The 1992-93 cohort was interviewed in 1994; the 1999-2000 
cohort was interviewed in 2001. 

Source: Bradburn (2006). 

earned 5 percent less than men earned (seen at the top of 

Figure 23 as the gender coefficient) . 

Job and Workplace Characteristics 

The regression results show that occupational choice 

appears to be especially important to women. Women have 

higher earnings when they choose business and manage­

ment; engineering/architecture; computer science; 

editing/ writing/ performing; research, science, technology; 

or se rvice industry occupations as opposed to education; 

human/ protective services, Jaw; administrative/ derical/legal 

support; or "other" occupations. 

Choice of industry and sector of the economy affect both 

women's and men's earnings. For women, working in the busi­

ness services industry tends to increase pay relative to other 

choices. Employment in all sectors other than the nonprofit 

or self-employed sectors increases earnings for women. For 

men, industries such as manufacrnring, utilities, communica­

tions, transportation, finance, insurance, and real estate are 

associated with a pay advantage over other industries. Men in 

the for-profit sector, especially self-employed men, earn more 

than those working for nonprofit companies earn. 

Education and Training Characteristics 
\Xiomen see significant earnings returns for completing a 

graduate program, certificate, or license after graduation. 

They also see penalties for being currently enrolled. For 

both women and men, having work-related training in the 

last l 2 mon tbs increases pay. 

Behind the Pay Gap 

Undergraduate major choice affects pay for women and men 

similarly. iv1ajoring in business and management, engineer­

ing, and health professions increases pay for both women 

and men. \X1omen see positive returns from majoring in 

public affairs or social services; men see positive returns 

from majoring in mathematics or other sciences. 

The type of .institution attended has only weak affects on 

pay, with penalties for men who attended institutions other 

than those providing doctoral programs. \,'V'ornen seem to 

experience pay gains from first attending a community 

college (though this effect is only marginally significant). 

Demographic and Personal Characteristics 

h>r both women and men, age at the time of bachelor's 

completion affects earnings positively (for the group in the 

sample that excluded those over 35). For women, being a 

black/ African American is associated (marginally signifi­

cantly) with higher earnings, whereas for men, being an 

Asian/Pacific lslandcr is associated with higher pay. Women 

living in the .l'viidwest or South generally earn less. Neither 

marriage nor children have significant effects at this point in 

the respondent's career. 

Summary 

Overall, the regress.ion analysis of earnings one year after 

graduation suggests that a 5 percent pay gap between 

women and men remains after accounring for all variables 

known to affect earnings. \X'omen who choose male-domi­

nated occupations appear to earn more than do other 

women. Undergraduate majrJrs in business and management, 

engineering, health professions, or public affairs and social 

services enhance both women's and men's earnings. 

Regression Results for 1992-93 Graduates 1 O Years 

After Graduation 

The results of this model show a significant gender difference 

in earnings for women and men, controlling for educational 

and occupational choices as welJ as demographic and personal 

characteristics. \X7hen selected job and wmkplace, education 

and training, and demographic and personal variables were 

included, women earned l '.2 percent less than men earned 

(seen at the top of Figure 24 as the gender coefficient) . 



Job and Workplace Characteristics 
Sector of employment matters for both women and men. 

1vfen who work in for-profit organizations and self­

employed men earn about one-third more than do those in 

the nonprofit sector. For women, working in a for-profit 

organization increases pay. Autonomy and authority at work 

are associated with higher pay for both women and men. 

Occupations associated with higher pay for women include 

business and management; engineering/ architecture; com­

puter science; and research, science, technology. For men, 

working in engineering/architecture, computer science, and 

medical professions increases pay. 

Undergraduate Education Characteristics 
Choice of major still has an effect on wages 10 years 

after graduation . W'omen who majored in engineering, 

health professions, social science, or "other" earn more 

than do peers who majored in education, public affairs / 

social services, history, humanities, or psychology. Men 

earn more from majoring in business and management, 

engineering, health professions, public affairs/ social serv­

ices, mathematics and other sciences, social science, and 

psychology than do peers who majored in education 

or humanities. 

Ten years after graduation, institution selectivity appears to 

matter for women and men, with those graduating from very 

selective institutions earning more than their peers earn. 

Graduate Education and Training Characteristics 
For women more than men, obtaining a graduate degree is 

associated with higher pay. Current enrollment is negatively 

associated with pay for both women and men. 

For women, past employment (number of jobs since gradu­

ation, months w1employed, months out of the labor force, 

and years working part time) negatively affects pay. Only 

past unemployment has a negative effect on men's earnings. 

The data do not show a direct penalty associated with 

having children. For men, but not women, having children is 

positively associated with pay. 

Summary 
The portion of the gender gap that remains unexplained 

increased from 5 percent to 12 percent 10 years after gradu­

ation, after controlling f(lr a similar set of characteristics. 

This gap among full-time workers may understate the full 

gender disparities, because those excluded from the 

sample-those working part time or those temporarily out 

of the work force-include a disproportionate share of 

women, many of whom can expect to pay a penalty when 

they return to full-time employment or may have lower 

wages than the women in the sample. 

A Note cm Presentation of Figures 23 am:I 24 

For each group, three main regressions were conducted 

and presented together in one table, for a total of six 

regressions. The regressions for the 1999-2000 g raduates 

one year after graduation are reported in Figure 23, and 

the regressions for the 1992-93 graduates 10 years after 

graduation are reported in Figure 24. Each table has three 

columns that refer to three different regressions. The first 

column is the regression for women, the second is for 

men, and the third column is for all the women and men 

in the sample. 
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Figure 23. Significant Coefficients From Regressions of Weekly Earnings, 
1999-2000 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed Full Time* in 2001 

----··---- - --· ._ ___________ --- -·-·------

Gender (female) 

Job and Workplace Characteristics and Employment Experience 
Occupation 

Administrative/clerical/legal support 
Business and management 
Computer science 
Editing/writing/performing 
Education 
Engineering/architecture 
Human/protective services, law 
Medical professions 
Research, science, technology 
Service industries 
Other 

Industry 
Agriculture, forestry, and fisheries 
Business services 
Education 
Finance, insurance, and real estate 
Health care 
Manufacturing 
Mining, petroleum, construction 
Personal/hospitality services, entertainment/recreation 
Professional and related services 
Public safety and administration 
Retail and wholesale trade 
Utilities, communications, transportation 
Other 

Employer sector 
For-profit 
Nonprofit 
Federal government (including military) 
State government 
Local government 
Self-employed 
Other 

Hours worked per week 
(Hours worked per week) squared 

Had mul t iple jobs 

Had option to telecommute 

Months at employer 

Education and Training Characteristics 
Educationa l attainment 

Bachelor's degree 
Some graduate enrollment, no completion 
Graduate program completed 

Currently enrolled 

Other license or certification 

Work-related training in past 12 months 

Undergraduate major 
Biological sciences 
Business and management 
Education 
Engineeri ng 

Behind the Pay Gap 

Female 
:j: 

t 
0.142 
0.348 
0.145 

t 
0.355 

t 

0.146 
0.145 

t 

-0 .182 
0.110 

t 
t 
t 
t 

[-0 279] 
-0 .209 

t 

-0 075 
t 
t 

0.100 
t 

[0.119] 
[O 083J 
0.182 

t 

0.068 
-0.0006 

0.086 

0.002 

t 
t 

0.178 

-0 080 

0.095 

0.081 

t 
0.187 

t 
0.272 

Male 
:j: 

-0 .197 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 
t 

-0.298 
t 

[-0 088] 
0. 146 

0.140 

[-0 172] 
t 
t 
t 

0.130 
t 

[0.077] 
t 
t 
t 
t 

0.339 

0.045 
-0.0003 

-0 .170 

0.066 

t 
t 

:j: 

0.151 

t 
0.095 

t 
0.296 

All 
-0.049 

[-0080] 
0. 121 
0.276 

t 
0.229 

t 

0.095 
t 

-0.196 

[0.037] 

-0.223 
t 

-0 095 

t 

0.119 
t 

0.157 
0.245 
0.107 

0.057 
-0 .0005 

-0.120 

0.047 

0.001 

t 
t 

0.134 

-0.062 

[0043] 

0.098 

t 
0.170 

t 
0.269 



(continued) 

Health professions 
History 
Humanities 
Mathematics and other sciences 
Psychology 
Public affairs/social seNices 
Socia I science 
Other 

Ever attended less-than-four-year institution 

Institution sector 
Public doctoral 
Private nonprofit doctoral 
Public four-year nondoctoral 
Private nonprofit four-year nondoctoral 
Private for-profit 

Institution selectivity 
Very selective 
Moderately selective 
Minimally selective 
Open admission 

Demographic and Personal Characteristics 
Age in bachelor's completion year 

Race/ethnicity 
Asian/Pacific Islander 
Black/African American 
Latino/a (any race) 
Native American/other/more than one race 
White 

U.S. citizen 

Region of residence 
Midwest 
Northeast 
South 
West 
Outside U.S. 

Marita I status 
Divorced, separated 
Married 
Single, never married 
Widowed 

Has any children 

Volunteered in past year 

Multiple R2 
Percent of subpopulation included 

Unweighted 
Weighted 

* Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
- Results not significant (p > 0.1 O). 
n/a Not applicable; category empty. 
t Reference category for comparison. 
:j: Not included in model. 

Female 

0.1 90 
t 
t 

t 
0.120 

t 
t 

(0.042] 

t 
t 

n/a 

t 
-0.067 

[-0.066] 
t 

0.012 

t 
[0.063] 

t 
t 
t 

:j: 

-0.114 
t 

-0. 127 
t 

n/a 

t 

t 

0.403 

71.2% 
61.4% 

Male 

0.208 
t 
t 

0.276 
t 
t 

(0.054] 
t 

:j: 

t 
t 

[-0.117] 
-0.057 
-0. 160 

t 

t 

0.018 

0.131 
t 
t 
t 
t 

[-0.132] 

:j: ' 

:j: 

:j: 

:j: 

:j: 

t 
[0.045] 

t 
n/a 

0.296 

80.1% 
77.3% 

All 

0.233 
t 
t 

0.174 
t 

0.121 
0.064 

t 

[0.027] 

t 
t 

-0.050 
[-0.046) 
-0.226 

t 
-0.050 
-0.078 

t 

0.014 

t 
t 
t 

-0.100 
t 

-0.098 
t 

-0.472 

t 
0.031 

t 

-0.038 

0.384 

70.7% 
61.1% 

Notes: Results in brackets [ ] are significant at 0.05 < p < 0.10, and other results shown are significant at p < 0.05. Coefficients in bold type were 
significantly different for women and men (shown only if the coefficient was significant in at least one of the two equations). Coefficients were 
tested for gender differences only if the variable was categorized identically for men and women. Excludes graduates older than 35 at bachelor's 
degree completion. 

Sources: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2000- 01 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. Figure 
from Bradburn (2006, Table 31 B). 
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Figure 24. Significant Coefficients From Regressions of Weekly Earnings, 
1992-93 Bachelor's Degree Recipients Employed Full Time* in 2003 

Gender (female) 

Job and Workplace Characteristics 
Occupation 

Administrative/clerical/legal support 
Business and management 
Computer science 
Editing/writing/performing 
Education 
Engineering/architecture 
Human/protective services, law 
Medical professions 
Research, science, technology 
Service industries 
Other 

Industry 
Agriculture, forestry, and fisheries 
Business services 
Education 
Finance, insurance, and rea l estate 
Health care 
Manufacturing 
Mining, petroleum, construction 
Personal/hospitality services, entertainment/recreation 
Professiona l and related services 
Public safety and administration 
Retail and wholesale trade 
Utilities, communications, transportation 
Other 

Employer sector 
For-profit 
Nonprofit 
Federal government (including mili tary) 
State government 
Local government 
Self-employed 

Hours worked per week 
(Hours worked per week) squared 

Hours at nonprimary job 

Reported that job requires bachelor's degree 

Reported being basically one's own boss 

Helped set salary rates for others 

Participated in hiring/firing decisions 

Had option to telecommute 

Employment Experience and Continuity 
Number of jobs since graduation 

Months unemployed since graduation 

Months out of the labor force since 1997 

Years part time since 1997 

Education and Training Characteristics 
Educational attainment 

Bachelor's degree 
Some graduate enrollment, no completion 
Master's* 
Professional 

Behind the Pay Gap 

Female 
:j: 

t 
0.156 
0.351 

t 
t 

0.192 
t 

0.123 
t 
t 

t 
t 
t 
t 

t 
t 

-0.133 
t 
t 

-0 .178 
t 
t 

0.250 
t 

0.238 

0.112 

0.047 
-0 0004 

:j: 

0.208 

:j: 

0.129 

0.089 

0.101 

-0.010 

-0.005 

-0.006 

-0 056 

t 
t 

0.136 
0.383 

Male 
:j: 

t 

0.151 
t 
t 

[0.119] 
t 

0.216 

t 

t 
t 

0.194 

t 
t 

t 
t 
t 
t 

0.078 

0.305 
t 

0.274 

0155 
0.305 

0.054 
-0 0004 

(-0 005] 

0.126 

[O 075 ] 

0.106 

0129 

-0007 

:j: 

t 
t 

0.267 

All 
-0.124 

t 
0.097 
0.220 

t 
t 

0.169 
t 

0.166 

t 

[-0 .119] 
t 
t 

0 101 

t 
t 

-0 .143 
t 
t 

-0.083 
t 

0.078 

0.256 
t 

0.236 

0.132 
0.245 

0.053 
-00004 

0.154 

0073 

0.097 

0.094 

0.127 

-0007 

-0.007 

-0.005 

-0041 

t 
t 

0.081 
0.334 



(continued) 

Doctoral 

Currently enrolled 

Work-related training in past 12 months 

Undergraduate GPA 

Undergraduate major 
Biological sciences 
Business and management 
Education 
Engineering 
Health · professions 
History 
Humanities 
Mathematics and other sciences 
Psychology . 
Public.<iffairs/social services . 
Social science 
Other 

Institution selectivity 
Very selective 
Moderately selective 
Minimally selective 
Open admission 

Demographic and Personal Characteristics 
Age in bachelor's completion year 

Race/ethnicity 
Asian/Pacific. Islander 
Black/African Ameri'can 
L<)tino/a (any race) 
Native American/other/more than one race 
Whfte 

Region of residence 
Midwest 
Northeast 
South 
West 
Outside U.S. 

Marital status 
Cohabiting 
Divorced/separated 
Married 
Single .. never married 
Widowed 

Has any children 

Volunteered in past year 

Multiple R2 
Percent of subpopulation included 

Unweighted 
·weighted 

*. Includes respondents with multiple jobs, regardless of hours worked in any job. 
- Results not significant (p .> 0.10). 
t Reference category for comparison. 

Female 

0.282 -

-0.024 

t 
0.272 
0.174 

t 
t 

t 
.. t 

0.089 
0.053 

t 
-0.075 

-0.142 

t 
t 
t 
t 

-0.125 
t 

-0.130 
t 

*· 
:j: 

:j: 

:j: 

:j: 

0.426 

Male All 

[0.109] 0.194 . 

-0.100 -0.057 

[0.042] 0.035 

0.113 0.077 
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:t: Not included in model. . 
Notes: Results in brackets [] are significant at 0.05 < p < 0.10, and other results shown are significant at p < 0.05. Coefficients in bold type 

were significantly different for women and men (shown only if the coefficient wa.s significant in at least one of the two equations). 
Coefficients were tested for gender differences only if the variable was categorized identically for men and women: Excludes graduates older 
than 35 at bachelor's degree completion. . 

Sources: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. 2003 Baccalaureate and Beyond Longitudinal Study. Figure 
from Bradburn (2006, Table 21 B). · ' · · · 
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ASSO 111 56 pages/2001 11 $9 .95 

Hostile Hallways: The AAUW Survey on Sexual Harassment 
in America's Schools (1993) 

AS17 • 28 pages/1993 • $5 .99 

How Schools Shortchange Girls: The AAUW Report 

AS22 • Report • 224 pages/Marlowe, 1995 • $6 .49 

AS14 • Executive Summary • 8 pages/1992 • $2 .50 

A License for Bias: Sex Discrimination, 
Schools, and Title IX 

AS48 • 84 pages/MUW Lega l Advocacy Fund, 2000 • $12 . 95 

SchoolGirls: Young Women, Self-Esteem, and 
the Confidence Gap 

AS27 • 384 pages/Doubleday, 1994 • $12.95 

Separated by Sex: A Critical Look at Single-Sex 
Education for Girls 

AS34 • 99 pages/1998 • $12.95 

Shortchanging Girls, Shortchanging America 
Executive Summary 

AS20 • 20 pages/AAUW, 1994 • $5 .99 

iSi, Se Puede! Yes, We Can: Latinas in School 

AS46 (English) 111 84 pages/200 1 • $12 .95 

AS47 (Spanish) 11 90 pages/2001 • $12. 95 

Tech-Savvy: Educating Girls in the New Computer Age 

AS45 • 84 pages/2000 • $12 .95 

Tenure Denied: Cases of Sex Discrimination in Academia 

EF003 • 105 pages/2004 • $10 .00 

The Third Shift Women Learning Online 

AS51 • 80 pages/2001 • $9 .95 

Under the Microscope: A Decade of Gender 
Equity Projects in the Sciences 

EF002 111 40 pages/2004 • $12.00 

Voices of a Generation: Teenage Girls 
on Sex, School, and Self 

AS39 Ill 95 pages/ 1999 • $7 .SO 

Women at Work 

ASSS • Report • 56 pages/2003 • $15.95 

AS 56 • Action Guide • 20 pages/2003 • $6 .95 

AS57 • Set (Report and Action Guide) • $19.95 



o Yes! 1 want to ioin AAUW's nowerful network ... 
So I can take advantage of 
• AAUW's scholarly research 

• Opportuniri es for activism 

• Tools Lo become an equity advocaLe 

• Leaders hip training 

• Professio nal and educaLiona l development opponuniLies 

And so together we can 
• Work LO advance equi ty for women and girls through 

advocacy. education, and research 

• Take grassroot~ activism to new levels 

• StrengLhen our co llec tive voice in government 

• Improve the lives of women and girls 

AAUW Member 
Membership is open to anyone holding an associar.e's or 

equ ivalent, bachelor's, or h igher degree from a regionall)' 

accredited college or un iversity 

J oi n to d ay! Support AAUW iniLiatives at the national 

level by jo ining as a membcr-at.-large. Member-at-large 

dues are $4 7 Lhrough June 30, 2007. After LhaL date, call 

800/32.6-AAUW (2.289) for due.s rates. 

To become a branch member, join at the local level. Visit 

www.aauw. org or conract the AAUW Helpline at 

helpline@aauw.org or 800/326-AAUW (2289) Lo locate a 

branch in your area . 

AAUW Student Affiliate 
Student affiliates must be enrolled as unde rgraduates in a 

two- or four-year regionall y accredited ed ucational insti ­

tution. Annual cl ues for s tudenL affiliate members-at- large 

are $17 per yea r. 

To become an A.AUW branch stuclem affiliate, join aL Lhe 
local level. Visit www.aauw.org or contact the A.ALIW 

Helpline at helpline@aauw.org or 800/326-AAUW (2289) 
to locate a branch in your area . 

Please allow 4-6 weeks for receipt of your new 
member packet. 

A:\UW docs not share e-mail addresses with third parties. 

D Occasionally AAUWs membership lis t is available to 
carefull y screened companies and organizations. Check 
here ir you do not want you r name included on the li st. 

Join on line at www.aauw.org or use this form. 

Personal Information 

Name 
O Mrs . O Miss o Ms. o Mr. O Dr. 

Stree t ______________________ _ 

C ity _____ ____ Stale ZIP 

Ph o ne (H) ( __ ) - - - - -------- --

(W) ( __ ) _ _ _________ ~ 

Fax( ___ ) ______________ _ 

E-mail address --------------------

College/universi ty -------------------

State 

Degree earned/sou ght - - ---------- --- -­

Year graduated/anticipated graduatio n 

Gender l.J Female U Male 

l wish to join as an 

0 AAUW Member-at-Large ($47) M07MBTPG11 

0 AAUW Student Affiliate ($17) M07MBTPG 11 

Tota l Enclosed $ _____ _ 

Payment Information 

U C heck or m o ney orde r payab le to AAUW 

U Credit card 

0 ~. VISA :1 0 

Card#_ 

Expira lion date ________ ___________ _ 

Nam e on card _________ ____ _______ _ 

Signa ture 

Tod ay's date 

C redit card billing address 0 Sam e as above 

Name 

Stree t ___ __________________ __ _ 

City _________ State ZIP 

Mail completed membership application to 
American Association of University Women 
P.O. Box 96974 
Washington, DC 20077-7022 



We Need Your Help 
Because Equity Is Still an Issue 

Founded in 1881, the American Association of University 

Women has championed the rights of women and girls in 

education and the workplace for more than 125 years. 

Hundreds of thousands of women and men have con­

tributed their time and financial resources to help provide 

educational opportunities for women and girls through the 

AAUW Educational Foundation, which advances gender 

equity in education and the workplace through fellow­

ships, research , and advocacy. 

Today, our message remains as true as ever: Education 

helps women and gi rls, their families, and society. \Xi'ith 

more than 100,000 members, 1.300 branches, and 500 

college and university partners, AAUW provides a power­

ful voice for women and girls-in Washington, D.C., our 

state capitals, and our communities. 

AAUW's work would not be possible wi thout generous 

contributions from people who share its commitment to 

education, passion for equity, and unwavering belief that 

women are an instrumental part of leadership, change, and 

growth. \Xi'ith ynm support, t.he Educational Foundation 

can continue its research and scho larship on issues of 

importance to women and gir.ls. 

We need your help. Please give today! 

0 Yes! l want t•.• contri1,utc 1·0 educarion:·:l ,rnd tC(•nornic opponunit:ics f.11 w;-rn<::n Jnd girls. 

Please accept my contribution of 0 $250 0 $100 0 $50 0 $35 0 Other (specify __ _ 

City _____________________ _ State _______ _ ZIP ____ _ 

Daytime telephone------------------------------------­

E-mail address------------------------------------

P;;yrnc: lt me the )d 

0 Check or money o rder payable to the AAUW Educational Foundation 

0 Credit card (check one) : 0 MasterCard 0 VISA 

Card no. 

Exp. date ________________ _ Today's date ________________ _ 

~ameoncard ----------------------------------------

Billing address D Same as above 

Address-----------------------------------------

Ci ty_~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~- State. _______ _ 

Fax your corr.plcrcd forrn 1n 202/4().) 71(lC) (credit card [''1y1rn:nts on1y~' or mail .it TO 

AAUW D evelopment Office, 1111 Sixteenth St. N.W., Washing ton, DC 20036 

ZIP ____ _ 

To learn more about A.l\.U\'V' or to make contributions on the web, visit www.aauw.org. 

The AAUW EJucationaJ Foundation is a 501 (c)(3) corporation. Gifts are tax-deductible to the extent allowed by law. 





2005-07 AAUW Educational Foundation Board of Directors 

Barbara O'Connor, President 
Sally Little, Finance Vice President 

Sally Chamberlain, Program Vice President 
J udy Horan, Development Vice President 

Joanne Stern, Secretary 
Faye D ykstra 

Linda Silakoski 

Jeaneane St. John 
Neola Waller 

Jennifer Wilken 

Ex Officio 

Ruth Sweetser, AAUW President 
Eleanor "Coco" Siewert, Parliamentarian 

!vlichele Warholic Wetherald, AAUW Executi ve Director 

Behind the Pay Gap Project Staff 

AAUW Educational Foundation 
Catherine Hill , D irector o f Research 

Judy Goldberg Dey, Economic Consulrant 
Christi Corbett, Research Associate 

AAUW Communications Department 
D. Ash ley Carr, D irector 

Alan B. Call ander, Senior Graphic D esigner 
Susan K. Dyer, Senior Editor 

Rebecca Leaf, Senior Media Relations Associate 

AAUW advances equi ty fo r women and girls through advocacy, education , and research. In principle and in prac tice, 
the AAUW Educational Foundation values and supports diversiry. There shall be no barriers to full participation in this 

o rgan ization on the basis of gender, race, creed, age, sexual orientation, national origin, disabili ty, or class. 



I , 

AAUW 
EDUCATIONAL 

FOUNDATION 

1111 Sixteenth St. N.W. 
Washington, DC 20036 
Phone: 20217135-7700 
Fax: 202/463-7169 
TDD: 202f785~7777 
E-mail: foundation@aauw.org 
web: www.aauw.org 



To the North Dakota Legislature, 

I request for the people of North Dakota to take a deeper look at the wage gap that exists in the 
North Dakota. We as a state has an obligation to take care of all our workers, 

My name is Jonnie Cassens and I'm a female truck driver. I've driven for 11 years, 3 of them in 
the Bakken. I've experienced a lot of sex discrimination. 

In job interviews I'm repeatedly told "our company doesn' t cater to females" . I am not asking to 
be catered to I just want an equal opportunity. I was denied housing (the biggest expense in the 
Bakken) because I was a woman. They didn' t allow females in their housing. I said "fine, what 
about a per diem I could use for finding myself housing and meals." I was told "no." 

In another case, I was personally told that "there has never been a female hired onto this 
company and it's because you' re a distraction on job sites." Why am I the problem? The sexual 
harassers should be the problem. 

Another friend of mine joined me in looking for work. She's a single mother raising a young 
daughter. She worked for a larger company trucking fleet in North Dakota. She was hired to do 
accounting. Her pay is half what another man half a thin wall behind her is paid for the same 
position. 

As a single mother, and there are many in ND, she can barely pay for child care and housing. At 
the end of the month there is nothing left. She knows women and children in dangerous 
situations because they lack housing and childcare. 

Equal pay matters. It would bring better conditions for our children and more economic 
independence for everyone. 

I encourage the North Dakota Legislature to take a deeper look into the issue. Even small 
adjustments would lead to healthier and more respectful lives for women in this great State of 
North Dakota. 

Jonnie Cassens 
701-400-4361 
jonniecassens(wgmail.com 
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Mr. Chairman , Members of the Committee: 

My name is Ellen Chaffee. I live in Bismarck and worked for the State of North 
Dakota in the university system for 31 years, 1969-1977 and 1985 through 2008. 
I urge your support for House Bills 1257, 1293, and 1294. 

I am grateful for the leadership opportunities the State of North Dakota afforded 
me and , like so many others in service to the State, I worked long and hard to 
fulfill that trust. In all of my roles, over all of those years, I encountered and 
experienced practices that treated women unfairly relative to men. Many times, 
an equitable salary for a single mother would enable her to further her education 
or care for her children instead of taking a second job. It would lift a struggling 
two-income family into warmer, safer vehicles and living quarters. And in 
leadership positions, an equitable salary would recognize the very same qualities 
it recognizes in men and put her on a more level playing field as an advocate for 
her organization. All of these benefits to women circle back and become benefits 
to the employer as well in the form of retention and recruitment success. 

It is still true that a man who asks about his salary is seen as ambitious and self­
confident, while a woman is seen as - well , in less flattering ways. Moreover, the 
man is more likely to get the raise even when she does ask. That is one of the 
reasons I led two independent universities 75 miles apart for nine years for the 
same salary I would have made for serving just one of them . Some matters are 
cultural and cannot be addressed directly by law. What we can do, however, is 
create supportive conditions for both women and men to advance the cause of 
pay equity. These bills help do that, and I urge your support. 

Thank you. 



~----

Good Morning. For the record, my name is Nick Archuleta and I am the President of 
North Dakota United. My organization represents some 10,000 K-12, HE, and Public 
Employees. 

On behalf of those members, I stand today in support ofHB 257. 

Equal pay for equal work, has been an immutable principle in education. As all K-12 
teachers in North Dakota perform their duties under a collectively bargained 
agreement, all teachers are paid based on where they fall on a salary schedule, 
regardless of gender. 

All workers in North Dakota should enjoy that same right. But they don't. Many of 
the women who send their kids to our schools are single parents. My mother was a 
single parent of 7 kids for much of my life. Being the sole breadwinner in one's 
family is hard enough but knowing that you are making less money than a colleague 
because you're a woman makes it even harder. 

Finally in 2015 it' s time to let women know that they will receive equal pay for equal 
work. 

- North Dakotans work hard and every North Dakota woman should be rewarded 
equally for that work. 

- There is no basis, no rationale, which justifies unequal pay. 

- The only way that we can achieve equal pay is if the government makes a law to ban 
this practice. The marketplace has, thus far, been unable or unwilling to remedy this 
injustice. 

This committee has a chance to make a difference for our wives, mothers, daughters 
and sisters. Please give HB 1257 a do pass recommendation. 

Thank you. I'll stand for any questions. 
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January 21, 2015 

NORTH DAKOTA 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
COALITION 

N.D. House Industry, Business, and Labor Committee 
Subject: Equal Pay 
TJ Jerke 

Mr. Chairman, and members of the Industry, Business, and Labor 
Committee, My name is TJ Jerke. I am here on behalf of the North Dakota 
Human Rights Coalition. 

The North Dakota Human Rights Coalition is a broad-based coalition of 
individuals and organizations around North Dakota. Since 2002, the 
Coalition has been passionately working to effect change so that all 
people in North Dakota enjoy full human rights. We do this through 
information, education and legislative action. The Coalition deeply 
values mutual respect for all people, seeking a common good without 
denying individual rights, and proactively promoting social and 
economic justice. 

The North Dakota Human Rights Coalition is in support of legislation 
that will work to diminish the gender pay gap in our state. Recognizing 
that House Bills 1257, 1293 and 1294, alone will not eliminate this pay 
inequity, it will send a strong message that "North Dakota is open for 
business" and seeks to provide an attractive work environment for ALL 
workers while giving them the respect they deserve. 

Please, join the Coalition's mission and help effect change so that all 
people in North Dakota enjoy full human rights. Give these bills a 
favorable consideration. 
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Good Morning Committee Chairman Keiser and members of the House Industry, 
Business and Labor committee. 

For the record my name is Tom Ricker, I am the President of the North Dakota 

AFL-CIO, representing working men and women in North Dakota. 

I would like to start by thanking Representative Oversen for introducing this 

important legislation . 

The North Dakota AFL-CIO is 100% in support of this package of Equal Pay 

legislation . While union employees are contractually guaranteed equal pay for 

equal work, regardless of gender, the majority of North Dakota's working women 

do not labor under this basic guarantee. 

According to research published earlier this year by the National Women's Law 

Center, North Dakota women are paid just 70.2% of what men are paid, well 

below the national average of 78.3%. The research found that North Dakota 

ranked 47th in pay equity. For perspective, Utah, West Virginia and Wyoming all 

rank higher than North Dakota in regard to pay equity. 

Workers produce a product or provide a service to their employer that is of value 

to the employer. The value of that product or service is the same to the employer 

whether it is produced by a man or a woman. The cost to the customer is the 

same, so why shouldn't the pay to the employee be the same? 

According to the 2013 United States Census Bureau, women account for 48.9% of 

all North Dakotans and 46 .1% of North Dakota workers are women. This 
legislation would positively impact nearly Yi of all North Dakota workers, 
particularly the 23,464 North Dakota households that are headed by women . 

Personally I don't like to think of North Dakota women as a statistic though . I 
prefer to think of these women as our mothers, our daughters and our sisters 
who deserve to be treated equally in the workplace, especially with respect to 

wages and benefits. 

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to speak in support of HB 1257, 1293 
and 1294. I would encourage you all to vote yes to recommend a do pass on HB 

I 
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1257, 1293 and 1294 and send a strong, unified message to your colleagues in the 
House that you support all working women in North Dakota. 

I will stand for any questions . 



Higher State Minimum Wages Promote Fair Pay for Women 

Wo1i en work,ng (ult twie. year round l:;picaliy mrii<.e only' 78 percent of 1->h1;• the1' male counte·pwts make­
lo.lcv ng o ,,1qe gop of 22 cents on the do!tar: One reason fir ttHs .vage gap 1s that v'tO!llen a e co,1centrated 1n lo•~·­

wage tabs. t'.Ao-th1rds of minimum v:age wo1'kers as we!/ as tNo- tfJ1rds cf 1-vorl ers £n ttpped O(CUpat/ons are women 
Ra jing the rhn11 11u•n v. age 1-vo lrf help close th•s gai: by ,ncrea,i ~9 .vaqes for 1-''0fkers at the bottom of the 

spel '' .l'il Raising the minimum wage and the tipped minimum wage are important steps towards fair pay 
fo r women-especially women of color. 

State Women's Earnings/ Wage Gap Minimum 
Men's Earnings Wage 

New York 85.8% 14.2% $7.25 

Maryland 85.5% 14.5% $7.25 
I , 

$ 

Hawaii 83.3% 16.7% $7.25 

North Carolina 82.8% 17.2% S7.25 

States with higher-than-federal minimum 
wages also have smaller wage gaps. 

The a~erage ""'9" gap 1r s a•es w th a IT'! n .in 

wage a: or above $8 00 tl7 7 cents) s 22 percent 
Sr1alle• t"a"l the a 1e ·age w::.ge gap ,r sta'.e" with a 

$7 25 m n n ~ wa~:e (22 7 c-:·vs)' 

• [.1 2013 s1" of m~ te'"I st.ates~-. th the na 1·ro;,est wagt 
gaps ha j rr1··1 rnyr v.a;ies abo.e tre federal le,1el o' 

<; 7 25 per how Among t e ten stat~s wi th the v,tdest 
wage ga;JS 'Y11 1 one rad a min n1um wage above 
$725 

State Women's Earnings/ Wage Gap Minimum 
Men"s Earnings Wage 

Louisiana 65.9% 34.1% $7.25 

Wyoming 69.3% 30.7% $7.25 

West Virginia 69.4% 30.6% $7.25 

Utah 69.9% 30.1% $7.25 

North Dakota 70.2% 29.8% S72 5 

Indiana 73.8% 262% $7.25 

Nebraska 74.1% 25.9% $725 

Oklahoma 74.9% 25.1% $7.25 

South Dakota 751% 24.9% $7.25 

Notes Earntngs ratios and wage gaps a re NWLC calculations are based on the 2. .. r.- ·· w "'·""' ·• 1 , :•· •! e mo,; •'~·v dJ!oJ a :a1 t:ible. For comparabtltty 
2013 mtnimum wages are listed (see US Department o f Labor, Wag e and Hour Division, Mtnimum Wage Laws in the States \-bang ~·; 1r ~.l<•c ~.i1n1murn "Mi'' 1 jl', 
~) Since 20 l3 a number of states have enacted legisla tion to raise the mtnimum wage (see NWLC's resource Women and the Minimum Wage, Sta e by State 
fo r the current status of each state, available ar rT.; ... '· .. ·, .k • "". e,, .. r "· , .re·c 1 .• ~ r: t, 1 ,.· , · , s 1i" .;- ' e) 
' Nevada's minimum wage in 2013 was $7 25 if the employer provided heal th insurance. In Montana the mtntmum wage fo r businesses with gross annual sa les of 
Sll0,000 or less was S7 25 per hour 

<( www~v,,!c.0·9 
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Minimum wage workers are 
disproportionately women, particularly 
women of color. 

'Nu""' en ' a~;e up abo • t •• ..rth rcls o' c:'! •'10"k· ' S ,. "O 

"'"'"e p1 . 1~1 r .. rr,J'ii 11·~e o less 1 ~ 2013 3 ~d 60 
percen: ot full-t1r1e m n ~ ir111t.a9e >10ri<.::rs - Won1e,­

•,1,we also t·. J· t"'1rds c» ,;.,o·k-:·s in t pped occupation, 
I I 2013' 

IA)~ e .. "' co1 1r a·e d spr''p:;nnratel; 1e~1-eser, : e'i 

a 101 9 rr ,.,,"1v.,-1 wage 'AO'i<e•s Twenty·t·NO 

percent c/ r-11" -nJrr1 wi:1ge >'1orkers are •V0•11en of 

color cor1:0 ed to less t ~21' 16 per er: of wo1 ~ ers 
o .era!, 

Ir .::v"'ry ,. 1:e wo-ren a . .,, atJout ha" or n c:;re o ' t 1e 
1NcYk<:r~ n C!K 19 a: or belov the states 111111 1m rn 
•Aag · lr1 25 s1·,,tes 1110•-Pe" r:-:p esen · n1or0 tlia,.,, six 
"te11 of the \'i'.J'ker~ 1r.a~ ''.) a t or bel0\'1 :he sta•e 

n'.1 1'llu· ,-,age incl.Jc. ns f.:iu1 states \1.h"re v;nn1t::r 

'<:p'es--rt 1T'•Ye tha 1se1er 1r ter, o' tl1e wo ·kers 

rr.a:<1 g at •Jr belo,\ t le stak rniq• 11• rn wage; 

Raising the minimum and tipped minimum 
wages would help close the wage gap. 

[' 2013 ,, .Jli ~·1 v.o·i.,,r ~; f Ji!: •Tle ye:;;.· ruvh •.e ,, 

typ1c.::11!y pc11r1 78 ce . 1t~ b· eve y ''uliar pi1:d t•) tfw·• 
ri :.le co·,•1krnart' T•·1-> .. •,cige gap \\dS E"v2 1 Li gcr· f '' 

f •I' 1'E: ,.,_, ,r I tj:) r:a1ly ·r ,de only 64 cents ;nd 
~ 5.)ilr r ,, : .e ' (. I I SS Certs fry e ery do!1a pa c! 
to ' e • . • e r ~ - ri 5P2' c rn.11-> coc. 11t2,.pa·ts 

6 1 I ·•11'g "'3ges f_::,, t''"' l::h1es•-pa1d v.c k.ers w"ile 

1e:: ·19 v«a'=-es urchi:1r1ged for tnose a· tre to; ra·51·19 
r> 2 Pl-,·<~ 1m V'13 e V.)Uld l1k,;>ly n::irrow the range O' 

.... g-:>s p.:i cl t·.: .-.orkers a:ross tne eco1'orr;--and 
l:1e,..a .. s0 -,1;r,r e· a E tn:: PlaJonty of \'1c1kers vvh0 
,,, o ,'j S"e tre1 i)ay go 1 1:J the '-"'age ga;::i ,•,o.)c. 
narro,.., a~ v.ell. 

• f!'e WI ·e Ho~se C0!..:•1eil o• Er:o'1orr 1c Ad ;:se ·s 

p·q_ ns t1 ~· ra·s ·19 tre ·1w· i-.urr1 vvagt"· to $1010 
a•1' 1 1:KI.:' :-g 1-:. tr; irif at1on co .l·i cbse tr1e '/,age. £2P 
,)J f1ve percen : 

Ras ·1y He rn1n m.Jn1 wage v11oulcl b·::' especially 
! 1elpfl;I f J ,10 ·ne• 1 of col.::>r 1;J'"J e..;pen° Ke \.Yde 
1,,::ige 93ps and c:;re ci.spropclrt. >'latE:I; repr2~ente(J 
2·~- '"J~g r,1 i: 11 v:a9e e;.l,·ners. 

[• 15 '!!l!Cdi tC' ra ::,P tile t1 ppe'i (1 \ '11.;f~ v;agc: alorg 

.:., t U'e r1 r1r;11~m1 11vage Vv'he1 t·ps fa' 1 sho'l o tr~ 

111. 1 •~,11· ,.ag' e1rplo1 e:~s a e supp0sed to 'Pdl.-e ur, 
th, d1''e :•r1 b 1t o't""l fa I•~. c'o s.., • R;:; s ·'g t11 

t1v-:.:d r ·1 J"I \';~·~''" 0 I j "''1)U ·p 2 rnore· stabl-
a·'d a it>q .I 1:0 b,1se for a loN pa•ci a Gel rr·>dnr.,...1"il'1tl/ 
fe~na!e w•1rkf .:rec 

1 NWLC, The Wage Gap is Stagnant For Nearly A Decade (Sept. 2014). available at 1:::;.. ""'"' ?'• ~c.:v -~ .,;t:J!;.c#..- ' >.:J ,,i.n ;~J• 1 · ·,,;';. ,,-<;:. 
2 NWLC. Fair Pay for Women Requires Increasing the Minimum Wage and Tipped Minimum Wage (Sept 2014) available or 
I~"" f ...... - . ..J .~ . 1;::;!_."h .. __ •.J.. ~ ..!.--·.;' I n .• , JJ ...., .~,·~(....-I r ' .:- . .: ~ ' J.e ~ m .l·,.L.: "M inimum wage workers" refers to workers 

making the minimum wage or less 

3 Sylvia A. Allegretto & David Coope1. Econ. Po licy Inst & Ctr on Wage & Employment Dynam1Cs, Ur1v of Ca , Berkeley, Twenty-Three Years and Stil l Waiting for 

Change. at 3 (July 2014). available at '.::!l'--";;;!..ePJ,"<.!D).~"..1!.!11'..;.U:C\\E(;J,;!:'..i.' .cvlt. 
4 NWLC calculation assuming 40 hours per week, 50 weeks per year at $7 25 per hour US Census Bureau. Poverty Thresholds fo1 2013 

".;·;;-._ _,_,·. "°"' J:.~·- ~k>'.~.:.i.Jh ,r.j.j. n11 ~v tt·"I (last visited Sept 24. 2014) 
5 Thi s average wage gap in all states with minimum wages above $7 2S per hour (19 3 cents) 1s also smaller than the average wage gap 1n states with minimum 
wages of $7 25 NWLC calculations of state wage gaps based on US Census Bureau. 2013 American Community Survey. Tables R2001 and R2002. available or 

Ci.L --~··~·;:_ '·J' .;;; "' US Department of Labor, Wage and Hour D1v1s1on, Changes in BaslC Minimum Wages in Non-Farm Employment Under State 
Law Selected years 1968 to 2014. available or '.i~,L = ,_,,,.·I <;J: ·,_,_!i_ J...:J...c .•• ,,,,.,l·'·P_,\ol;i'~·. ;_1.:.::i.::1 (last visi ted Sept 27, 2014) DC 1s considered a state for the 

purposes of thi s comparison 

6 Id 

7 NWLC. Fau Pay for Women, supra note 2 This 1s true for both those 16 and olde1 (62 percent) and 2S and older (64 percent). 

B Id 

91d 
10 NWLC calculations based on unpublished US Department of Labor. Bureau of Labor Stat1st1Cs da a for all wage and sa lary workers. Figures are annual averages 

for 2013 Avai lab le data do not permit a precise ca lculation of the percentage of women making the state minimum wage 1n all states due to the increments by 

which wages are reported Estimates are based on the share of workers who are women at or below the reported wage levels immediately above and below the 

relevant states minimum wage For more information see NWLC, Women and the M1n1mum Wage, State by State. 

IJ.Ll,._L. _ . J -, • .,,· • , ,•,~1.-J .. ~, o .. ~~ s ;t- -1•0·· (last visited Sept. 26. 2014) 

11 NWLC, The Wage Gap is Stagnant For Nearly A Decade, supra note l 
12 A highe1 minimum wage generally wou ld narrow the wage distribution. effectively narrowing the wage gap Nicole M Fortin & Thomas Le 1eux, Inst1tut1onal 

Changes and Rising Inequality, Journal of Economic Perspectives, Spring 1997, 75-96. at 78, available at tt;c .,., ·' ,', · ;ta.,-~- See also FranC1ne D 

Bia & Lawrence M Kahn, Swimming Upstream, Journal of Labor Economics. Jan 1997, 1-42 at 28. available or ..J.J.._ ~..i: ""·" ~.::~l 
13 The White House. The Impact of Raising the Minimum Wage on Women. at 2 (Mar. 2014). available or 

14 Id 
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Paycheck Fairness Act Coalition 

Ne"' Polling Data Shows Voters Overwhelminglv Support the Paycheck Fairness Act 

In a nationwide poll of registered voters. 84% said they support "a new law that would provide 
women more tools to get fa ir pay in the workplace." When respondents were told that the " law 
will also make it harder for employers to justify paying different wages for the same work and 
en ure that businesses that break the law compensate women fairly ," 72% stronglv support 
such a law. 1 

Overall Support and Strongly Support 

100 ...-----------------------~ 
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Support Strongly Support 

For a Ii ting of the over 80 state and national organi=ations that are members of Paycheck 
Fairness Action Coalition go to 
http://11·11'w.nwlc.orglpdfiSignOnSenatePavcheckFairne s2009.pd[ 



Members of All Political Parties Strongly Support Improving our Equal Pay Laws: 
91 % of Democrats, 77% of Republicans and 87% of Independents upport the new law. 
83% of Democrat , 61 % of Republicans and 70% of Independents stronglv support the new law. 
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Women and Men Strongly Support Improving our Equal Pay Laws: 
87% of women and 81 % of men support the new law. 
74% of women and 69% of men strongly support the new law. 

• Democrats 

• Republicans 

•Independents 
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Member of all Racial and ELhnic Groups SLrongly upport Improving our Equal Pay Laws: 
82% of Blacks, 84% of Hispanics and 86% of Whites support the new law. 
74% of Blacks, 74% of Hi panic and 73% of Whites stron2ly support the new law. 
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Voters in All Geographic Regions SLrongly Support Improving our Equal Pay Law : 
84% of the Northeast, 86% of the Midwest, 84% of the outh and 80% of the West support the 
new law. 73% of the Northea t, 71% of the Midwest, 73% of the South and 69% of the West 
troogly upport the new law. 
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To Protect Families' Economic Security, 
the Senate Needs to Pas the Paycheck Fairoes Act 

ln 2008, women working full -time, year-round were paid only about 77 cents for every dollar 
paid to men. African-American women were paid only 61 cents, and Latinas only 52 cents, for 
every dollar paid to by white, non-Hispanic men.2 

The pay gap translates into $10,622 a year3 or $431,000 over a woman·s lifetime of lost 
• 4 

earnings. 

Women are responsible for the economic security of their families . Nearly four in ten mothers 
("9.3%) are primary breadwinners, bringing home the majority of the family's earnings, and 
nearly two-thirds (62.8%) are breadwinners or co-breadwinners, bringing home at least a quarter 
of the family's eamings.5 

Women and the families that depend upon them deserve fair pay. The Paycheck Fairness Act 
( 182) has already passed the House and ha 40 co-sponsors in the enate. It i time to pass the 

Paycheck Fairness Act! 

Questions on the poll? Contact Sharyn Tejani, National Partnership for Women and Families, 
202. 986. 2600, stejani@nationalpartnership.org. 

1 The poll was conducted from May 21-24, 20 I 0 by Lake Research Parm rs. A nation-wide sample of 932 
registered voters was asked the following question: 

Congress is considering a new law that would provide women more tools to get fair pay in the workplace . 
The law will also make it harder for employers to justify paying different wages for the same work and 
ensure that businesses that break the law compensate women fairly . 

Would you support or oppose such a law? 
(IF SUPPORT/OPPOSE) Is that STRO GLY (support) (oppose) or OT- 0- TRO GLY 
(support) (oppose)? 

" U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Survey, 2009 Annual Social and Economic Supplement, Table PlNC-05 : 
Work Experience in 2008 - People 15 Years Old and Over by Total Money Earnings in 2008, Age, Race, Hispanic 
Origin, and Sex, available at http:/1www.censu .gov/hhe www/cp table 032009/perinc/newOS 000.htm (last visited 

January 14, 2010). 
1 acional Women's Law Center, ··women's Lower Wages Worsen their Circumstances in a Difficult Economy," 
(April 2010) amilable at http://www.nwlc.om:/pdf/lowerwage hurtwomen.pdf (last visited June 3, 20 I 0) . 
~ Heather Boushey, "'Familie Can't Afford the Gender Wage Gap," Center for American Progress (April 2010), 
available at http://www.americanprogres .oro issue 2010/04/pdi/egual pa dav .pdf (last visited June 3, 2010). 
5 Heather Boushey. ·The ew Breadwinners." in The Shriver Report: A Women's ation Changes Evervthing, 
available at htto: 'lwww.americanprogress.oro is ue 12009/ 10/womans nation .html/#breadwinners (last visited April 

13. 2010) . 



Real Possibilities in 

North Dakota 
House Bills 1257 and 1293 - SUPPORT 

January 21, 2015 
House Industry, Business and Labor Committee 

Josh Askvig - AARP North Dakota 
jaskvig@aarp.org or 701-989-0129 

Chairman Keiser and members of the House Industry, Business and Labor 

Committee, I am Josh Askvig , Associate State Director of Advocacy for AARP North 

Dakota. We rise in support of the package of gender equity bills before you today 

(House Bills 1257 and 1293). 

Dr. Ethel Percy Andrus, a retired educator and AARP's founder, became an activist 

in the 1940s when she found a retired teacher living in a chicken coop because she 

could afford nothing else. Dr. Andrus couldn't ignore the need for health and 

financial security in America and set the wheels in motion for what would become 

AARP. We are a nonprofit, nonpartisan membership organization with 85,000 

members in North Dakota and 38 million nationwide. We understand the priorities 

and dreams of people 50-plus and are committed to helping them live life to the 

fullest, including here in North Dakota. 

The two bills you are hearing this morning are aimed at addressing and closing 

some important pay equity concerns on the basis of gender. AARP policy 

" .. . supports efforts to eliminate all barriers to women's employment and ensure 

equality in employment opportunities, pay, and benefits." Occupational segregation 

by sex and pay inequity among workers lead to less retirement income for women. 

Pay equity is key to enhancing women's wages and retirement income. 

Mr. Chairman, thank you for your time and we urge this committee to support these 

two bills. 



Testimony of Andy Peterson 
Greater North Dakota Chamber of Commerce 

HB 257 
January 21, 2015 

G 
Greater North Dakota Chamber 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Andy Peterson; I am the President 
and CEO of the Greater North Dakota Chamber. GNDC is working on behalf of our more than 
1, 100 members, to build the strongest business environment in North Dakota. GNDC also 
represents the National Association of Manufacturers and works closely with the U.S. Chamber 
of Commerce. As a group we stand in support of the theory behind House Bill 1254, but we 
ultimately oppose this piece of legislation as written. 

The Greater North Dakota Chamber supports equal pay for equal work between the sexes. Over 
the last fifty years, as a nation we've embraced the idea of equality and take steps each and every 
day to ensure all people are treated equally under the law. This bill seeks to codify that 
philosophy and put our stamp on equality policy. That being said, we have found a number of 
issues with this bill that we would like to draw your attention to. 

First and most concerning is this bill makes litigation much easier. Litigation should never be 
hard. People should always be able to have access to the court to solve any issues that cannot be 
resolved outside of a courthouse. This bill , however, swings too far in the opposite direction and 
makes litigation the easiest possibility for any person upset with their compensation or with some 
perceived grievance. At the end of the day, the real winners of this bill are the attorneys. 

Additionally, the burden shift referenced on page 3, lines 21-26 is a huge issue. This section 
says that if the employee can show that he or she is not being paid the same amount as an 
employee doing comparable work on jobs that have comparable requirement, the burden shifts to 
the employer to prove that the difference is not sex based and to prove it with a preponderance of 
the evidence. This puts business owners in a precarious position. There are an infinite amount 
of reasons why two employees may be paid differently. Those reasons may or may not be 
acceptable to the employee, but that does not give the employee the right to waste company time 
and resources defending their compensation decisions. 

The Greater North Dakota Chamber supports the idea of gender equality in the workplace. This 
bill is a valiant effort toward that goal. Until these issues are addressed, and this bill is changed 
to protect the employer from frivolous lawsuits, we have to ask for a do not pass 
recommendation on HB 1257. 

Thank you and I will now entertain any questions. 

Champions ~~ Business 

PO Box 2639 P: 701-222-0929 
Bismarck, ND 58502 F: 701-222-1611 

www.ndchamber.com 
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State Capitol 
600 E. Boulevard Ave . - Dept. 406 

Bismarck , ND 58505-0340 

www.nd .gov/labor 

www.nd.gov/human rights DEPARTMENT OF LABOR 
-------AND HUMAN RIGHTS-------

Testimony on HB 125-7 
Prepared for the 

House Industry, Business and Labor Committee 

anuary 21, 2015 

Good morning Chairman Keiser and members of the Industry, Business and 
Labor Committee, my name is Troy Seibel , and I am the Commissioner of Labor. 
I appear before you today neutral on HB 1257. I am here to provide information 
about the current statutes regarding equal pay for men and women and how HB 
1257 alters these statutes and its impact on the Department of Labor and Human 
Rights . 

N.D.C.C. ch. 34-06.1 

North Dakota's Equal Pay for Men and Women Act is codified at N.D.C.C. ch. 34-
06.1. This chapter prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender by paying 
wages to any employee in any occupation in this state at a rate less than the rate 
at which the employer pays any employee of the opposite gender for comparable 
work on jobs which have comparable requirements relating to skill , effort, and 
responsibility. The chapter is carried out by the Labor Commissioner, who has 
the power to : 1) inspect payroll records with a court order or with the consent of 
an employer, 2) examine witnesses under oath and require the production of 
certain documents, 3) eliminate unlawful pay practices by informal methods of 
conciliation and persuasion , and 4) issue regulations as necessary to carry out 
the chapter. The Commissioner is also able to bring legal action in district court 
at the request of an employee who claims the chapter has been violated . The 
Commissioner does not have the power to receive formal complaints from 
employees, conduct administrative investigations, or issue a formal determination 
that the chapter has been violated . 

Federal Equal Pay Act of 1963 (29 U.S.C. § 206) 

The Department has entered into a work-sharing agreement with the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC). The EEOC is the federal agency 
charged with enforcing the Equal Pay Act of 1963, a federal statute that is similar 
to North Dakota's Equal Pay for Men and Women Act. Under this work-sharing 
agreement, the Department and EEOC routinely ask one another to investigate 
charges of discrimination issued under federal law. At this time the Department 
asks the EEOC to investigate all equal pay complaints it receives , as the 

Telephone : (701) 328-2660 ND Toll Free : 1-800-582-8032 Fax : (701) 328-2031 TTY: 1-800-366-6888 
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Department does not have authority to conduct such investigations under state 
law. 

Equal Pay vs. Discrimination Complaints 

I would like to discuss the difference between a complaint under an equal pay 
statute vs. a complaint made under the various discrimination statutes. 
Specifically, it is important to point out that many complaints received by the 
Department regarding disparate pay based upon gender are currently lodged 
under the North Dakota Human Rights Act (N .D.C.C. ch . 14-02.4) and Title VII 
(42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq.) and subsequently investigated by the Department. 
How the complaint is received by the Department will determine whether it is 
viewed as a discrimination complaint or an equal pay complaint. 

For example, if an employee files a complaint with the Department alleging all 
female employees at XYZ, Inc. are paid less than their male counterparts , the 
Department will treat the complaint as one being made under the North Dakota 
Equal Pay for Men and Women Act and the Equal Pay Act of 1963 and refer the 
complainant to the EEOC. However, if an employee files a complaint with the 
Department alleging she is paid less than her male co-workers because she is 
female, the Department will treat the complaint as one being made under the 
North Dakota Human Rights Act and, if applicable, Title VII, as discrimination 
based upon gender in the terms and conditions of her employment. The vast 
majority of complaints received by the Department are of the latter type. Again , 
these are filed as employment discrimination complaints under the North Dakota 
Human Rights Act and , if appropriate, Title VII , investigated by the Department, 
and a formal determination is issued . 

HB 1257 and its Impacts 

HB 1257 would make significant changes to N.D.C.C. ch . 34-06.1. Among 
several changes, the bill would now require the Department to receive 
administrative complaints alleging the North Dakota Equal Pay for Men and 
Women Act was violated , investigate these complaints, and issue 
determinations. These types of investigations are very resource intense. They 
require a complete examination of an employer's payroll and employment 
records to determine if a pattern of unequal pay based upon gender exists. In 
addition , they typically involve class-action lawsuits for enforcement. The 
Department's current staffing and budget levels do not provide sufficient 
resources to conduct investigations of this type. 

A fiscal note was not requested on this bill. However, if HB 1257 passes, the 
Department will be required to request additional funds to carry out its 
requirements under the chapter. The EEOC has the resources available to carry 
out these large-scale investigations. Further, the Department's work-sharing 
agreement with the EEOC currently provides that the EEOC will undertake these 
types of investigations for the Department. I would also point out that between 
the North Dakota Equal Pay for Men and Women Act, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, 

2 



the North Dakota Human Rights Act, and Title Vil , current law provides 
numerous protections against unlawful discrimination in the workplace in the form 
of unequal pay based on gender. 

Thank you and I'd be happy to answer any questions you may have. 

3 
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Bismarck , ND 58505-0340 

www.nd.gov/ labor 

www.nd .gov/humanrights DEPARTMENT OF LABOR 
-------AND HUMAN RIGHTS-------

Testimony on HB 1257 
Prepared for the 

House Industry, Business and Labor Subcommittee 

January 26, 2015 

Good afternoon Chairman Sukut and members of the subcommittee on HB 1257, 
my name is Troy Seibel, and I am the Commissioner of Labor. As requested by 
this subcommittee, I have reviewed the Department's records regarding 
allegations of unequal pay on the basis of gender and offer the following 
statistical information to aid the subcommittee. 

Alleged Violations of Equal Pay Act Investigated by the EEOC 

As I have previously mentioned the Department routinely refers any allegations 
of violations of the Equal Pay Act to the EEOC. The EEOC has conducted the 
following number of investigations of allegations of violations of the Equal Pay 
Act in North Dakota: 

FY 2009 - 0 
FY2010-0 
FY 2011 - 3 

FY2012-0 
FY 2013 - 1 

Basis of Charges of Discrimination under the Human Rights Act or Title VII 

Many complaints received by the Department regarding unequal pay based upon 
gender are currently lodged under the Human Rights Act and Title VII and 
investigated by the Department. As requested by this subcommittee, I reviewed 
the factual allegations behind the cases closed by the Department on the basis of 
sex/gender for 2014. The Department closed a total of 48 cases of 
discrimination based upon sex in 2014. For reference, the Department closed a 
total of 150 discrimination cases of all types in 2014. 

Of these 48 cases, 6 were at least partly based on an allegation of unequal pay 
on the basis of gender. Of these 6 cases, the Department referred 1 to the 
EEOC (which found no merit to the claim) , 1 was settled before we issued a 
determination , and the remaining 4 cases were investigated by the Department. 
Following an investigation in these 4 cases, the Department found all were 
without merit. Interestingly, one of these cases investigated by the Department 
was made by a male employee alleging he received less pay than female co­
workers for the same work. 

Thank you and I'd be happy to answer any questions you may have. 

Telephone : (701) 328-2660 ND Toll Free : 1-800-582-8032 Fax : (701) 328-2031 TTY: 1-800-366-6888 
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Testimony 
HB Bill 1257 1294 

House Industry, Business, & Labor Committee 
January 26, 2115 (submitted) 

Chairperson Keiser, and other honorable members of this committee. My name is C.T. Marhula, 
617 Plain Hills Drive, Grand Forks, ND. This is written testimony for your consideration. 

My background, I was one of the first people in North Dakota to be a certified Senior 
Professional in Human Resource Management, the highest designation in the HR field. I served 
nine years as a neutral on the City o\ Grand Forks Civil Service Commission. While I have 
never practiced law, until recently, I was a licensed attorney in both North Dakota and 
Minnesota. I have an MBA and JD from the University of North Dakota. I have been the chief 
negotiator for both labor and management on collective bargaining agreements. 

I urge you to pass legislation that mandates equal compensation for comparable worth jobs. 

Below are some of the actual practices I have been aware of in my career. 

A single mother passed over in the hiring process in favor of a person who had existing health 
insurance policy through a spouse. A married female passed over because her spouse did not 
have health insurance at his job. While another female was hired, she had coverage through her 
spouse. A man passed over for promotion as retaliation because he refused to cancel his family 
insurance and go on his spouses ' policy. 

While these are anecdotal and impossible to prove, any HR professional who denies this does not 
happen is either naive or lying. At today' s costs, these are $15-20,000 bottom line decisions. 

A decision maker used "market research" to set wages. The result, the market justified raises for 
males, and nearly all females had their wages frozen. While the market is a useful tool, no one 
can deny traditional female careers paid less than traditional male jobs, and this was the result of 
our cultural values at the time. It was also impacted by the fact nearly all decision makers were 
male. As to the claim that the market always self-corrects, let me just point out the following 
fact. Judge Judy makes about $47 million per year. Chief Justice Roberts make about $260,000 
per year. Nuff said. 

On a positive note, in the past, the City of Grand Forks used a point factor system to analyze 
each job. Thus, any employee, male or female, who had ajob that scored at 275 points were on 
the same pay scale. I understand they may have gone back to using just market. If true, this is a 
huge step backwards for the rank and file workers of both sexes, especially women. 

Minnesota has an Equal Pay Act which mandates government units test and comply with 
comparable worth rules. Even with this strong law, I saw a male official order the consultant to 
rework the numbers so a higher ranked female ' s lower pay than a male would not trigger 
noncompliance with the act. 



It is my professional opinion that both cultmal and institutional ized discrim i nation sti l l  exists 
with regard to the compensation of women based on marital status, spousal employment 
situation, number of dependents and/or gender. Both sexes face discrimination based on sexual 
orientation. 

While progress has been made, it is time to end it completely. 

On another note, I am troubled some people actual ly advance the premise that a parent (usually 
the mother) who takes time off from the workforce to be a stay at home parent somehow is less 
of an employee than one who does not. To suggest that a parent/employee who embraces 
traditional family values deserves to punished with lower compensation is laughable. To 
promote family values, employers should be mandated to give longevity credit to those who take 
parental leave for the time they are absent. This is a value al l should be able to support. 

In summary, passage of these bil ls  will protect both employers and employees and insure North 
Dakota is a great place to l ive and work for all citizens. 

Thank-you. 

C.T. Marhula 
ctm@gra.midco.net 
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Introduction 

THIS HISTORIC ACT ENCOUNTERED INITIAL RESISTANCE. 

Opponents of the Equal Pay Act argued that the legislation 

was unnecessary, that it would be detrimental to women 

and to businesses, and that employers would respond 

to the law by refusing to hire women .3 Some attempted 

to justify the pay differences between men and women, 

claiming that women were less skil led , had higher rates of 

absenteeism, and were "more prone to homemaking and 

motherhood."• In contrast, today the tide of public opinion 

has turned strongly in favor of equa l pay. In fact, 84 percent 

of Americans say they support new laws to give women 

more tools to obtain fair pay 5 

Moreover, the last five decades have proven any critics of 

the Equal Pay Act wrong . This crucial legislation laid the 

groundwork for two other core nondiscrimination laws that 

followed - Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Title 

IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. Together, these 

laws vastly expanded opportunities for women and girls at 

work and in school. Since passage of the Equal Pay Act, 

women 's labor force participation and education levels 

have increased dramatically. While in 1963 only 38 percent 

of adult women overall were in the labor force , today that 

figure is 59 percent.6 Likewise , in 1963, less than 7 percent 

of women 25 years and older were college graduates, but 

today nearly 31 percent of women have graduated from 

college. 7 Women have also entered professions that were 

previously closed to them, using Title VII to fight back 

against exclusionary policies and practices.8 

But a substantia l wage gap stil l remains . In 2011, the 

most recent year for which data are available, women 

working full time, year round were typically paid just 77 

cents for every dollar paid to their male counterparts - a 

loss of $11,084 in 2011.9 Although women have narrowed 

the gap by 18 cents over the past five decades, the wage 

gap today stands at 23 cents. 1° For some women of color 

the numbers are especially shocking: African-American 

women working full time, year round are typically paid only 

64 cents and Hispanic women are typically paid only 55 

cents for each dollar paid to their white, non-Hispanic male 

counterparts." These gaps resulted in a loss of $18.817 for 

African-American women and $23,298 for Hispanic women 

in 2011 alone.12 

Fifty years later women are stil l paid less than men in 

nearly every occupation. One study examining wage gaps 

within occupations found that out of 265 major occupations, 

men 's median salaries exceeded women 's in all but one.13 

This is true whether women work in predominately female 

occupations, predom inantly male occupations, or occupa­

tions with a more even mix of men and women. 1• It is also 

true for women in jobs across the income spectrum.15 

And, as the fo llowing graph shows, whi le there has been 

some slow progress since 1963 toward closing the wage 

gap, the last decade has resulted in no progress at all. 

50 YEARS AND COUNTING: '(f 'lltVIH: I "' 1 
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Furthermore, women are still paid less at every level of 

education . 16 

THE WAGE GAP BY EDUCATION LEVEL 

Even women with the lowest levels of education experience 

a significant wage gap, as compared to their male counter­

parts . Women without a high school degree earn $844,520 

over a 40-year career working full time, year round , as 

compared to men without a high school deg ree who earn 

$1 ,216,920 over a 40-year career, working full time, year 

round.17 

Education Level Women's Earnings/ Wage 
Men's Earnings Gap 

Started high school, 69% 31% 
but did not finish 

High school graduate 74% 26% 
(including GED) 

Some college, no degree 73% 27% 

Associate degree 77% 23% 

Bachelor's degree 74% 26% 

Master's degree 73% 27% 

Professional degree 68% 32% 

Doctorate degree 77% 23% 

Source: NWLC calculations based on Current Population Survey. 
Annual Social arid Economic Supplement, 2012. Figures are for full-time. 
year-round workers. 
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And the wage gap between men and women starts early, 

even among those with college degrees. A study by the 

American Association of University Women found that 

college graduates experience a wage gap as soon as one 

year after graduation .18 One year out, after accounting for 

variables such as "occupation, economic sector, hours 

worked per week, multiple jobs, months unemployed since 

graduation, undergraduate GPA, undergraduate major, 

undergraduate institution sector, institution selectivity, age, 

region of residence , and marital status," women were paid 

only 93 percent of what men were paid. '9 

The fact that women overall working full time, year round 

are typically paid just 77 cents for every dollar paid to their 

male counterparts translated to a gap of $11 ,084 less per 

year in median earnings in 2011 . This gap adds up over 

time: a woman who worked full time, year round would 

typically lose $443,360 in a 40-year period due to the 

wage gap, and have to work 12 years longer than her 

male counterpart to make up this gap.20 The older 

women are, the larger the wage gap they experience. 21 

THE WAGE GAP BY AGE 

Age Women's Earnings/ Wage 
Men's Earnings Gap 

16 to 24 92% 8% 

25 to 34 88% 12% 

35 to 44 80% 20% 

45 to 54 73% 27% 

55 to 64 73% 27% 

65 and older 70% 30% 

Source: NWLC calculations based on Current Population Survey, 
Annual Social and Economic Supplement. 2012. Figures are for full-time . 
year-round workers . 

The wage gap also has profound consequences for families , 

who rely on women's earnings now more than ever. Today, 

women are primary breadwinners in more than 41 percent of 

families with children. 22 In another 23 percent of families with 

chi ldren women are co-breadwinners, bringing in between 

25-50 percent of family earnings. 23 Additionally, 8.6 million 

female breadwinner families are headed by single mothers.24 

Families that are low income are the most likely to have 

female primary breadwinners, and these families can least 

afford the wage gap.25 The wage gap leaves all of these 

women and their families shortchanged. 26 

It does not have to be this way. When President Kennedy 

signed the Equal Pay Act into law, he described it as only a 

"first step" and emphasized that "much work remains to be 

done to achieve full equality of economic opportunity."27 Fifty 

years later it is past time to finally put in place the set of poli­

cies we need to close the wage gap. 

This report shines a light on federal and state policies that 

can help close the wage gap. It identifies the remaining 

barriers to achieving fair pay for women and concrete 

steps that can be taken by federal and state policymakers 

to ensure that women and their families are not struggling 

indefinitely to make do with less. 
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Barriers 
to ach ievi ng 
fa i r  pay 
BEFORE THE EQUAL PAY ACT B ECAM E LAW 

employers often advertised for higher-paying jobs in a 

section of the newspaper labeled "Help Wanted-Male."28 

Lower pay for women was rationalized by the assumption 

that women's earnings were not important to the household 

i ncome and that women would be supported by their fathers 

and eventually, by their husbands.29 Even after passage 

of the Equal Pay Act, some employers continued to try to 

justify paying women less because the market would bear it, 

under the theory that women should be paid less simply 

because they would accept lower pay than men.30 But 

in  Corning Glass Works v. Brennan, decided in 1 974, the 

Supreme Court held that an employer's policy of provid­

ing higher rates to male inspectors simply because they 

would not work at the lower rates paid to female inspectors 

violated the Equal Pay Act.31 This case made it unmistak­

ably clear that employers could no longer justify unequal 

pay simply because the going market rate is lower for 

women than for men.  The vestiges of these policies can be 

seen today in women's continued lower pay for the same 

job; segregation into a set of jobs that are perceived as 

"women's work," several of which are low paying;32 and 

underrepresentation in high-wage jobs.33 Similarly, despite 

women making up nearly half the labor force today, women 

stil l fulfill a far greater share of caregiving responsibil ities at 

home than men. And women continue to experience sex 

discrimination at work because of their actual or perceived 

caregiving responsibil ities. All of these factors depress 

women's wages.34 

EMPLOYERS C O NTI N U E  TO PAY W O M EN LESS 

FO R W O R K  I N  THE SAM E J O BS AS M E N .  

The Equal Pay Act was intended to eradicate the practice 

of paying women less for the same jobs as men.  As 

Secretary of Labor Wil l iam Wil lard Wirtz explained during 

debate over the bi l l :  " I t  merely requires an employer to 

el iminate any differential based on sex . . . .  "35 Today we 

no longer have explicitly separate pay scales for men and 

women. But a though pay discrimination is often less overt 

today than it was in 1 963, it continues to flourish. I ndeed, 

women stil l  confront many of the same biases that led critics 

of the Equal Pay Act to suggest that women should receive 

lower salaries because they are intrinsically worth less. 

The stereotype that fam il ies do not rely on women's income 

and that women do not need higher pay often u nderlies 

employer dee sions to pay men more than women and to 

offer career-track, family-supporting jobs to men only.36 

The testimony from Wal-Mart v. Dukes, in which women 

sued the retai ler for discrimination in pay and promotions, 

i l lustrates this point. Women testified that managers i n  

Wal-Mart stores around the country explained pay d iffer­

ences by saying, for example, that men "are working as 

the heads of their households, while women are j ust 

working for the sake of working" and to earn extra 

money.37 
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The equal pay laws have been vital tools in challenging 

pay discrimination that is rooted in these outdated stereo­

types. But employer accountabil ity for pay discrimination is 

the exception to the rule. Too many workers lack the basic 

information necessary to detect pay disparities. And even 

when they are able to find out that they are being paid less, 

existing law is riddled with loopholes that make it difficult to 

obtain j ustice 

WOMEN C O NTI N U E  TO FACE BAR R I ERS TO ENTER I N G  

H I G H ER-PAYI N G ,  N O NTRAD ITIONAL J OBS. 

Although the days o f  separate job ads for male and female 

workers are gone, women remain sorely underrepresented 

in many higher-wage fields that are historically nontradi­

tional for their gender. Of the 25 detailed occupations with 

the highest median weekly earnings for full-time workers, 

only two are majority female.41  In contrast, five of the 

highest-wage occupations are over 90 percent male.42 

These occupations al l  have median weekly earnings for 

full-time workers above $ 1 ,350 - or typical annual salaries 

over $70,000 for someone who works year-round.43 I n  

the 25 lowest-wage occupations, the average percentage 

of women (56 percent) is more than double the average 

percentage of women in the 25 highest-wage occupations 

(27 percent).44 
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25 OCCUPATIONS WITH THE H IGHEST M EDIAN WEEKLY EARN INGS 

Occupation Median Weekly Percentage of 

Aircraft pilots a n d  flight engineers 

Mechanical engineers 

Computer network arch itects 

Aerospace engineers 

E lectrical and electronics engineers 

Architectural a n d  engineering managers 

Engineers, all other 

I nformatio n  security analysts 

Computer hardware engineers 

Chemical engineers 

Industrial engineers, including health and safety 

Software developers, applications and systems software 

Computer and information systems managers 

Chief executives 

Computer systems analysts 

Lawyers 

Physicians and surgeons 

Physical scientists, all other 

Database admin istrators 

Financial analysts 

Judges. magistrates, and other judicial workers 

Management analysts 

Marketing and sales managers 

Pharmacists 

Nurse practitioners 

Average share of women among 25 highest-wage occupations 

Earnings Women in 
Occupation 

$ 1 ,440 

$1 ,434 

$ 1 ,548 

$1 ,645 

$1 ,550 

$2, 1 22 

$1 ,439 

$1 .592 

$ 1 ,548 

$ 1 ,509 

$1 ,393 

$1 ,591 

$1 ,672 

$2,060 

$ 1 ,406 

$1,909 

$1 ,887 

$1 ,456 

51 ,376 

$1 ,487 

51 ,637 

51 ,452 

51 ,396 

51 ,877 

$ 1 ,61 0 

4% 

5% 

8% 

9% 

9% 

1 1 %  

1 3% 

1 5% 

1 5% 

1 8% 

1 9% 

20% 

27% 

27% 

3Fi"o 
31 % 

34'% 

35% 

37% 
37% 

39% 

40% 

45% 

54% 

86% 

27% 

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Population Suivey, 20 1 2  Annual Averages, Tables 1 1 and 39. Median weekly earnings 

figure is for full-time workers, share of women figure is for all workers. 

Women's low representation in the science, technology, 

engineering and math fields has a particular impact on their 

wages, with women in  STEM jobs earning 33 percent more 

than women in non-STEM careers, all else being equal . 45 

Women earn 35 percent of the degrees in STEM fields,46 

but make up only 24 percent of college-educated workers 

in STEM fields.47 

Women also make up very small percentages of workers 

in many of the higher-wage traditionally male occupations 

such as electricians (where women make up 1 .8 percent 

of workers and the median weekly earnings are $932); fire­

fighters (where women make up 3.4 percent of workers and 

the median weekly earnings are $1 ,068); and police and 

sheriff's patrol officers (where women make up 1 2.6 percent 

of workers and the median weekly earnings are $979) .48 

The underrepresentation of women in traditionally male, 

higher-wage fields cannot be explained away s imply by 

pointing to occupational choice.49 Isolation, active 

discouragement, harassment, outright exclusion, and lack 

of information about alternative job options are all barriers 
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to women's entry into higher-wage jobs that are nontradi­

tional for their gender.5° For example, in Wedow v City of 

Kansas City,5• two female firefighters brought successful 

claims for sex discrimination against the Kansas City, 

Missouri Fire Department based on the City's fai lure to 

provide them with adequately fitting protective clothing or 

sanitary faci lities, and denial of opportunities to work in 

successively more career-enhancing positions that were 

made avai lable to male firefighters of equal or lesser rank .  

Likewise, in Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Railway Co. 

v. White,52 Sheila White, a forkl ift operator, complained that 

she was harassed by her supervisor and told that a woman 

should not be doing her job. After she filed a charge with 

the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) 

her employer retaliated by assigning her to perform more 

arduous tasks and suspending her for 37 days without 

pay. Likewise, in Pennsylvania State Police v. Suders,53 a 

female police officer filed suit a lleging that she was subject 

to a "continuous barrage of sexual harassment" by her su­

pervisors that included numerous inappropriate comments 

and threatening behavior. For example, she stated that her 

supervisor made comments about sexual intercourse every 

time she entered his office. 

And the employment practices related to women in  the 

construction industry in particu lar have earned it the nick­

name "the industry that time forgot."54 As economist Marc 

Bendick has expla ined, these practices include: negative 

stereotypes about women's abil ity to perform construction 

work; sexual tension injected into work contexts; intentions 

to reserve well-paid employment for men, "who deserve it"; 

and reluctance by supervisors and other officials to disci­

pl ine perpetrators of discrimination.55 

Similar barriers contribute to girls' underrepresentation in 

in education and training programs that are nontraditional 

for women.56 For example, women make up more than 70 

percent of secondary level and more than 80 percent of 

post-secondary level students in ·'Human Services" career 

and technical education (CTE) programs, which lead to 

generally low-paying occupations like child care workers, 

cosmetologists and nursing home workers.57 In contrast, 

CTE programs that tra in  workers for higher-paying jobs 

are dominated by men; for example, women make up only 

1 5  percent of secondary level and less than 1 0  percent of 

post-secondary level students enrolled in "Architecture and 

Construction" CTE programs.56 

W O M E N  A R E  C O N C ENTRATED IN CTE PROGRAMS THAT LEAD TO LOWER-WAG E CAREERS 

$25 

�2(1 

·�15 

$.10 

$5 

��u 

$23 .  71  
$22.96 

$ 18.36 

$13.99 
$10.85 

$9.34 

Child care Hairdressers, Medical A u tomotive Plumbers, Electricians 

workers hairstyl ists, and assistants body a n d  p ipefitters, a n d  

cosmetologists related repairers steamfitters 

Predominantly female occupations Predominantly male occupations 

Median Hourly Earnings for Selected Predominantly female and Male Occupations 

Source B;..;reau cf l.3bor Std1;;t�c:>, Occu�'at:oc�ai [mpioyme-nt Statistics, May 201.1. 

Source: National Coalition of Women and Girls in Education & National Coalition on Women, Jobs and Job Training, 

Education Data Show Gender Gap in Career Preparation ( March 201 3). 
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WOMEN ARE C LU STE R E D  I N  LOW- PAY I N G  JOBS.  

While women are underrepresented in higher-paying jobs, 

they also are heavily concentrated in jobs at the bottom 

of the labor market.59 Four out of ten women work in 

female-dominated occupations60 and about two-thirds of 

workers earning the lowest wages are women.6' I n  201 1 ,  

half of working women were clustered in 28 out of 534 

possible job categories, and the vast majority of these 

28 job categories were low paying.62 

Jobs that are predominantly done by women are often 

devalued precisely because they are "women's work."63 

For example, although job tasks for janitors and building 

cleaners are extremely similar to job tasks for maids and 

housekeeping cleaners,64 the overall median weekly wage 

for a male-dominated janitor and building cleaner job 

is $85 dollars, which is 21 percent higher than the 

median weekly wage for a female-dominated maid 

and housekeeping cleaner job.65 And even still there 

are wage gaps within these occupations. 

SI M I LAR J OBS, D I FFERENT PAY 

Jan itors and 
Building Cleaners 

Ma ids and 
Housekeeping 
Cleaners 

Percentage Men's Median Women's 
of Women in Weekly Median 

the Occupation Earnings Earnings 

30% $511 $408 

88% $425 $395 

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Population S urvey, 
20 1 2  Annual Averages, Tables 1 1  and 39. 

Four of the most common occupations for women pay less than 1 00 percent of the federal poverty guidelines for a family of 

four, and three times as many women as men work in occupations that pay below this poverty guidel ine for full time work.66 

M I LL IONS OF W O R KERS I N  O C C U PATI O N S  WITH M ED IA N  EAR N I NGS FO R FU LL-TI M E  W O R K  

B ELOW T H E  FEDERAL POVERTY TH R ES H O LD FO R A FAM I LY O F  FOUR 

4.87 

1 .24 

Women Men 

Source: IWPR, The Gender Wage Gap b y  Occupation (Apr. 201 3). 

I ndeed, the lowest-paid workers in the labor market, those paid the federal min imum wage or less, are about two-thirds 

women.67 The chances a worker earning the federal tipped minimum wage of $2. 1 3  an hour is a woman are roughly the 

same.68 Women of color are disproportionately represented among female min imum wage workers: African-American 

women were just under 1 3  percent and Hispanic women were just under 1 4  percent of al l  employed women in 201 2,69 but 

more than 1 5  percent of women paid the minimum wage were African-American and more than 1 8  percent were Hispanic. 70 

Most women paid the min imum wage are not relying on a spouse's income.71 
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WO M E N  W ITH CAR EGIVIN G  R ESP O N S I B I L ITI ES A N D  

P R EGNANT WO R KE R S  FAC E PARTI C U LAR WOR KPLACE 

D I S C R I M I N ATI O N  A N D  ECO N O M I C  H AR D S H I P. 

Outmoded assumptions and discrimination against women 

based on their actual or perceived family responsibilities lower 

women's wages. Although today women make up nearly half 

the labor force, they still shoulder the vast majority of caregiv­

ing responsibilities n For example, in dual-income households 

with children, mothers make a nearly double-time contribution 

to child care, spending almost twice as much time every week 

on child care as fathers.73 And single-parent families are much 

more l ikely to be headed by women than men.7' 

Women with caregiving responsibilities face stereotypes that 

these responsibil ities render women less committed to their 

jobs. And, al l  too often pregnant workers are discriminated 

against when they need an accommodation to continue safely 

working during pregnancy, even though these accommoda­

tions are provided to other workers. Outdated workplace 

policies - including lack of paid leave, paid sick days, and flex­

ibi l ity - result in women workers losing pay when they need to 

take time out from the workplace to care for their fami l ies. 

Women Face Sex Discrimination Based on Caregiving 

Responsibilities. Sex discrimination against women with 

caregiving responsibilities is widespread, and stereotypes 

about mothers' lesser commitment to their jobs remain 

particularly strong.75 A recent study about the penalty women 

who are mothers face i l lustrates this point In that study, 

participants recommended mothers with nearly identical 

resumes to non-mothers for hire less often, recommended 

lower starting salaries and rated them as less competent than 

non-mothers.76 In contrast, fathers were recommended for hire 

more often,  regarded as more competent, and recommended 

for higher salaries than non-fathers n I ndeed, motherhood 

accounts for a large proportion of the wage gap. Women who 

work full t ime, year round are typically paid only 77 cents 

for every dollar paid to their male counterparts. 78 However, 

studies show a larger gap between parents: among full-time 

workers, mothers earn only 60 percent what fathers earn.79 

Sociologists have documented a wage penalty of approxi­

mately four to fifteen percent per child, with low-wage 

workers suffering the largest penalties.80 

Pregnant Workers Face Discrimination When Employers 

Refuse to Provide Accommodations That Are A vailable to 

Other Similarly Situated Workers. Although the Pregnancy 

Discrimination Act (PDA) requires employers to treat pregnant 

... (.[t, fl 

workers the same as other workers who are similar in their 

abil ity or inability to work, too many employers violate the PDA 

by accommodating workers with disabilities and on-the-job in­

juries but refusing to accommodate similarly situated pregnant 

workers.81 All too often employers deny pregnant workers' 

requests for accommodations that some of these workers 

need to continue safely working during pregnancy, such as 

honoring a lifting restriction, al lowing women to stay off high 

ladders, or even al lowing women to drink water, even though 

they provide these accommodations to other similarly situated 

workers who are not pregnant.82 Instead of accommodating 

their requests, employers have forced pregnant workers onto 

unpaid leave or out of their jobs altogether.83 

The Lack of 2151 Century Workplace Policies Disadvan­

tages Women Workers with Caregiving Responsibilities. 

The lack of workplace policies to address the tension between 

the nearly equal participation of women in the labor force 

and women's disproportionate caregiving responsibilities is a 

systemic problem. Only 1 1  percent of workers in the U .S. have 

access to paid family leave.84 Caregivers who do not have 

access to any form of paid leave must take unpaid time off to 

care for their families, and some workers do not even have 

any unpaid leave. While the Family and Medical Leave Act is 

designed to ensure job protection and unpaid leave for 

workers. only 59 percent of workers are eligible for this form 

of leave.85 

The numbers are similarly dismal for paid sick days. Over 

40 percent of private-sector workers lack paid sick days.86 

The problem is even worse for low-wage workers - over 80 

percent do not have access to paid sick days.87 Because so 

many women do not have paid family leave, paid sick days, or 

even unpaid job-protected leave, women lose pay when they 

take time off to care for their famil ies. and sometimes they 

lose their jobs. 

Women who are caregivers take a financial hit in other ways 

as well. In many low-wage jobs, full-time hours are a reward 

only for workers who have total ly open availability to work 

any shift at a l l ,  even those shifts assigned on a moment's 

notice.88 Workers have reported seeing their coworkers' hours 

reduced or seeing coworkers fired as a penalty for taking time 

off to care for family or pick up a sick child.89 So workers with 

caregiving responsibilities may have smaller paychecks in the 

short term because they are forced to work fewer hours, and 

smaller paychecks in the long term because they are less 

likely to be promoted to managerial positions.90 
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Finishing the 
unfinished business 
of achieving fair pay 

AS WE REFLECT ON THE WAGE GAP OVER THE LAST 

50 YEARS and the systemic problems that contribute to 

unfair pay, it is clear that a serious effort will be required to 

address the many barriers to women's economic equal-

ity. Closing the wage gap will take more than an easy 

fix. Fortunately, there are commonsense solutions that 

would improve wages for women and address many of 

the entrenched barriers that have allowed the wage gap to 

remain stagnant for the last decade. This section details an 

approach federal and state policymakers can take to help 

eliminate the barriers that stand in the way of women being 

paid fairly by: 

•Strengthening our equal pay laws to deter 

employers from paying women less than men for 

the same job and support women in identifying and 

remedying pay discrimination; 

• Improving women's access to higher-wage jobs 

that are nontraditional for women; 

• Lifting up the wages of workers in the lowest­

paid jobs, who are disproportionately women; and 

•Putting 21•1 century workplace policies in place 

to ensure that workers are not penalized for fu lfil ling 

both their work and family obligations. 

"EQUAL PAY FOR 
EQUAL WORK isafundamental 

civil right. Over the past four decades, America has 

made enormous progress toward ensuring that all its 

people have an equal chance to enjoy the benefits 

of this great Nation. Bipartisan civil rights bills have 

been enacted to expand and strengthen the law 

to ensure fair pay for all workers. Despite these 

advances, civil rights is still America's 

unfinished business." 

Source: Statement of the late Senator Edward Kennedy 
(0-MA) during introduction of the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act.•1 

STRENGTHEN OUR EQUAL PAY LAWS. 
There is much more work to be done to make our laws 

equal to the task of deterring employers from paying 

women unfairly. It is imperative to address the limitations 

of our current equal pay laws that make it difficult for 

women to fight back against pay discrimination. These 

limitations are described below. 

Allowing Employers to Pay Unequal Wages for Equal 

Work Without a Business Justification Is a Major 

Loophole in the Equal Pay Laws. Under the equal pay 

laws, when an employer is found to have paid female 

employees less than male employees for equal work , the 

employer may assert an affirmative defense that the pay 

differential is based on a "factor other than sex." Some 
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employers have argued for in terpretations of this defense 

that are so broad that they may themselves be sex-based 

and allow historical wage discrimination to go unchecked .92 

The Threat of Retaliation Keeps Workers from 

Finding Out When They Are Being Paid Less. Workers 

need explicit protections from retaliation for discussing their 

pay. Today, over 61 percent of private-sector employees 

report that discussing their wages is either prohibited or 

discouraged by employers.93 If employees do not know 

when they are being paid less than a coworker in the 

same job, i t  is nearly impossible to fight back against pay 

discrimination. Employees should not have to fear that 

they are putting their jobs at risk by finding out what their 

coworkers are being paid, in order to determine whether 

they are victims of pay discrimination . 

The Barriers to Coming Together to Fight Back Against 

Pay Discrimination Make It Difficult for Women to 

Challenge that Discrimination in the Courts. Under 

current law, it is extremely difficult for employees to band 

together to fight back against unfair pay. In  200 1 , female 

Wal-Mart workers joined together to challenge company­

wide systemic d iscrimination in pay and promotions 9' The 

women alleged, among other things, that women in the 

same jobs as men in positions throughout the company 

were paid less than their male counterparts In Wal-Mart 

Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, a deeply divided Supreme Court 

in a narrow 5-4 decision l imited workers' ability to come 

together as a group to challenge discrimination by large 

employers.95 This decision dealt a blow to women's and al l  

workers' abi lity to enforce their rights under the equal pay 

and other nondiscrimination laws through class actions. I f  

workers are unable to  come together to  fight back against 

pay discrimination, much of this discrimination is l ikely to go 

unchecked. This is particularly true for low-wage workers, a 

group that is disproportionately made up of women.96 These 

workers can least afford to risk retaliation for bringing an 

individual cla im.  Further, for these workers the costs and 

time commitment involved in pursuing individual litigation 

may often be prohibitive. 

Arbitrary Limits on Damages Weaken the Deterrent 

Effect of the Equal Pay Laws. The promise of the Equal 

Pay Act will remain unfulfilled without an assurance that 

employers will be held accountable for breaking the law. 

Today, the only remedies available under the Equal Pay 

Act for workers who prove pay discrimination are l iquidated 

damages and back pay awards, which are often small .97 

In contrast, workers bringing pay discrimination lawsuits 

on the basis of race or ethnicity may recover both 

compensatory and punitive damages. Employers must 

face serious consequences for paying women less and for 

keeping employees in the dark about their pay. For too 

many employers today, potential l iabi l ity for an equal pay 

violation is an acceptable part of the cost of doing business. 

The Failure to Collect Pay Data Inhibits the 

Enforcement of the Equal Pay Laws. Robust 

enforcement of the equal pay laws by civil rights 

agencies is especially important to detect and remedy 

systemic pay discrimination. But at both the federal and 

state level, enforcement agencies fail to collect data from 

private sector employers about what employees are paid. 

In  2006, the Bush Administration eliminated the tool used 

by the Department of Labor to detect and remedy wage 

discrimination by federal contractors.98 And the EEOC also 

does not collect compensation data for private sector 

employees.99 As a result, civil rights enforcement agencies 

lack sufficient information to adequately enforce the 

equal pay laws. 
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FEDERAL STEPS TO STRENGTHEN FEDERAL EQUAL 
PAY LAWS. 

Beyond signing the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act, the Obama 

Administration has taken several other steps to date to 

achieve fair pay. In 2010, the Administration created the 

National Equal Pay Enforcement Taskforce which has played 

an active role in recommending and coordinating federal leg­

islative and administrative actions to close the wage gap. The 

Taskforce's role and impact is described in greater detail on 

page 16 of this report. 100 In 2013, the Obama Administration 

took another crucial step forward by rescinding the Bush-era 

guidelines from 2006 (the "Compensation Standards" and 

"Voluntary Guidelines") that had previously hampered inves­

tigation of pay discrimination claims under Executive Order 

11246-'°1 And a May 2013 presidential memorandum set 

forth the federal government's plan to identify and implement 

model pay practices by subjecting its current pay practices to 

greater scrutiny, including its pay and promotion practices for 

part-time workers and those who have taken time off to care 

for families; developing guidance for agencies to promote 

greater transparency in starting salaries; and analyzing and 

identifying agency best practices to promote pay equity.102 

But there is much more to be done. 

The following legislative and administrative proposals would 

strengthen the equal pay laws and help close the wage gap. 

Federal Legislative Proposals 

The Paycheck Fairness Act- A Comprehensive 

Approach. The Paycheck Fairness Act is a commonsense 

piece of legislation that would strengthen the Equal Pay Act 

in a number of important ways by making it easier to identify 

and remedy discriminatory pay decisions, closing loopholes 

in the law and providing incentives for employers to 

voluntarily comply with the law. 106 The bill would : 

• Bring the remedies for equal pay violations in line with those 

available for other types of pay discrimination by allowing 

plaintiffs who win their equal pay cases to recover compen­

satory and punitive damages; 

• Prohibit retaliation against employees for discussing their 

pay; 

• Tighten loopholes in the employer defenses to unequal pay 

by requiring employers to provide a business justification for 

paying unequal wages; and 

• Collect the pay data need by civil rights enforcement 

agencies. 

The Equal Employment Opportunity Restoration Act of 

2012 - Removing Barriers to Workers Banding Together 

to Fight Back Against Pay Discrimination. The Equal 

Employment Opportunity Restoration Act would remove the 

obstacles the Supreme Court placed in the way of ordinary 

Americans seeking their day in court and provide a clear 

avenue for employees to seek redress as a group. 107 
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Federal Administrative Proposals 

In addition to the legislative proposals outlined here, there 

are concrete steps that the Administration can take to help 

to close the wage gap. 

Combat Punitive Pay Secrecy Policies. The EEOC has 

clarified that employer prohibitions on employees' ability to 

file a charge with the EEOC violate the anti-retaliation 

provisions of Title VII because they "have a chilling 

effect on the willingness and ability of individuals to 

come forward. "109 Likewise, employer gag rules that keep 

employees from finding out when they are being paid less 

have a similar chilling effect on employees' and the 

agencies' ability to challenge discrimination. 

The Administration can improve the law by making clear 

that policies that keep workers in the dark about their wag­

es interfere with the enforcement of the equal pay laws and 

are therefore impermissible under these laws. including the 

Equal Pay Act, Title VII, and Executive Order 11246 (which 

bans discrimination by federal contractors). The President 

could also use his executive authority to explicitly prohibit 

federal contractors from retaliating against their 

employees for discussing pay information with others. 

This can be achieved by issuing a new executive order 

for federal contractors or through agency regulations or 

guidance. The Office of Federal Contract Compliance 

Program's (OFCCP) jurisdiction covers over 20 percent of 

the civilian workforce, 110 so putting in place a no-retaliation 

policy for this workforce is especially critical to not only 

strengthening our pay discrimination laws but ensuring that 

federal tax dollars are not subsidizing discrimination. 

Collect Information About Compensation Data. In 2011 , 

OFCCP began the process of developing a new wage data 

collection tool for federal contractors by seeking input from 

stakeholders.111 Likewise, the EEOC solicited information 

about existing data collection in a National Academy of 

Sciences study.112 It is crucial for these agencies to take 

the next steps forward by developing and implementing 

methods for collecting employer pay data that can be used 

in their enforcement efforts. 

STATE STEPS TO STRENGTHEN STATE EQUAL PAY LAWS. 

Many states have been leaders in the ongoing fight against 

pay discrimination and have taken critical steps to strength­

en their equal pay laws to provide protections beyond those 

that are available under the federa l Equal Pay Act. Below, 

we highlight severa l state efforts that may provide helpful 

models for other states seeking to strengthen their own 

equal pay laws. 

Prohibit Retaliation. A number of states explicitly prohibit 

retaliation against employees under their fair pay laws, 

either for enforcing their rights under the law or for discuss­

ing their pay. States that have passed laws proh ibiting 

retaliation against employees for exercising their rights 

under their states ' fair pay laws include California , 113 Colo­

rado, 114 Illinois, 115 Maine, 116 Michigan, 117 Vermont, 118 and, 

most recently, New Mexico.119 And more states may be on 

the way. In New York, Governor Andrew Cuomo recently 

released the "New York Rising '' policy agenda. which 

includes a Women's Equality Act that, among other th ings, 

aims to decrease the wage gap by prohibiting employers 

from retaliating against workers for discussing their pay. 120 

As Governor Cuomo has stated, "Policies against sharing 

wage information, essentially deny women workers the 

ability to discover whether their wages are unequal to their 

male counterparts, " and without the non-retaliation provi­

sions of the act, "wage disparities will persist undetected."121 

Similarly, the Louisiana Senate recently passed, and sent 

to the Louisiana House of Representatives, a bill that would 

make it illegal to retaliate or take adverse employment 

actions against public sector employees who "inquir[e] 

about, disclos[e], compar[e), or otherwise discuss" their 

wages or others' wages.122 
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Improve Pay Data Collection. Collecting information about 

employee pay is essential to state and local enforcement ef­

forts. Vermont's new equal pay law takes a step in the right 

direction by requiring state contractors to certify that they 

are in compliance with that law; and to make their payroll 

records available on request to the contracting agency or 

the Attorney General to verify compliance.125 New Mexico's 

executive order has gone a step further. '26 

Tighten Employer Defenses. As has been the case under 

the federal Equal Pay Act, some courts have interpreted 

the defenses to equal pay claims brought under state laws 

so broadly that they have allowed employers to flout these 

laws and continue paying women less. A handful of states 

have implemented laws making clear that businesses must 

provide a valid business reason for paying unequal wages 

to men and women doing the same work. For example, 

California 's Equal Pay Act requires a "bona fide factor other 

than sex,"127 and Kansas' Act Against Discrimination states 

that employers may not discriminate "in compensation . 

without a val id business necessity."128 Vermont's new equal 

pay law also changes its defense to ensure that employ­

ers can only pay unequal wages for business reasons. 

Specifically, that law states, "An employer asserting that 

differential wages are paid pursuant to this subdivision 

shall demonstrate that the factor does not perpetuate a 

sex-based differential in compensation , is job-related with 

respect to the position in question, and is based upon a 

legitimate business consideration ."129 
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Keep the Courthouse Doors Open. Enforcement of the 

pay discrimination laws would be nearly impossible under 

the ru le established in Ledbetter v. Goodyear Tire Co , 

which held that a woman could not recover for pay dis­

crimination unless she brought her claim within 180 days of 

when the origina l discriminatory pay decision was made. 132 

This is because women often do not find out that they are 

being paid less than their male coworkers until years after 

their employer makes the original decision to discriminate 

by setting their wages below their male coworkers'. Con­

gress restored the law in 2009 by passing the Lilly Ledbet­

ter Fair Pay Act, which makes clear that each discrimina­

tory paycheck (rather than simply the original decision to 

discriminate) resets the 180-day limit to file a claim. 133 While 

many states genera lly follow Title VII precedent in interpret­

ing their state's nondiscrimination laws, some courts have 

declined to follow the Ledbetter Act, relying on the Supreme 

Court's Ledbetter decision to dismiss discrimination claims 

brought under state law as untimely. For example, a district 

court in New York specifically noted that because "' the New 

York legislature [has not] enacted a statute similar to the 

'IA"fl.A\ WOME. SL \W CENlfR 

Ledbetter Act," salary discrimination claims under the New 

York State Human Rights Law (NYSHRL) "are governed by 

the Supreme Court's analysis in Ledbetter."134 

Some state legislatures have passed their own Ledbet-

ter laws to keep the courthouse doors open for women 

workers. For example, both houses of the Texas legislature 

passed a Lil ly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act in 2013 in response to 

a Texas Supreme Court decision making clear that when in­

terpreting Texas' nondiscrimination law Texas courts would 

not apply the federal law's requirement to reset the clock on 

the statute of limitations with the payment of each discrimi­

natory paycheck unless explici tly required to do so by the 

Texas legislature. 135 The bill is now awaiting the Governor's 

signature. 136 Maryland's and Illinois' legislatu res acted 

quickly after the Ledbetter decision , both enacting the ir own 

state Ledbetter laws. 137 
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Commissioning Change. 
Both at the federal level and in the states, commissions and taskforces have played an important role in focusing 

policymakers on the need to close the wage gap. 

The Obama Administration's National Equal Pay Taskforce, composed of representatives from the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, the Department of Justice, and the Office of Personnel Manage­

ment, is tasked with identifying and addressing challenges to ending pay discrimination. The Taskforce has made 

recommendations to address persistent barriers to equal pay enforcement and the need for better pay data collection ; 

and has announced plans to make recommendations to close the wage gap in the federal workforce, educate the 

public about the right to fair pay, and advocate for passage of the Paycheck Fairness Act. 140 The Taskforce has con­

tributed to a heightened focus throughout the federal government on ending pay discrimination. For example, since 

the establishment of the Taskforce, the number of pay discrimination cases resolved by OFCCP has nearly tripled .141 

Similarly, many of the states that have implemented strong equal pay policies have begun the process with the help 

of a commission tasked with identifying solutions to close the wage gap. 

• New Mexico's Taskforce on Fair and Equal Pay. In 2009, New Mexico's Governor Bill Richardson created 

the Fair and Equal Pay for All New Mexicans Initiative , which included the Task Force on Fair and Equal Pay. The 

Commission's work helped lead to the adoption, in 2013 under Governor Susana Martinez, of the Fair Pay for Wom­

en Act, which greatly strengthens fair pay protections for New Mexicans by providing a private right of action with no 

administrative exhaustion requirement; a strong no-retaliation provision; and damages to help deter violations.142 

• Maryland's Equal Pay Commission. Likewise, in 2004, Maryland's General Assembly established an Equal 

Pay Commission to study issues relating to equal pay. The Commission worked with the Institute for Women's Poli­

cy Research to develop recommendations and best practices.143 Maryland's Equal Pay Commission also published 

a report, providing key recommendations to improve the Commission's ability to analyze the issues and invigorate 

enforcement of equal pay in Maryland. 144 

•Colorado's Pay Equity Commission. Similarly, in Colorado, the Executive Director of the Department of Labor 

and Employment, Don Mares, charged the Pay Equity Commission with "determining the scope of pay inequity 

based on gender and race in Colorado, identifying policies and practices that help produce it and suggesting areas 

of reform."145 In response , Colorado's Pay Equity Commission published a comprehensive report on pay equity, 

including some major setbacks (in particular, the closing of many Civil Rights Divisions) and a thorough list of 

recommendations .146 

•Vermont's Standing Commission on Women. Vermont, the state with the narrowest wage gap,147 has had 

a standing Commission on Women since 1964 whose "[c]ommissioners come from all parts of the state and across 

the political spectrum ."148 The Commission was heavi ly involved in the passage of the Vermont Equal Pay Act in 

2002149 and, in 2012, the Commission filed an amicus brief in Federal District Court in Vermont in Dreves v. Hudson 

Grp. Retail, LLC, the first case to interpret Vermont's Equal Pay Act. 150 The commission was also involved in the 

recent passage of Vermont's new pay equity bi ll. 

A hallmark of many of these Commissions is the inclusion of a wide range of stakeholder groups bringing diverse 

perspectives to understanding the problem of unequal pay. A commission alone is certainly not enough to bring about 

wholesale change, but as these examples show, state Commissions have helped raise the profi le of the issue and 

launch improvements in the law. 



BUILD LADDERS TO HIGH-WAGE JOBS THAT ARE 

NONTRADITIONAL FOR WOMEN . 

Moving the dial on occupational segregation requ ires 

vigorous enforcement of the nondiscrimination laws and 

making the recruitment and retention of women in 

nontraditional CTE and STEM courses and nontraditional 

jobs a priority at both the national and state level. 

FEDERAL STEPS TO PROMOTE THE EDUCATION 
AND EMPLOYMENT OF WOMEN FOR NONTRADITIONAL, 
HIGHER-WAGE JOBS. 

Vigorous enforcement of our nondiscrimination laws is 

critical to removing barriers for women to accessing higher­

wage jobs that are traditionally male. Hiring discrimina-

tion remains a significant barrier to women's entry into 

nontraditional jobs. 15 1 However, this form of discrimination 

is particularly difficult to challenge since today employer 

policies that operate to keep women out are often covert, 

rather than explicit; women often do not know when men 

are being hired in their place; and women who are victims 

of systemic hiring discrimination very often do not have 

the resources to fight back against these company-wide 

policies or practices.152 And even when they are hired, 

discrimination , including unchecked harassment, limits the 

number of women working in nontraditional fields. For all 

of these reasons, the federal government's engagement in 

systemic and high-profile enforcement of the prohibitions 

on discrimination against women and nontraditional jobs, 

including employment screens that have a disparate impact 

on women , is crucial to opening up nontraditional jobs to 

women . 

Our public workforce system must also redouble its efforts 

to promote nontraditional occupations for women. The 

Workforce Investment Act is the primary federal job train­

ing system, funding educational and career training for 

underserved workers. 153 Only roughly 3 percent of those 

exiting Workforce Investment Act programs go into jobs that 

are nontraditional for their gender. '54 Workforce Investment 

Act reauthorization should require states to submit plans 

to increase the numbers of women entering jobs that are 

nontraditional for their gender after receiving WIA-funded 

tra ining. 155 The Women WIN Jobs Act would provide much 

needed grants to states to increase low-income women's 

participation in higher-wage, high demand occupations in 

nontraditional fields. 156 Among the authorized activities, 

,\If' 

the grants would help states and their partners improve 

the recruitment of low-income women in apprenticeship 

programs, develop effective policies for hiring women , and 

provide funds for outreach activities and training to over­

come gender stereotypes. 

.·•SROTl!1dHroN WOMEN 
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In 1978,theO~i~ tot~~:~eral Contract Compliance 

Programs (OFCCP) estatilished a goal to increase .,,. ' ... . ,..., : 
the numberOt women· in !construction occupa­
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tions.157 The goat'Was set afa modest 6.9 percent, 
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and has yet to change and the ~good faith" efforts 
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required of contractors were not rigorous enough to 
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increase women in the construction profession.158 
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Still, by 2010, women~made uporily 2.6 percent of 
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construction trades and related ifccupations.159 The 
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Department of Labor needs to increase the goal for 
:~: ';:«Klift;.~-:-'>,: --. , __ --;; 

the share of women in constniction. It also must 
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update the regulations on apprenticeship 
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programs, the major pathway into construction • 
~-; l'_-~f;;-J/'-,;_.;;::~i:'<_ . ·.;-<· '; • ~it{}J_:i~_- ~ --~ 

trades and related OC9l1P,a~i~ns, ,t~ s~ ~qual . 

employment opportUnities.1
•
60 .J"he regulations 

should be upd~ted to: 

Eliminate criteria and methods that have a 

disparate impact on women, such as depending 

heavily on intent to hire letters and irrelevant 

strength testing. 

Require apprenticeship programs to have evalu­

ation systems that review for non-discrimination, 

affirmative action, and equal employment 

opportunities for on-the-job training. 

Require women's committees and mentorship 

programs, as well as actively seek women in 

instructional and leadership positions. 

Provide clear consequences for apprenticeship 

programs that fail to meet these requirements. 
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Finally, federal policy must hold states accountable for 

increasing the participation rates of girls in STEM and non­

traditional CTE courses. Congress has an opportunity to do 

just that in the upcoming reauthorizat ion of the Carl D. Per­

kins Career and Technical Education Act. 161 The nontradi­

tional accountability measure in the Perkins Act cha llenges 

states to address the barriers that women and girls face in 

entering nontraditional fields , such as sexual harassment 

in the classroom ; bias in career recruitment, counseling , 

or mentorship; and a lack of access to appropriate tools or 

facul ty. Congress can also ensure that Office of Vocational 

and Adult Education (OVAE) plays an important role in im­

proving access to higher-wage CTE fields of study if it has 

the explicit authority to hold states accountable. 

LIFT UP THE WAGES OF WOMEN IN LOW-WAGE JOBS. 
The federal minimum wage has been stagnant since 2009, 

and the tipped minimum wage has not increased since 

1991 . '62 Raising the minimum wage would help narrow the 

wage gap for women since most of the workers who wil l 

see an increase in pay are women. 163 Likewise, the many 

workers being paid sl ightly above the minimum wage - the 

majority of whom are women - are likely to get a raise as 

employers raise the wages of those making just over the 

minimum wage as wel l to maintain internal pay scales. 1&< 

FEDERAL STEPS TO RAISE THE WAGES OF WOMEN IN 
LOW-WAGE JOBS. 

The Fair Minimum Wage Act would gradually raise the 

federal minimum wage from $7.25 to $10.10 per hour, 

increase the tipped minimum cash wage from $2.13 per 

hour to 70 percent of the minimum wage , and index these 

wages to keep pace with inflation.165 These improvements 

are important steps toward achieving fair pay for women. 

STATE STEPS TO RAISE THE WAGES OF WOMEN IN 
LOW-WAGE JOBS. 

States can help narrow the wage gap by increasing their 

state's minimum wage. 166 Seven of the ten states with the 

smaller wage gaps in 2011 had minimum wages above the 

federal minimum of $7.25 per hour. Among the ten states 

with the largest wage gaps, only two had minimum wages 

above $7.25 an hour. 167 The average of the wage gaps for 

states with minimum wages above the federally-mandated 

minimum is three cents smaller than the average of the 

wage gaps in those states where the minimum wage is only 

$7.25,"'68 a substantial difference when you consider that if 

the national wage gap shrunk by three cents , it would close 

by more than 13 percent. 

STATES WITH HIGHER-THAN-FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGES ALSO HAVE SMALLER WAGE GAPS 

States with the 10 Smallest Wage Gaps States with the 10 Largest Wage Gaps 

I 

State Women's Wage Minimum 
Earnings/ Gap Wage 

Men's 

State Women's Wage Minimum 
Earnings/ Gap Wage 

Men's 
Earnings Earnings 

District of Columbia 90.4% 9.6% $8.25 Wyoming 66.6% 33.4% $7.25 

Vermont 86.7% 13.3% $8.60 Louisiana 68.8% 31.2% $7.25 

Maryland 86.0% 14.0% $7.25 Utah 69.0% 31.0% $7.25 

Nevada 84.9% 15.1% $8.25 West Virgin ia 70.5% 29.5% $7.25 

California 84 .9% 15.1% $8.00 North Dakota 72.7% 27.3% $7.25 

Rhode Island 84.8% 15.2% $7.75 Mississippi 73.5% 26.5% $7.25 

Arizona 84.7% 15.3% $7.80 Michigan 73.8% 26.2% $7.40 

New York 83.6% 16.4% $7.25' Alabama 74.2% 25.8% $7.25 

Florida 82.6% 17.4% $7.79 Montana 74.6% 25.4% $7.80 

Arkansas 82.0% 18.0% $7.25 Idaho 75.2% 24.8% $7.25 

Note. State earnings ratios and wage gaps calculated by the National Women's Law Center (NWLC) are based on the 2011 American 
Community Survey (http://www.censlis.gov/acs/wwwl). U.S. Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division, Minimum Wage Laws in the 
States - January 1. 2013 , available at http://www.dol.gov/whdim nwaqeiamerica. htm. 

*Under recently enacted legislation, New York's minimum wage is set to rise to $9.00 per hour in three steps between Dec. 31 , 2013 
and Dec. 31, 2015. 
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A n umber of states have taken the lead on raising the mini­

mum wage. Nineteen states and the District of Columbia 

currently have min imum wages above the federal level, 169 

and min imum wage increases advanced in  several states 

during the 201 3  legislative session. In New York, the mini­

mum wage wil l  r ise from $7.25 to $9.00 per hour over two 

years beginn ing December 31 , 2013 . 1 70 The minimum wage 

in Connecticut will reach $9.00 per hour by January 1 ,  2015  

( u p  from $8 .25  p e r  h o u r  today} . 1 71 And i n  New Jersey, the 

legislature passed a bi l l  that will put a measure on the bal­

lot i n  November to raise the minimum wage from $7.25 to 

$8.25 per hour i n  2014 .  followed by annual adjustments for 

inflation . 1 72 Additional bi l ls to raise the minimum wage are 

pending in states such as Cal iforn ia,  Maine, 

Massachusetts, and Rhode Island. 

A D O PT 2 151 CENTURY WORKPLACE POL IC IES A N D  

E N FO R C E  EXISTI N G  PR OTECTI O N S  FO R WOMEN I N  

TH E WO R K P LACE AGAI N ST D I S C R I M I N ATIO N  O N  TH E 

BASI S  O F  P R E G N A N CY A N D  CAREGIV ING.  

To e n d  the wage g a p ,  i t  i s  crucial to put i n  place 2 1 51 century 

workplace policies that would stop women from being pe­

nalized for taking time out of the workforce to care for their 

families. Stronger enforcement of those laws that protect 

women with caregiving responsibi l ities from discrimination 

is also vitally i m portant. Final ly, it must be unmistakably 

clear that women who need to make adjustments to their 

jobs to continue safely working during pregnancy may not 

be forced off the job when the employer accommodates 

other s imi larly situated workers. Federal and state solutions 

to achieve these goals are described below. 

FEDERAL STEPS TO REMOVE PENALTIES FOR WORKERS 
WITH CAREG IVI N G  R ESPO NSIBI LITI ES AND PREGNANT 
WORKERS. 

A dopt Policies That Would Increase the A vailability of 

Paid Family Leave and Paid Sick Days. Twenty-first cen­

tury policies that enable all workers to take time out from 

work to care for their families without losing pay would help 

close the wage gap.  At the federal level, the Healthy Fami­

l ies Act would a l low employees to earn up to seven paid 

sick days per year that can be used for their own i l lness, 

for preventive care, to take care of a sick family member or 

to recover from or seek help relating to sexual assault or 

domestic violence. 1 7 3  L ikewise, advocates have proposed 

a federal paid family and medical leave insurance program 

which would create a national paid leave system al lowing 

employees up to 1 2  weeks of paid leave for their own seri­

ous i l lness, for the serious i l lness of certain fami ly mem­

bers, for the birth or adoption of a child, or for the injury of 

a family member in the mil itary or for exigencies related to 

mi l itary deployment of a family member.174 

Enforce Sex Discrimination Laws on Behalf of Work­

ers with Caregiving Responsibilities. Sex discrimination 

against women with actual or perceived caregiving respon­

sibi l ities operates to reduce women's wages by keeping 

women from being hired for certa in jobs and from being 

considered for higher pay and promotions. The EEOC and 

OFCCP should seek opportunities to identify and remedy 

this form of discrimination. 

Clarify Employers ' Obligation to Accommodate 

Pregnant Workers. E EOC guidance should make clear 

that employers' nondiscrimination obligations under the 

Pregnancy Discrimination Act require them to accommo­

date pregnant workers when they accommodate, or would 

be legally required to accommodate, other similarly situated 

workers who are not pregnant. Similarly, the Pregnant 

Workers Fairness Act would ensure that pregnant workers 

have the same rights to reasonable accommodation that 

are available to workers with temporary disabil ities H5 Both 

of these policies would lessen the wage gap by making it 

possible for pregnant workers in need of workplace accom­

modations to remain in the workforce earning income for 

their fami l ies rather than being forced off the job. 

STATE STEPS TO REMOVE P ENALTIES FOR WORKERS 
WITH CAREGIVI NG RESPONSIBI LITI ES AND PREGNANT 
WORKERS. 

States and localities can enforce their sex, pregnancy, and 

caregiver discrimination protections on behalf of workers 

with caregiving responsibi l ities and pregnant workers, as 

well as adopt paid sick days, paid family leave, and 

pregnancy accommodations laws. 

A dopt State and Local Paid Sick Days and Family 

Leave Laws. Today, advocates are waging paid sick days 

campaigns in roughly twenty cities and states H6 And a 

number of localities have been successful in recent years 

50 YEARS AND COU NTING :  



in securing paid sick days for their employees. In Washing­

ton, D.C. employees may take up to seven paid sick days, 

depending on the size of the employer, for thei r  own, or 

a fami ly member's, i l lness, injury or medical condition m 

Under the D .C .  paid sick days law, sick days can also be 

used if an employee or an employee's fami ly member is a 

victim of stalk ing, domestic violence, or sexual abuse. 1 78 In  

San Francisco, employees can accrue up to 72 hours of 

paid sick leave that they may use if they are i l l  or injured 

or for the purpose of receiving medical care, treatment, or 

diagnosis, or to aid or care for a fami ly member or desig­

nated person when that person is i l l ,  injured, or receiving 

medical care, treatment, or diagnosis . 1 79 Sick day laws 

have also passed in Mi lwaukee, Seattle, Portland, Oregon 

and most recently, New York City.180 In 201 1 ,  Connecticut 

became the first state to enact paid sick days. 181 Likewise 

both New Jersey and California have passed paid fam-

ily leave laws that provide partial income replacement for 

workers who take time off to care for a newborn, care for 

a newly adopted chi ld, or to care for a fami ly member with 

serious health condition . 182 

Enforce State Nondiscrimination Laws Prohibiting 

Sex and Caregiver Discrimination. States and localities 

can enforce sex discrimination laws on behalf of women 

who are caregivers. In  addition, three states - Alaska, the 

District of Columbia and New Jersey - have explicit protec­

tions against caregiver discrimination . Alaska prohibits em­

ployment d iscrimination on the basis of "parenthood,"  '83 the 

District of Columbia prohibits employment discrim ination on 

the basis of "family responsibi l ities, '%' and New Jersey pro­

h ibits employment discrimination against publ ic employees 

on the basis of "fam il ial status." 185 Sixty-three localities in 22 

states also prohibit some form of caregiver discrimination 

in  their employment nondiscrimination statutes. 186 In recent 

years, similar legislation has been introduced in nearly a 

dozen states.187 

Adopt Laws to Clarify Employers' Obligations Not to 

Discriminate on the Basis of Pregnancy by Accommo­

dating Pregnant Workers. At the state level, eight states 

now have laws requiring employers to provide certain types 

of accommodations to some or all pregnant employees: 

Alaska , California , Connecticut, Hawai i ,  Louisiana, I l l inois, 

Texas, and Maryland.188 These laws may provide use-

ful models for other states considering s imi lar legislative 

proposals. 
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Concl us ion 

FIFTY YEARS AFTER T H E  EQUAL PAY ACT WAS S I G N E D  

I NTO LAW, women working full t ime, year round are sti l l  

typically paid 77 cents for every dollar paid to their  male 

counterparts. The wage gap makes it difficult for women 

- who are more than 40 percent of primary breadwinners 

in families with children and nearly 50 percent of the labor 

force - to provide for themselves and their fami l ies. Closing 

this gap requires a serious and sustained commitment at 

both the federal and state levels to overcoming al l  of the 

barriers standing in the way of women achieving fa i r  pay. It 

requires strengthening our equal pay laws so that women 

have the tools they need to challenge pay discrimination; 

removing the roadblocks to women's access to higher-pay­

ing nontraditional jobs and job tra in ing, including harass­

ment and discrimination; increasing the pay for women in 

the lowest-paid jobs, many of which have historically been 

devalued because they are done by women; and ensur-

ing that women with caregiving responsibil ities do not face 

workplace discrimination and economic hardship simply 

for fulf i l l ing these responsibi l ities. It is past t ime to finish 

America's unfinished business of achieving fair pay. 
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May 3, 2013). In 1963, 38.3 percent of women age 20 and older were in the labor force. In 2012, 59.3 percent of women age 20 and older were in 
the labor force. Historically, labor force participation for African-American women has been higher than women 's labor force participation overa ll. In 
1972, 51.2 percent of African-American women age 20 and older were in the labor force . In 2012, 62.6 percent of African-American women age 20 
and older were in the labor force. The figure overall for women in 1972 was 43. 7 percent. 

7 U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Survey: Educational Attainment: CPS Historical Time Series Tables tbl.A-2: Percent of People 25 Years and 
Over Who Have Completed High School or College, by Race, Hispanic Origin and Sex: Selected Years 1940 to 2012, 
http· //www census gov/hhes/socdemo/eclucation/clata/cps/hjstorjcal/jndex html (last visited June 3, 2013). The Census Bureau does not have data 
for educational attainment in 1963. In 1962, just under 7 percent of women age 25 and older had completed four years of college or more, the same 
as in 1964. NWLC assumes the figure was the same for 1963. In 2012, the most recent year with available data, 31 percent of women age 25 and 
older had completed four years of college or more. Completing four years of college or more is used as a measure for college graduation. 

8 See Int'/ Union, United Auto., Aerospace & Agric. Implement Workers of Am., UAW v. Johnson Controls, Inc .. 499 U.S. 187. 204 (1991) (determining 
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women in an intolerable and impermissible catch 22: out of a job if they behave aggressively and out of a job if they do not. Title VII lifts women out of 
this bind. "); Dothard v. Rawlinson, 433 U.S. 321 (1977) (affirming plaintiff's use of national statistics to make a prima facie case of discriminatory im­
pact under Title VI I, which showed that Alabama's statutory height and weight restrictions for prison guards excluded 41.13% of the female population 
but less than 1 % of the male population); Davis v. City & Cnty. of San Francisco , 890 F.2d 1438, 1448 (9th Cir. 1989) (affirming a consent decree that 
settled a Title VII class action alleging racial, gender, and national origin discrimination in the hiring and promotion of fi refighters and upholding the 
affirmative requirements of the decree under Title VII due to the existence of a "manifest imbalance ... reflecting underrepresentation of women and 
minorities in traditional ly segregated job categories" (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted)). 

9 NWLC, The wage Gap /s Stagnant in Last Decade (Sept. 2012), available at 

httD.://www.nwLc,Qr,g/_sites/de!auli/.'.nl.e.s/pcif:s/pQ~f;J1Y_.day_wage .. gav. .... sheet.ri>1f. 
10 The Wage Gap Over Time, supra note 1. 
11 NWLC, Closing the Wage Gap /s Crucial for Women of Color and Their Families (Apr. 2013), available at 

httD.://l't'WW.JlWlC..OJl!LSilesJ.de.fau.ltllil~/J).df.SLC.IQ.S.inUb.e_wall!Ulll.ILilLUL!.cial_fQ.r_wQUilliUb.ciLfamilic.S.,D.dt. 
12 /d. 
13 Frank Bass, Shining Shoes Best Way Wall Street Women Outearn Men, Bloomberg Businessweek, Mar. 16, 2012, available at 

ll1tD.://w_w.w.ll_usine.ss.w.e.e.li..c.omLo.ewsL2.Ql2:0.3.:16/i.lJ.e.:gende.r:P.ai:d1sP.a.ri\l!. 
14 Ariane Hegewisch & Maxwell Matite, Inst. for Women's Policy Research, The Gender Wage Gap by Occupation (Apr. 2013), available at 

http;/Lwww.iw.c.r • .org,.tp.ubli.c.aLi.ons/Q.ullS/th.e::i:ende.r:wage_,.e;aP.::bY.:0.ccu.pab.on,2. 
15 NWLC calculations based on Bureau of Labor Statistics, Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages 

[hereina~er CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages] tbl.39: Median Weekly Earnings of Full-Time Wage and Salary Workers by Detailed Occupation and 
Sex, tJttp;J.Lwww. bls.go.vLcJ:l.S/.cps_a.a13.9..oill (last visited June 4, 2013). Among full-time workers, in only 2 of 114 occupations where wage data were 
available for both sexes were women 's median weekly earnings more than men 's median weekly earnings (those occupations were counselors and 
health practitioner support technologists and technicians). See also Hegewisch & Matite, supra note 14. 

16 NWLC calculations based on U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Survey: 2012 Annual Social and Economic Supplement [hereinafter CPS ASEC 
2012] tbl.PINC-03: Educational Attainment- People 25 Years Old and Over, by Total Money Earnings in 2011, Work Experience in 2011, Age, Race, 

Hispanic Origin , and Sex, tlt\.Q;//www.census,go.v/l!lle.s/www/.cpstab!.es/ 03201Vperin.c/oin.c.Q3_QQ.Q.htm (last updated Sept. 12, 2012). Figures are 
for full-time, year-round workers. For an extensive examination of the wage gap among less educated workers, see U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, 
GA0-12-10, Gender Pay Differences: Progress Made but Women Remain Overrepresented Among Low-Wage Workers (Oct. 2011), available at 
llllD:/Ll'll~.ga.Q,gQy/ass.e~/.59..0L5.8.5Z21.D.d.l. Less educated workers are those with a high school degree or less. 

17 NWLC calculations based on CPS ASEC 2012, supra note 16, tbl.PINC-03: Educational Attainment- People 25 Years Old and Over, 
by Total Money Earnings in 2011, Work Experience in 2011, Age, Race, Hispanic Origin, and Sex, 

ll!111;//W'.YW • .Cf.l.OS.U.S..J!QYJ.b.be.s/wwwJ.QD.S1<.ibk1.~/0.3.2Ql2/D.e.r.i.nc/P.i.nc.Q.3_QQ.Q,.h.tm. (last updated Sept. 12, 2012). Figures are for full -time, year-round 
workers and assume a 40-year ca reer. Figures are not adjusted for inflation. 

18 Christianne Corbett & Catherine Hill, Am. Ass'n of Univ. Women, Graduating to a Pay Gap: The Earnings of Women and Men One Year After College 
Graduation 1 (Oct. 2012), available at 

J1ttp;//W'.~.aau.w. .. Qrg/f!les:'.2Q.1..3/Q2J.gr.<i.o.vali!U(:1Q:tl:.llfil':g1l!l.:1b..e.:en.minilS:ll.twom.en:.a.o.d.:m.c.!l:o.ne.:YQ.i.lI:ilft~~Cl11!.e.ge:grau.u.a.ti.on,p.df.. 
19 Id. at 20 fig.10. 
20 NWLC, How the Wage Gap Hurts Women and Families (Apr. 2013), available at 

httD.://www.nw!c. .. o.r,gfsi.teW.:dc.fl;)u!t/filc.s/.ll.~1f.s/JlQW_tb.<u'l.l.1ge_go1LbJ1r!u11.o.m.c.n,. D.cif.. 

22 50 YEARS AND COUNTING: TH f UNFINISHED BUSINESS OF ACHIEVING FAIR PAY 



NirilONi\l WOMEN'S Ll\W CENTER 

21 NWLC calculations based on CPS ASEC 2012, supra note 16, Table Frq~~or, available at !mp:/ iwww.census gov/cps/data/cpstablecreator html. 
22 Sarah Jane Glynn, Ctr. for Am. Progress, The New Breadwinners: 2010 Update: Rates of Women Supporting Their Families Economlcally Increased 

Since 2007, at 2 (Apr. 2012), avallable at http· !/www americiillJ21'.Qfress org/wp·conteot/uQ!Qa.Qs/js>ues/2012/04/pdfibreadwinners pdf. Primary 
breadwinners earn as much or more than their partners, or they are their family's sole earner. 

23 Id. 
24 Wendy Wang, Kim Parker & Paul Taylor, Pew Research Ctr., Breadwinner Moms: Mothers Are the Sole or Primary Provider in Four-in-Ten Households 

with Children; Public Conflicted About the Growing Trend 1 (May 2013), available at 
hUp://www pewsocialtrend<; org/tile'i/2013/05/Breadwinner morns final pc!I. 

25 In married couples in the bottom ioco.me quintile of all families, nearly 70 percent of working wives are primary breadwinners, earning as much or more 
than their husbands, compared to just over 33 percent of working wives in the top income quintile. Glynn, supra note 22, at 3 fig.2. 

26 How the Wage Gap Hurts Women and Fam/lies, supra note 20. 
27 John F. Kennedy: Remarks Upon Signing the Equal Pay Act, June 10, 1963. The American Presidency Project, 

IJttp;fLWWW.PfeSjdi:ncy,w::.sll .. e.dLJLwsJ.?pi.rJ.::.9261 (last visited June 4, 2013). 
28 Perry & Gundersen, supra note 2, at 154. 
29 Id. 
30 Seeid. 
31 417 U.S. 188, 205 (1974). 
32 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbl.39 & tbl.11: Employed Persons by Detailed Occupation, Sex, Race, 

and Hispanic or Latino Ethnicity, hltri.;ffw.11-.:w.,bJ§ .. gQY}J;P.s/C.P.ll<l.aJ:lJ. .. pdf (last visited June 5, 2013). Of the 25 detailed occupations with the lowest 
median weekly earnings for full-time workers, 17 are majority women, 13 of which are about two-thirds or more women. These occupations all have 
median weekly earnings for full-time workers of $460 or less. Share of women in each occupation is for all employed workers. 

33 Id. Of the 25 detailed occupations with the highest median weekly earnings for full-time workers, only two are majority women. These occupations all 
have median weekly earnings for full-time workers above $1,350. 

34 NWLC, Explaining the Wage Gap (Apr. 2013), available at t1t!Jl.;/hY~1. .. owJ.c.,.Qig/Sile.sl.,1.fila.uJ.l/filesLP1:l.f'1.Le~)l)a.inin1LtM.-"'lllge_gaJ.) .. plJf. 
35 Equal Pay Act of 1963, supra note 3, at 15 (statement of Hon. W. Willard Wirtz, Secretary of Labor). 
36 NWLC, Sex Stereotypes: How They Hurt Women in the Workplace - and in the Wallet (Jan. 2013), available at 

b1tp;ffY.10.Yw .. n.wl.c. .. orW:isite.sL.demw.l:!Lf.i.le.s/J.l.t1.f.$f_s.uJ1s.J:ac.Lsl:le.eL-.Jie.x.....s<ern!1:1.Y.fle.s_Ql.3.0 .. 2QJJ..pdf. 
37 Brief Amici Curiae of the American Civil Liberties Union and National Women's Law Center, et al., in Support of Respondents at 18, Wal-Mart Stores, 

Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011) (citation omitted). 
38 No. 11 Civ. 3743, 2013 WL 452913, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 2013). 
39 803 F. Supp. 259, 293 (N.D. Cal. 1992). 
40 549 F. Supp. 922, 940 (D. Md. 1982). 
41 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbls.11, 39. Share of women in each occupation is for all employed 

workers. NWLC examined all detailed occupations for which median weekly earnings were available for 2012. The "highest-wage occupations" are 
defined as the 25 occupations that have the highest total median weekly earnings for full-time workers. The "lowest-wage occupations" are the 25 oc­
cupations that have the lowest total median weekly earnings for full-time workers. 

42 Id. 
43 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbl.39. Annual salaries assume 52 weeks of pay. 
44 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbls.11, 39. 
45 David Beede et al., U.S. Dep't of Commerce, ESA Issue Brief #04-11, Women in STEM: A Gender Gap to Innovation 4 (Aug. 2011), available at 

b.ttp;fLW\'1;\l .. ll.S<.l,.QQ.C,.gQY.f.Sitm;,/lie.ff.l.JJl:V.!ile.~Lrn.PQ!ls/Q.O.Ql!.ffi!'i.D.t§/.WQffi!J.O.imi.te.mag<JJ.).tQ.LrJ.[lQJ!.i.11l9JJ8.3.:t.:tJ.l.tlf. 
46 Id. at 11 n.8. 
47 Id. at 2. 
48 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbls.11, 39. The median weekly earnings of all wage and salary 

workers are $768. 
49 Explaining the Wage Gap, supra note 34; Am. Ass'n of Univ. Women, The Simple Truth About the Gender Pay Gap 8 (2013), available at 

b.ttp;fLY.10.Y.l!J!'1'lf.l.!JW.,Qrg!.fi!es/2Q13LQ.2/T11e,Si.mpJ.11.Ji11.th:2SH3...mH. 
50 Advisory Comm. on Occupational Safety & Health, U.S. Dep't of Labor, Women in the Construction Workplace: Providing Equitable Safety and Health 

Protection (June 1999), available athttp://vrowosha.gov1doc/accsh/haswjcformal html (explaining that continued isolation, sexual discrimination, 
and harassment created a hostile environment and affected the safety of construction worksites); see also Phyllis Kernoff Mansfield et al., The Job 
Climate for Women in Traditionally Male Blue-collar Occupations, 25 Sex Roles: J. Res. 63, 76 (1991) (explaining that women in nontraditional occupa­
tions face high levels of sexual harassment and sex discrimination, which is particularly problematic because skills in these occupations "usually are 
acquired during apprenticeships or on the job, and are dependent on help and support from coworkers"). 

51 442 F.3d 661 (8th Cir. 2006). 
52 548 U.S. 53 (2006). 
53 542 U.S.129, 134-35 (2004). 
54 Disparate Treatment In 21st Century Hiring Decisions: Meeting of the U.S. Equal Emp't Opportunity Comm 'n (2011) [hereinafter Disparate Treatment 

in 21st Century Hiring Decisions] (written testimony of Marc Bendick, Jr., Ph.D., Economist, Bendick and Egan Economic Consultants, Inc.) (citation 
omitted), available at http://www.eeoc gov/eeoc/meetings/6-22-1'1./bendick.cfm. 

55 Id. 
56 See Advisory Comm. on Occupational Safety & Health, supra note 50 (reporting on inadequate training for women in the construction industry); Nat'I 

Coal. for Women & Girls in Educ. & Nat'I Coal. on Women, Jobs & Job Training, Education.Data Show Gender Gap In Career Preparation 3 (Mar. 2013), 
available at bttp://Y.10,yw nwlc,org/sites/default/iiles/pdfs/ncwge report on georler gap jo career preparation pdf (supporting policy changes that 
will "challenge[] educational institutions to address the barriers that women and girls face in entering nontraditional fields, such as sexual llarassment 
in the classroom, bias in career recruitment, counseling, or mentorship, and a lack of access to appropriate tools or facilities"). 

57 Id. at 2 & fig.2. 
58 Id. 
59 Philip N. Cohen, Devaluing and Revaluing Women's Work, Huffington Post: The Blog(Feb.1, 2010, 9:38 AM), available at 

httP'//www h11ffingtoopost.com/philip·-n-cohen/devalqing .. and-revalujn~·W b 444~. 
60 Hegewisch & Matite, supra note 14. Female-dominated occupations are those that are at least 75 percent female. 
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61 NWLC calculations based on Bureau of Labor Statistics, Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: Characteristics of Minimum Wage 
Workers: 2012 [hereinafter CPS, Minimum Wage Workers 2012] tbl.1: Employed Wage and Salary Workers Pa id Hourly Rates with Earnings at or Below 
the Prevailing Federal Minimum Wage by Selected Characteristics. 2012 Annual Averages. http://www bis goy/cps/mjnwage2012tbls htm 
(last updated Feb. 26, 2013). This is true for both women 16 and older (64 percent) and 25 and older (66 percent). 

62 Wider Opportunities for Women , Gender Equity, http://www wowonline org/genclerequjty (last visited June 4, 2013) . 

63 Cohen, supra note 59. 
64 Compare Summary Report for:37-2011.00 -Janitors and Cleaners, Except Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners, O*NET Online, 

bltp· /(www onetonline org/ljnk/summary/37-2011 00 (last updated 2010) (describing duties of janitors and cleaners), with Summary Report for: 37-
2012.00 - Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners, O*NET Online, http·//w11tw onetonHne ote/ljnk/s11mmary/ 37-201 2 00 (last updated 2010) (describing 

duties of maids and housekeeping cleaners). 
65 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbls.11, 39. The overall median weekly wage for janitors and building 

cleaners in 2012 was $484. For maids and housekeeping cleaners. it was $399. 
66 Hegewisch & Matite, supra note 14. 
67 NWLC calculations based on CPS, Minimum Wage Workers 2012. supra note 61, tbl.1. 
68 NWLC calculations based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbl.11; see NWLC, Fair Pay for Women Requires Increasing the Mini­

mum Wage and Tipped Minimum Wage (Mar. 2013), available at lltlll.J.J_\!lil.'WJl\Y.l.C,Q.r.g/_sili<SL.d.efault/Jile.s/Ddfsllninim.umwaze~he.etm.arci1.lldf. 

69 NWLC calculat ions based on CPS Tables: 2012 Annual Averages, supra note 15, tbl.3: Employment Status of the CiviHan Non institutional Population 
by Age, Sex, and Race, ht1Jl.;/h<111>¥ •. b.l.S .. IZ.QY/c.rJ.s!cm.aatQ3.Qd.f (last visited Mar. 1, 2013) (African-American women); id. tbl.4: Employment Status of the 
Hispanic or Latino Population by Age and Sex, t1t tp:/ Lwww .. b.t~.go.\IJ.cQS/Cll.Sllilt.0.1: .. 0.cif: (last visited Mar. 1, 2013) (Hispanic women). 

70 NWLC calculat ions based on CPS, Minimum Wage Workers 2012. supra note 61, tbl.1. 
71 Id. tbl.8: Employed Wage and Sa lary Workers Paid Hourly Rates with Earnings at or Below the Prevailing Federal Minimum Wage by Marital Status, Age, 

and Sex, 2012 Annual Averages, J111.r.l;//www.bJ.~.g,oy/cp_:;Lminwai:e2.Ql21bls.tJ.tm (last visited June 4 , 2013). Most women making minimum wage do 
not have a spouse's income to rely on, including more than three-quarters of women age 16 and older and 59 percent of women over 25 earning the 
minimum wage. Fair Pay for Women Requires Increasing the Minimum Wage and Tipped Minimum Wage, supra note 68. 

72 Explaining the Wage Gap, supra note 34; Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey, supra note 6. In 2012, women 16 and older were 
46.9 percent of the labor force. 

73 In dual-income households wi th chi ldren where both parents are working, women spend one hour and forty-three minutes on child care for every 
hour that fathers spend. NWLC calcu lations based on Kim Parker & Wendy Wang, Pew Research Ctr., Modern Parenthood: Roles of Moms and Dads 
Converge as They Balance Work and Family 4, tbl. : How Dual-Income Couples Divide Their Time (Mar. 2013), available at 

btlP;//\'IWW,Pe.vtl>ocialtrend.s.org/_file.s/2.Q'.l.3/Q3/fJNAUnol.!ern_parentbooci_Q3-2Q13.Pdf. 
74 NWLC calculations based on U.S. Census Bureau, America 's Families and Living Arrangements: 2012, at tbl.F2: Family Households, By Type, Age of 

Own Children. and Educationa l Atta inment of Householder: 2012, hltr.l.;//.11t:WW.Cll.!lS.\!.S.,gQ.Y/llll!.).:;/f.;;im..iU.e.s/.d.ata/.cJlS2Q12.hlml (last updated Nov. 13, 
2012). There are over 2.4 mill ion famil ies with children under 18 headed by men and nearly 8.9 million families with chi ldren under 18 headed by 
women. 

75 U.S. Equal Emp't Opportunity Comm'n, Not ice 915.002, Enforcement Guidance: Unlawful Disparate Treatment of Workers with Caregiving 
Responsibilities (May 23, 2007), available at _b.ttp_;/}_\~{\Y.W&ll.Q.C.gQY}JlQ.ticY!dQCS/ClolLC!:i.liingJ1tm!. 

76 Shelley J. Correll , Stephen Benard & In Paik, Getting a Job: Is There a Motherhood Penalty?, 112 Am. J. Soc. 1297, 1316-23 (Mar. 2007), available at 

b.tlD;//gendll.r.s.tanfQr.\1.e.dJJ/site.:;/Q.efll.Wtl'fi!es/!!lQ1!:JJ:l.r.r1Qol!M11aJ.\Y_Q,Qdf. 
77 Id. at 1332-33. 
78 The Wage Gap Over Time, supra note 1. 
79 Michelle Budig, Parenthood Exacerbates the Gender Pay Gap, The Hill's Congress Blog (Sept. 30, 2010, 12:24 PM), 

b..ttP.://lb.e.!1i!.!.CQm/.lllOl1.Sf.CQD.l(te.SS:b.!.olUec.QDll.!11Y:ll.:.b.u.Qge.1Llll8.G.9.:Dar.e.ntb.QQl.1:C~6.C.CLbate.s:lb.C:JleJlQCI:P.~Y:l!O.Q. 
80 Id . 
81 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(k) (2006); see also NWLC, The Pregnant Workers Fairness Act: Making Room for Pregnancy on the Job (May 2013), available at 

b.ttD:/Lw\mn..wi.Q,.OIUsitel>/.Jie1au!U1iles/JJ.df.S/PJ.egrn.rntwrKe.rsfaim.es.sfactsbe.e.Lw_1mLn.umb.e.r..J.ll1f. 
82 The Pregnant Workers Fairness Act: Making Room for Pregnancy on the Job, supra note 81. 
83 NWLC et al., Why We Need the Pregnant Workers Fairness Act: Stories of Real Women (Sept. 2012), available at 

b.ttD;//w;w,nw:!.c.o.r,gLsite.s/l.!el auJt/liles/ndf.$/w.bY_w.e_oeed_th1Lll.r.egn;;nLwQrl\ern_faimes.s_acL_stories_QfJeaLwQmru1.ncif. 
84 Paid Family and Medical Leave, Nat' I Pa rtnership for Women & Families, 

http·//www nat 1ona[partnershjp Qrg/site/PageSerye(?pa gename=jssues work pa jdleaye (last visited June 4, 2013). 
85 Aot Assocs., Inc .. Family and Medical Leave in 2012: Technical Report 19 (Feb. 2013), available at 

htto·flwww dol goy/asp/evaiuar jootfmla/ FMLATechnicalReport pdf. 
86 Nat' I Partnership for Women & Families, Paid Sick Days Protect the Economic Security of Working Families (June 2011), available at 

http·flpaidsickdavs nat jonaloartner'ihio org/sjte/DocSerye r/ PSD Econ Securjty FINAL pdf?doc[D=7831. 
87 See Paid Sick Days Campaign, Nat'I Partnership for Women & Families, 

http://W\Y.W nat1onalpartnersbip.org/site/ PageServer?pagename=jssues campaigns paidsickdays (last visited June 4, 2013). 
88 See Susan J. Lambert & Julia R. Hen ly, Univ. of Chi., Work Scheduling Study: Managers ' Strategies for Balancing Business Requirements with Employee 

Needs: Manager Survey Results, 25, 28 (May 2010), available at 
http://ssascbolarsucbicagQ.edu /work-scheduling-study/files/unjy of chjcago work scheduling manager reoort 6 25 pdf (reporting that retail hours 
are typically posted less than a week in advance and that nearly 80 percent of managers agree or strongly agree with the statement, "I give more hours 
to sales associates with greater availaoility"); Stephanie Luce & Naoki Fujita , Discounted Jobs: How Retailers Sell Workers Short 7-9 (2012), available 
at btto· (/retailacJ jonpro ject org/vm-content/uploacls '2012/01 / FINAL RAP pdf (reporting that most New York retail workers receive their schedu les 
with a week or less of notice. that 40 percent of workers must Ile availaole at least sometimes for "call in" shifts, and that "managers sometimes 
pun ish workers for requesting shift changes by reducing overall work hours"). 

89 Rest. Opportunities Ctr. of N.Y. & The N.Y.C. Rest. Indus. Coa l .. Waiting on Equality: The Role and Impact of Gender in the New York City Restaurant 
Industry 15 (July 2010), available at http'//rQcunited org/tiles/2010/07/reoorts wa jtjng-011-eo ro le-Qf-gencler-jn-nyc-resHndust rv pd! ("[W]omen with 
whom we spoke said that they witnessed coworkers who were fired or whose schedu les were reduced for having to leave work to care for a sick child 
who was sent home from school or daycare."). 

90 See id. ("Some working mothers with whom we spoke said tllat their employers expressed concern that their child care needs were too 'burdensome' 
to allow them to perform their work satisfactorily, yet the same concerns were not applied to their male coworkers who also had child care responsibil ­
ity. "); Luce & Fujita, supra note 88, at 9, 14 (reporting that managers retaliate aga inst retai l workers who request sh ift changes by reducing their hours 
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(noting that part-time retail worker' can have difnculty securing child care due to their erratic scl1edulcs and ttiat ·workers nsk losing their jobs or being 
assigned fewer hours in the fut-Jre if they are unavailable"). 

91 155 Cong. Rec. 343 44 (2009'1 !statement of Sen. Ed'Nard KennEdy). 
92 In both Equal Pay Act and Title Vil c!aimr;, employers can defend c.gainst liability by showing that t11ey used a bona fide seniority system. a bona fide 

merit system, or a system triat bases ea·nings on the qudlity or quantity of production. 2'1 U.S.C. § 206(d)i1J (2003); .i2 C.S.C. § 2000e-2(h) {2006). 
93 Ariane Hegewisch, Claudia IN"li2mo. 8, Robert Drngo, Inst. for Women's Policy Researcr1. "a>' S1·r-recy c-1d • vagc Di~crimi.-.~ti·on 2 1J1 •• ie 2:.:'..1J. available 
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15.0793.01000 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

Introduced by 

HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Representatives Oversen, Haak, Mooney, Muscha, Schneider, Wallman 

Senators Heckaman, Nelson, Oban 

1 A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota 

2 Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women ; to amend and reenact sections 

3 34-06.1-03, 34-06.1-05, 34-06.1-06, and 34-06.1-07 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating 

4 to unequal pay for men and women; and to provide a penalty. 

5 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

6 SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-03 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

7 amended and reenacted as follows: 

8 34-06.1-03. Prohibition of discrimination. 

9 i_ NeAn employer may not discriminate between employees in the same establishment 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

on the basis of gender, by paying wages to any employee in any occupation in this 

state at a rate less than the rate at which the employer pays any employee of the 

opposite gender for comparable work on jobs wflieflthat have comparable 

requirements relating to skill , effort, and responsibility. Differentials that are paid 

pursuant to established seniority systems, job descriptive systems, merit increase 

systems, or executive training programs, and which do not discriminate on the basis of 

gender, are not within this prohibition . 

17 2. An employer w!;ethat is paying a wage differential in violation of this chapter may not, 

18 in order to comply with this chapter, reduce the wage rates of any employee. Ne 

19 ~ 8 person may not cause or attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against any 

20 employee in violation of this chapter. Ne 

21 4. An employer may nQ1 discharge or discriminate against aRyan employee by reason of 

22 

23 

any action taken by the employee to invoke or assist in any manner the enforcement 

of this chapter, except when proven that the act of the employee is fraudulent. 
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. . . ~ Ad"~ l~-bl\ ~ 
5. An unlawful employment practice occurs under this section when a < \) ~ 

compensation decision or other practice is adopted : when an individ 

subject to a discriminatory compensation decision or other practice: u1 wnen an 

individual is affected by application of a discriminatory compensation decision or other 

practice. including each time wages . benefits. or other compensation is paid. resulting 

in whole or in part from such a decision or other practice. 

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06 .1-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows : 

34-06.1-05. Collection of unpaid wages and other relief - District court -

Commissioner. 

11 1.,. AftyAn employer wl=\ethat violates the provisions of section 34-06.1-03 is liable to the 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

employee or employees affected in the amount of their unpaid wages ... and in 

instances of willful violat ion in employee suits up to an additional equal amc \ l ~ Jii~.I.\~ ~9 

liquidated damages. /\ction to recover such liability may be maintained in ai 

competent jurisdiction by any one or more employees for and in behalf of H 

employee or group of employees and other employees similarly situated. T 

17 i.. Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a discriminatory p 

18 

19 

under section 34-06.1-03 may file a complaint of discriminatory practice wi1 

commissioner. 

20 ~ Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

practice under section 34-06.1 -03 may bring an action in the district court in the 

judicial district in which the unlawful employment practice is alleged to have been 

committed. in the district in which the records relevant to the alleged unlawful 

employment practice are maintained and administered. or in the district in which the 

individual would have worked or obtained credit were it not for the alleged unlawful 

employment practice. In an action brought under this chapter. the court t ! l ~ S \11--o~:~~ 
shall , in cases of violation in addition to any judgment awarded to the pie 

plaintiffs, allow a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid by the defendant, ' 

the action . 
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1 4. An agreement by any suehsm employee to work for less than the wage to which 

2 

3 

~the employee is entitled under this chapter tsdoes not a bar to any suehan action 

or te-a voluntary wage restitution of the full amount due under this chapter. 

4 Q.,. At the written request of afiYan employee claiming to have been paid less than the 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

wage to which the employee may be entitled under this chapter, the commissioner 

may bring any legal action necessary ffion behalf of the employee to collect ~~ 

claim for unpaid wages. The commissioner may-is not re required to pay the filing fee , 

or other costs , in connection with St::teftsm action under this section. The commissioner 

has the power tomay join various claims against the employer in one claim for relief. In 

proceedings under this section , the court may order other affirmative action as 

appropriate, including reinstatement of employees discharged in violation of this 

chapter. The commissioner has the power tomay petition aRYthe district court ef­

oompetent jurisdiction to restrain violations of section 34-06.1-03, and for stteA-

affirmative relief as the court may deem appropriate , including restoration H 14-o~.l{-\Q. (11) 

wages and reinstatement of employees, consistent with the purpose of th i 

16 §... If a person elects to bring an action in district court under this chapter, the 

17 commissioner shall dismiss any administrative action pending before the 

18 commissioner which is based on the same alleged unlawful employment p 

19 SECTION 3. A new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Cod 

20 and enacted as follows : 

21 Prima facje case. 

22 If an employee claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment practice under 

23 subsection 1 of section 34-06.1-03 brings an action in district court and establishes a disparity 

24 exists between wages received by at least two employees of different sexes when the 

25 employees were performing comparable work on jobs that have comparable requirements , the 

26 burden shifts to the employer to rebut this prima facie case . 

27 SECTION 4. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-06 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

28 amended and reenacted as follows: 

29 34-06.1-06. Statute of limitations. 

30 Court action under this chapter may be commenced no later than two years after the clatm-

31 for relief ooeursunlawful employment practice occurred. However. if a complaint of a 
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1 discriminatory practice is first filed with the commissioner. this period of limitation for bringing an 

2 action in the district court is tolled until the commissioner dismisses the complaint or issues a 

3 

4 

5 

6 

written probable cause determination. 

SECTION 5. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1 -07 of the North Dakota Century 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

34-06.1-07. Records and reporting. 

7 E>refyAn employer subject to this chapter shall make, keep, and maintain ~ 

8 the wages and wage rates, job classifications, and other terms and conditions of E 

0hw~\~ -\u 
H -CQ.q-\q C's~ 

9 the personsindividuals employed by the employer~~ shall preserve such recon .. _ ·- · --·- ·· 

10 periods of time.as long as the employee is employed and two years thereafter: and shall make 

11 such reports therefromfrom the records as the commissioner prescribes. 
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15.0793.01003 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Boschee 

January 29, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "section 34-05-05 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after the first "to" insert "duties of the labor commissioner and" 

Page 1, after line 5 insert: 

"SECTION 1. Section 34-05-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and 
enacted as follows: 

34-05-05. Labor commissioner - Notification of state agencies. 

If the commissioner determines or becomes aware a district court has 
determined an employer committed a discriminatory practice under chapter 14-02.4 or 
section 34-06.1-03, or the commissioner becomes aware of a determination a North 
Dakota employer committed a comparable discriminatory practice under federal law. 
the commissioner shall inform the head of each executive branch agency, including 
institutions of higher education under the control of the state board of higher education, 
that the prohibited act occurred ." 

Renumber accordingly 
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15.0793.01002 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Sukut 

· January f9, 2_fff 5 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "job descriptive" 

Page 1, line 14, after the second "systems" insert "that measure earnings by quantity or quality 
of production" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "increase" 

Page 1, line 15, overstrike "executive training programs" and insert immediately thereafter "g 
bona fide factor other than gender, such as education. training. or experience" 

Page 2, line 17, remove "Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a 
discriminatory practice" 

Page 2, remove lines 18 and 19 

Page 2, line 20, remove "3." 

Page 3, line 1, replace "4." with "~" 

Page 3, line 4, replace "5." with "4." 

Page 3, line 16, replace "6." with "5. " 

Page 3, line 17, remove "administrative" 

Page 3, line 21 , after "case" insert "-Affirmative defense" 

Page 3, after line 21 , insert ".1." 

Page 3, line 23, remove "a disparity" 

Page 3, remove line 24 

Page 3, line 25, replace "employees were performing comparable work on jobs that have 
comparable requirements" with "the employer pays different wages to employees of the 
opposite gender and the employees perform comparable work on jobs requiring 
comparable skill, effort. and responsibility" 

Page 3, after line 26, insert: 

"2. If a prima facie case is established under subsection 1, the employer may 
avoid liability by establishing the wage disparity is justified by one of the 
following affirmative defenses: 

.§..:. The wages were set under a seniority system that does not 
discriminate on the basis of gender: 

~ The wages were set under a merit system that does not discriminate 
on the basis of gender; 

c. The wages were set under a system that measures earnings by 
quantity or quality of production which does not discriminate on the 
basis of gender: or 
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d. The wages were set under a bona fide factor other than sex. such as 
education. training . or experience which do not discriminate on the 
basis of gender." 

Page 4, line 2, remove "dismisses the complaint or issues a" 

Page 4, line 3, replace "written probable cause determination" with "completes an investigation 
or otherwise notifies the complainant the commissioner will be taking no further action 
on the complaint" 

Renumber accordingly 
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15.0793.01002 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

Introduced by 

00-YlJ..ql 21Dtb ~ 
Vkicl<. IJ__p VJ{ aMc~ 

HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Representatives Oversen , Haak, Mooney, Muscha, Schneider, Wallman 

Senators Heckaman, Nelson, Oban 

1 A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota 

2 Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women ; to amend and reenact sections 

3 34-06.1-03, 34-06.1-05, 34-06.1-06, and 34-06.1-07 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating 

4 to unequal pay for men and women ; and to provide a penalty. 

5 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

6 SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-03 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

7 amended and reenacted as follows: 

8 34-06.1-03. Prohibition of discrimination. 

9 .1. NeAn employer may not discriminate between employees in the same establishment 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

on the basis of gender, by paying wages to any employee in any occupation in this 

state at a rate less than the rate at which the employer pays any employee of the 

opposite gender for comparable work on jobs w!Tieftthat have comparable 

requirements relating to skill , effort, and responsibility. Differentials that are paid 

pursuant to established seniority systems, job descriptive systems that measure 

earnings by quantity or quality of production, merit increase systems, or executhw 

training programsa bona fide factor other than gender, such as education, training, or 

experience, and which do not discriminate on the basis of gender, are not within this 

prohibition . 

19 2. An employer vffiethat is paying a wage differential in violation of this chapter may not, 

20 in order to comply with this chapter, reduce the wage rates of any employee. Ne 

21 3. 6 person may not cause or attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against any 

22 employee in violation of this chapter. Ne 
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1 4. An employer may not discharge or discriminate against af\yan employee by reason of 

2 

3 

any action taken by the employee to invoke or assist in any manner the enforcement 

of this chapter, except when proven that the act of the employee is fraudulent. 

4 ~ An unlawful employment practice occurs under this section when a discriminatory 

5 compensation decision or other practice is adopted: when an individual becomes 

6 subject to a discriminatory compensation decision or other practice: or when an 

7 individual is affected by application of a discriminatory compensation decision or other 

8 practice, including each time wages, benefits, or other compensation is paid, resulting 

9 in whole or in part from such a decision or other practice. 

10 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

11 amended and reenacted as follows : 

12 34-06.1-05. Collection of unpaid wages and other relief - District court -

13 Commissioner. 

14 i ArtyAn employer wl:Tethat violates the provisions of section 34-06.1-03 is liable to the 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

employee or employees affected in the amount of their unpaid wages ... and in 

instances of willful violation in employee suits up to an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages. Action to recover such liability may be maintained in any court of 

competent jurisdiction by any one or more employees for and in behalf of the 

employee or group of employees and other employees similarly situated. The 

20 2. Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a discriminatory practice 

21 

22 

under section 34 06.1 03 may file a complaint of discriminatory practice with the 

comm1ss1oner. 

23 a_ Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

practice under section 34-06.1-03 may bring an action in the district court in the 

judicial district in which the unlawful employment practice is alleged to have been 

committed. in the district in which the records relevant to the alleged unlawful 

employment practice are maintained and administered, or in the district in which the 

individual would have worked or obtained credit were it not for the alleged unlawful 

employment practice. In an action brought under this chapter, the court in such action 

shall , in cases of violation in addition to any judgment awarded to the plaintiff or 
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plaintiffs, allow a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid by the defendant, and costs of 

the action. 

3 4:-3. An agreement by any suchan employee to work for less than the wage to which 

4 

5 

stfffithe employee is entitled under this chapter tsdoes not a bar to any suchan action 

or te-a voluntary wage restitution of the full amount due under this chapter. 

6 M . At the written request of aftYan employee claiming to have been paid less than the 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

wage to which the employee may be entitled under this chapter, the commissioner 

may bring any legal action necessary ffion behalf of the employee to collect stfffithe 

claim for unpaid wages. The commissioner may~ not ee required to pay the filing fee, 

or other costs , in connection with stfffian action under this section. The commissioner 

has the power tomay join various claims against the employer in one claim for relief. In 

proceedings under this section , the court may order other affirmative action as 

appropriate, including reinstatement of employees discharged in violation of this 

chapter. The commissioner has the po·.ver tomay petition aftYthe district court ef.­

competent jurisdiction to restrain violations of section 34-06.1-03, and for St:teA­

affirmative relief as the court may deem appropriate, including restoration of unpaid 

wages and reinstatement of employees, consistent with the purpose of this chapter. 

18 e:-5. If a person elects to bring an action in district court under this chapter. the 

19 commissioner shall dismiss any administrati·1e action pending before the 

20 commissioner which is based on the same alleged unlawful employment practice. 

21 SECTION 3. A new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

22 and enacted as follows : 

23 Prima facie case - Affirmative defense. 

24 _ _ 1. If an employee claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment practice under 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

subsection 1 of section 34-06.1-03 brings an action in district court and establishes a­

disparity exists behveen wages received by at least two employees of different sexes 

v1hen the employees were performing comparable work on jobs that have comparable 

reguirementsthe employer pays different wages to employees of the opposite gender 

and the employees perform comparable work on jobs requiring comparable skill. effort, 

and responsibility. the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this prima facie case. 
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1 2. If a prima facie case is established under subsection 1. the employer may avoid 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

liability by establishing the wage disparity is justified by one of the following affirmative 

defenses: 

a. The wages were set under a seniority system that does not discriminate on the 

basis of gender: 

b. The wages were set under a merit system that does not discriminate on the basis 

of gender: 

c. The wages were set under a system that measures earnings by quantity or 

quality of production which does not discriminate on the basis of gender: or 

d. The wages were set under a bona fide factor other than sex. such as education . 

11 training. or experience which do not discriminate on the basis of gender. 

12 SECTION 4. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-06 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

13 amended and reenacted as follows: 

14 34-06.1-06. Statute of limitations. 

15 Court action under this chapter may be commenced no later than two years after the clatm--

16 for relief occursunlawful employment practice occurred. However. if a complaint of a 

17 discriminatory practice is first filed with the commissioner. this period of limitation for bringing an 

18 action in the district court is tolled until the commissioner dismisses the complaint or issues a 

19 written probable cause determinationcompletes an investigation or otherwise notifies the 

20 complainant the commissioner will be taking no further action on the complaint. 

21 SECTION 5. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-07 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

22 amended and reenacted as follows: 

23 34-06.1-07. Records and reporting. 

24 EvefyAn employer subject to this chapter shall make, keep, and maintain Stt€fl records of 

25 the wages and wage rates, job classifications, and other terms and cond itions of employment of 

26 the personsindividuals employed by the employer-;-600~ shall preserve such records for sttefl-

27 periods of time.as long as the employee is employed and two years thereafter: and shall make 

28 such reports therefromfrom the records as the commissioner prescribes. 
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Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

Introduced by 

HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Representatives Oversen , Haak, Mooney, Muscha, Schneider, Wallman 

Senators Heckaman, Nelson, Oban 

1 A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota 

2 Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women ; to amend and reenact sections 

3 34-06.1-03, 34-06.1-05, 34-06.1-06, and 34-06.1-07 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating 

4 to unequal pay for men and women ; and to provide a penalty. 

5 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

6 SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-03 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

7 amended and reenacted as follows: 

8 34-06.1-03. Prohibition of discrimination. 

9 .1. NeAn employer may not discriminate between employees in the same establishment 

10 on the basis of gender, by paying wages to any employee in any occupation in this 

11 state at a rate less than the rate at which the employer pays any employee of the 

12 opposite gender for comparable work on jobs wAieflthat have comparable 

13 requirements relating to skill, effort, and responsibility. Differentials that are paid 

14 pursuant to established seniority systems, job dcseripti'»'C systems that measure 

15 earnings by quantity or quality of production, merit increase systems, or cxceutivc 

16 training pregramsa bona fide factor other than gender, such as education . training, or 

17 experience, and which do not discriminate on the basis of gender, are not within this 

18 prohibition . 

19 2. An employer wi:lethat is paying a wage differential in violation of this chapter may not, 

20 in order to comply with this chapter, reduce the wage rates of any employee. Ne 

21 ~ 6 person may not cause or attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against any 

22 employee in violation of this chapter. Ne 
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1 4. An employer may not discharge or discriminate against afl}'an employee by reason of 

2 

3 

any action taken by the employee to invoke or assist in any manner the enforcement 

of this chapter, except when proven that the act of the employee is fraudulent. 

4 5. An unlawful employment practice occurs under this section when a discriminatory 

5 compensation decision or other practice is adopted: when an individual becomes 

6 subject to a discriminatory compensation decision or other practice: or when an 

7 individual is affected by application of a discriminatory compensation decision or other 

8 practice, including each time wages, benefits, or other compensation is paid. resulting 

9 in whole or in part from such a decision or other practice . 

10 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

11 amended and reenacted as follows: 

12 34-06.1-05. Collection of unpaid wages and other relief· District court -

13 Commissioner. 

14 .1_ AftyAn employer wfiethat violates the provisions of section 34-06.1-03 is liable to the 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

employee or employees affected in the amount of their unpaid wages ... and in 

instances of willful violation in employee suits up to an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages. Action to recover such liability may be maintained in any court of 

competent jurisdiction by any one or more employees for and in behalf of the 

employee or group of employees and other employees similarly situated. The 

20 2. Any one or more individuals elaiming to be aggrieved by a discriminatory praetiee 

21 

22 

under seetiee 34 06.1 03 may file a eemplaint of discriminatory practice Vv'ith the 

commissioner. 

23 3. Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

practice under section 34-06.1-03 may bring an action in the district court in the 

judicial district in which the unlawful employment practice is alleged to have been 

committed, in the district in which the records relevant to the alleged unlawful 

employment practice are maintained and administered, or in the district in which the 

individual would have worked or obtained credit were it not for the alleged unlawful 

employment practice. In an action brought under this chapter, the court in such action 

shall, in cases of violation in addition to any judgment awarded to the plaintiff or 
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/ plaintiffs, allow a reas&iiable attorney's fee to be paid by the defendant, and costs of 

~ the action . 

4.3. An agreement by any suchan employee to work for less than the wage to which 

sttefithe employee is entitled under this chapter tsdoes not a bar to any suchan action 

or te--a voluntary wage restitution of the full amount due under this chapter. 

6 &4. At the written request of tffiYan employee claiming to have been paid less than the 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

wage to which the employee may be entitled under this chapter, the commissioner 

may bring any legal action necessary ffion behalf of the employee to collect sttefithe 

claim for unpaid wages. The commissioner maylli not ee required to pay the filing fee, 

or other costs, in connection with sttefian action under this section. The commissioner 

has the power tomay join various claims against the employer in one claim for relief. In 

proceedings under this section, the court may order other affirmative action as 

appropriate, including reinstatement of employees discharged in violation of this 

chapter. The commissioner has the power tomay petition aRYthe district court et-­

competent jurisdiction to restrain violations of section 34-06.1-03, and for St:te!T­

affirmative relief as the court may deem appropriate, including restoration of unpaid 

wages and reinstatement of employees, consistent with the purpose of this chapter. 

If a person elects to bring an action in district court under this chapter, the eJ 
commissioner shall dismiss any administrative action pending before the r ~~~\is frtt1Utt 

20 commissioner which is based on the same alleged unlawful employment practice. 

21 SECTION 3. A new section to chapter 34-06. 1 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

22 

23 

and enacted as follows: 

Prima facie case - Affirmative defense. 

24 __ 1. If an employee claiming to be aggrieved by an unlawful employment practice under 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

subsection 1 of section 34-06.1-03 brings an action in district court and establishes e­

disparity exists between wages received by at least t\vo employees of di#erent sexes 

when the employees were performing comparable work on jobs that have comparable 

requirementsthe employer pays different wages to employees of the opposite gender 

and the employees pedorn1 comparable work on jobs requiring comparable skill, effort. 

and responsibility, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this prima facie case. 

Page No. 3 15.0793.01002 
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1 2. If a prima facie case is established under subsection 1. the employer may avoid 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

liability by establishing the wage disparity is justified by one of the following affirmative 

defenses: 

a. The wages were set under a seniority system that does not discriminate on the 

basis of gender: 

b. The wages were set under a merit system that does not. discriminate on the basis 

of gender: 

c. The wages were set under a system that measures earnings by quantity or 

quality of production which does not discriminate on the basis of gender: or 

d. The wages were set under a bona fide factor other than sex. such as education . 

11 training. or experience which do not discriminate on the basis of gender. 

12 SECTION 4. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06.1-06 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

13 amended and reenacted as follows : 

14 34-06.1-06. Statute of limitations. 

15 Court action under this chapter may be commenced no later than two years after the elatm-

16 for relief occursunlawful employment practice occurred. However. if a complaint of a 

17 discriminatory practice is first filed with the commissioner. this period of limitation for bringing an 

18 action in the district court is tolled until the commissioner dismisses the complaint or issues a 

19 written probable eause determinationcompletes an investigation or otherwise notifies the 

20 complainant the commissioner will be taking no further action on the complaint. 

21 SECTION 5. AMENDMENT. Section 34-06 .1-07 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

22 amended and reenacted as follows: 

23 34-06.1-07. Records and reporting. 

24 EvefyAn employer subject to this chapter shall make, keep, and maintain StlOO records of 

25 the wages and wage rates , job classifications, and other terms and conditions of employment of 

26 the personsindividuals employed by the employer,-aM~ shall preserve such records for Sttffi-

27 periods of time.as long as the employee is employed and two years thereafter: and shall make 

28 such reports therefromfrom the records as the commissioner prescribes. 

Page No. 4 15.0793.01002 



15.0793.01003 
Title. 

F~~,ztJIS' 
Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for f A 
Representative Boschee 

January 29, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "section 34-05-05 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after the first "to" insert "duties of the labor commissioner and" 

Page 1, after line 5 insert: 

"SECTION 1. Section 34-05-05 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and 
enacted as follows: 

34-05-05. Labor commissioner - Notification of state agencies. 

If the commissioner determines or becomes aware a district court has 
determined an employer committed a discriminatory practice under chapter 14-02.4 or 
section 34-06.1-03, or the commissioner becomes aware of a determination a North 
Dakota employer committed a comparable discriminatory practice under federal law, 
the commissioner shall inform the head of each executive branch agency, including 
institutions of higher education under the control of the state board of higher education , 
that the prohibited act occurred." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0793.01003 



34-05-05. Labor Commissioner - Notification of state agencies. 

Except as otherwise provided und er this sect ion, if the comm issioner determines or becomes aware a 

district court has determined an employer committed a discriminatory practice under chapter 14-02.4 

or section 34-06.1-03 or the commissioner becomes aware of a determination of a North Dakota 

Employer committed a comparable discriminatory practice under federal law, the commissioner shall 

inform the head of each executive branch agency, including institutions of higher education under the 

control of the state board of higher education that the prohibited act occurred. However t he 

commissioner is not req ui red t o provide notification under th is section if t he commissioner determ ines 

the employer has t aken corrective measures t o address discriminato ry pract ices or actions. 



15.0793.01004 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Keiser 

February 2, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1257 

Page 1, line 1, remove "create and enact a new section to chapter 34-06.1 of the North Dakota" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "Century Code, relating to unequal pay for men and women; to" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "job descriptive" 

Page 1, line 14, after the second "systems" insert "that measure earnings by quantity or quality 
of production" 

Page 1, line 14, overstrike "increase" 

Page 1, line 15, overstrike "executive training programs" and insert immediately thereafter"~ 
bona fide factor other than gender, such as education , training, or experience" 

Page 2, line 17, remove "Any one or more individuals claiming to be aggrieved by a 
discriminatory practice" 

Page 2, remove lines 18 and 19 

Page 2, line 20, remove "~" 

Page 3, line 1, replace "4." with"~" 

Page 3, line 4, replace"~" with "4." 

Page 3, line 16, replace "~" with "5." 

Page 3, line 17, remove "administrative" 

Page 3, remove lines 19 through 26 

Page 4, line 2, remove "dismisses the complaint or issues a" 

Page 4, line 3, replace "written probable cause determination" with "completes an investigation 
or otherwise notifies the complainant the commissioner will be taking no further action 
on the complaint" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0793.01004 
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Testimony - House Bill 1257 
Senate Industry, Business, and Labor Committee 

March 4, 201 5  

-# I 

Chairman Klein and members of the Senate Industry, Business, and Labor 

committee, my name is Kyl ie Oversen and I represent District 42 in Grand 

Forks. I am here to testify in support of HB 1 257,  which clarifies and expands 

North Dakota's existing equal pay statute. 

For your reference here, I am including the beginning sections of Chapter 34-

06. 1 ,  outl ining the pub l ic policy regarding equal pay :  

34.06. 1 -0 I - Declaration of public policy : The public policy of this state is 

declared to be that the practice of discriminating on the basis of sex by 

paying wages to employees of one sex at a lesser rate than the rate paid to 

employees of the opposite sex for comparable work on j obs which have 

comparable requirements unjustly discriminates against the person 

receiving the lesser rate; leads to low worker morale, high turnover, and 

frequent labor unrest; discourages workers paid at the lesser wage rates 

from training for higher level j obs; curtail s  employment opportunities, 

decreases workers' mobi l ity, and increases labor costs; impairs purchasing 

power and threatens the maintenance of an adequate standard of living by 

such workers and their famil ies; prevents optimum uti lization of the state's 

available labor resources; threatens the wel l-being of citizens of this state; 

and adversely affects the general wel fare. It is therefore declared to be the 

policy of this state through exercise of its police power to correct and, as 

rapidly as possible, to eliminate discriminatory wage practices based on 

sex. 

This first section was enacted in 1 965 and has not been amended since 

then. As you read the reasoning in this section on why unequal pay is 

harmful, you might think it is outdated or irrelevant. However, there has 

been recent research that shows that the wage gap stil l  exists across the 

country and is stil l  harmful for many of the same reasons. 
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Despite the enactment of equal pay laws in the 1 960's at the state and federal 

level ,  a significant gap remains between what men earn and what women earn, 

for equal work. These discrepancies cannot be simply explained away by 

differentials in education, experience, or performance. 

The wage gap is calculated by the difference in men's and women's median 

earnings. The calculations are based on data from the Census Bureau, the 

Department of Education, and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. The most recent 

data shows that in North Dakota, women earn only 70% of what men earn . 1 In 

real numbers, the 20 1 3  Census showed that the median earn ings of North 

Dakota men were up to $49,23 1 ,  an increase from $46,225 in 20 1 2 . For 

women, the median earnings increased from $34,43 8 to $3 5 ,549.2 That 

amount of take home pay that women lose out on significantly affects their 

abi l ity to care and provide for their fami l ies. 

HB 1 25 7  c leans up several sections of the equal pay statute. Throughout the 

bi l l ,  there are many minor changes for grammatical errors. On page one, 

section 1 ,  the new language c larifies the basis on which an employer may vary 

wage rates, including systems based on quantity or quality, merit, education, 

or experience. 

On page 2, subsection 5 of section 1 defines when an unlawful employment 

practice occurs, pursuant to this section. This is included here to c larify the 

statute of l imitations found later in the chapter. 

Also on page 2, section 2 allows an individual to bring a claim under this 

chapter in district court, which is current practice.  The new language simply 

clarifies which court may have j urisdiction. 

On page 3 ,  section 2,  subsection 5 al lows the commi ssioner of labor to 

dismiss an administrative action if an employee elects to bring the same claim 

1 The Wage Gap:  State Rankings 20 1 3 ,  National Women's Law Center, September 20 1 4 .  Available at www.nwlc.org; See 
also 1 The Gender Pay Gap: North Dakota, AAU W, September 20 1 4. Available at www.aauw.org. 

2 The Gender Pay Gap, Supra note I .  



before a district court. Also on page 3 ,  section 3 clarifies the statute of 

l imitations. This al lows an employee to bring a claim for rel ief, with a district 

court, two years after the unlawful practice occurred. Further, the added 

language states that i f  an employee decides to first file the complaint with the 

commissioner of labor, the time l imitation is tol led, or put on pause, while the 

commissioner investigates or dismisses the claim. 

F inally, section 4 amends the records requirements, stating that an employer 

must keep employee records for the duration of an emp loyee's career with that 

employer and for two years beyond that time. This al lows an employee to 

appropriately exercise his or her right to bring a claim within two years, as 

al lowed under the previous section. 

Overall ,  the changes to chapter 34.06- 1 are intended to clarify the existing 

language and to allow for better enforcement of the statute. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I urge to you favorably 

consider HB 1 257  and I would be happy to answer any questions that you 

have. 



•' 

----------------- - - ---

Industry, Business, and Labor Committee 
North Dakota State Senate 

March 4, 20 1 4  
House Bil l  1 25 7  

Mr. Chairman, Members o f  the Committee: 

My name is El len Chaffee. I live in Bismarck and worked for the State of 
North Dakota in the university system for 3 1  years, 1 969- 1 977 and 1 985  
through 200 8 .  I urge your support for House Bi l ls  1 25 7 .  

I am grateful fo r  the leadership opportunities the State o f  North Dakota 
afforded me and, l ike so many others in service to the State, I worked long 

and hard to fulfill that trust. I n  all of my roles, over all of those years, I 

encountered and experienced practices that treated women unfairly relative 
to men. Many times, an equitable salary for a single mother would enable 

her to further her education or care for her children instead of taking a 

second j ob.  It would lift a struggling two-income family into warmer, safer 

vehicles and l iving quarters. And in leadership positions, an equitable salary 
would recognize the very same qualities it recognizes in men and put her on 
a more level playing field as an advocate for her organization. All  of these 
benefits to women circle back and become benefits to the employer as wel l  
in  the form of retention and recruitment success. 

It is sti l l  true that a man who asks about his salary is seen as ambitious and 
self-confident, while  a woman is seen as - wel l ,  in less flattering ways. 
Moreover, the man is more l ikely to get the raise even when she does ask. 
That is one of the reasons I led two independent universities 75 miles apart 
for nine years for the same salary I would have made for serving j ust one of 
them. Some matters are cultural and cannot be addressed directly by law. 
What we can do, however, is create supportive conditions for both women 
and men to advance the cause of pay equity. These bills help do that, and I 
urge your support. 

Thank you. 

I . �  
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Halonen Lnw flies Lawsuit against Oil Services firm in North Dakota, Alleging Discrimination and 
Ucta!iation against Former Female Employee 

February 09 , 2015 02:45 PM Eastern Standard Time 

( .~ 

MINNEAPOLIS--(BUSINESS WIRE)--A woman who worked as an oil field pump operator in the 
Williston, N.D . area with a Texas-based oil services company, is suing her former employer for 
gender discrimination, equal pay law violations and retaliation , according to a complaint filed 
today in federal district court in North Dakota. 

[The case file number is 4:15-CV-00018-DLH-CSM.] 

Cindy Marchello, an Ogden, Utah resident, alleges that management at C&J Energy Services, 
Inc. created such intolerable working conditions as to cause her to quit her job. The downward 
spiral in her workplace treatment accelerated after she filed a human rights complaint against 
the company with the federal EEOC in August 2014, according to the lawsuit. However, the 
EEOC complaint came about only after Marchello endured numerous gender-related "insults 
and indignities" from her supervisors and occasionally from co-workers as well. 

"The complaint alleges that C&J punished Cindy Marchello for working in a male-dominated 
field and for courageously reporting discrimination to authorities. That sort of behavior by an 
employer is illegal, " says Stephen Premo, an attorney with Halunen Law, the Minneapolis-based 
law firm representing Marchello. "The allegations in the complaint present a harrowing picture of 
how difficult it was for Ms. Marchello to survive for as long as she did working in such a mean­
spirited and misogynistic environment. I have no doubt that a jury of her peers will find her story 
convincing and that she will prevail. " 

C&J Services hired Marchello in October 2012 to work as a Class B Pump Operator in the oil 
fields. As a certified diesel mechanic and with three years of oil shale tracking work experience 
under her belt, she had the requ isite skills for the job. She started working the same time as 
several other new hires, all men and all working the same types of jobs. 

Her beginning wage was $21 per hour. She agreed to work a "21/21 " schedule, meaning she 
worked 12-hour shifts for 21 days straight, followed by 21 days of time off with full pay. With 
overtime, she was soon on track to make $120,000 a year. It's the kind of pay that helps people 
justify putting in long workdays in the harsh environment of the oil fields. 

But Marchello's days as a pump operator were cut short. An official with a C&J client company, 
Kodiak Oil & Gas, allegedly told her boss - after spotting her on his work site - that he didn't like 
women working in the field, according to the complaint. Her manager then assigned her the 
backbreaking task of lugging 50-pound buckets of chemicals around the site for 12 hours a day 
- a job normally divided between all crewmembers. 

Next, C&J pulled her away from field duties to a desk job at the local C&J offices . She had no 
office skills or training , and pleaded to get her old job back. However, her manager said it was 
"too dangerous" and "too cold" for her in the field , according to the complaint. Office work 
offered no opportunities for overtime pay, so her expected annual income shriveled to less than 
50 percent of what she could make working outside. The company also threatened to cut other 
benefits such as per diem pay and paid housing. 
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Ironically, one of her new tasks in the office was to handle payroll. In so doing , the complaint 
alleges, Marchello learned she was being paid $2 an hour less than men with equivalent 
experience and tenure with the company, a clear violation of North Dakota's equal pay for equal 
work law. When she complained, her supervisor told her to "shut her mouth" if she wanted to 
keep her job, according to the complaint. 

Then a new supervisor arrived, one who allegedly made it clear that he wanted her gone from 
the company. "You and I have to get along ," she told the new man. She alleges in the complaint 
that he responded , "You will suffer a cruel , slow death at my hands." 

Finally, she filed a discrimination complaint with the federal EEOC in August 2014. Shortly after 
that, two officials from human resources arrived to meet with her and discuss the complaint. 
One told her she was a "flighty troublemaker," and that "as soon as we make this EEOC thing 
go away," they would cut her pay and benefits further, according to the lawsuit. 

Stressed and fearing for her health and well -being , Marchello resigned from the company in 
October 2014. 

She alleges violations of state and federal laws, including discrimination and reprisal in violation 
of the North Dakota Human Rights Act, Title VII and the North Dakota Equal Pay Act. The 
lawsuit seeks damages to compensate for lost wages and emotional distress, as well as 
punitive damages. 

"The pattern of abuse and mistreatment alleged by our client is nearly sinister in scope," says 
Clayton Halunen, managing partner of Halunen Law. "It's shocking to think that a woman 
employee could be treated in such a discriminatory manner today by an American company 
operating in an American state. Every woman has a right to fair and equitable treatment, no 
matter whether she's working in the rugged shale oil fields of North Dakota or the shimmering 
office towers of Manhattan. We are pleased to represent Ms. Marchello in her lawsuit, as we 
would be to represent anyone, man or woman, who believes themselves to be a victim of illegal 
workplace discrimination and retaliation ." 

About Halunen Law 

With offices in Minneapolis and Chicago, Halunen Law offers experienced legal representation 
to employees, consumers and whistleblowers in individual and class actions. Halunen Law has 
achieved a reputation as a fearless, tenacious and successful plaintiffs' law firm , with a laser 
focus on achieving justice for its clients as well as meaningful social change. For information on 
the firm , visit the firm 's website at halunenlaw.com. 

Contacts 
Halunen Law 
Clayton Halunen, 612-605-4098 
halunen@halunenlaw.com 
or 
Big Thunder PR 
Doug Hovelson, 612-722-5501 
doughovelson@msn.com 



Senate I n d u stry, Business a n d  La bor 

H ouse B i l l s  1257 
M a rch 4, 2015 

Good m o r n i n g  C h a i rm a n  K le in and m e m b e rs of the Senate I n d ustry, Bus in ess, and Labor 

co m m ittee .  I am Renee Stro m m e  rep resent ing t h e  N o rth Da kota Women's N etwork. We a re a 

statewi d e  a d vocacy o rgan i zat ion work ing to i m p rove t h e  l ives of wo m e n .  We sta n d  i n  su pport 

of H o u s e  B i l l  1 2 5 7 .  The t i m e  i s  d u e  fo r N D  to u p d ate o u r  laws rega rd i n g  e q u a l  pay for eq u a l  

work.  

W h e n  t h e  b i l l  was e n a cted i n  1965,  the pay gap was less  than 60 cents  to every d o l l a r  earned by a m a n .  

I n  N D ,  we've o n ly r isen a l itt le ove r 1 0  cents t o  70.2 .  T h e  g a p  represents t h e  overa l l  g a p  i n  m e d i a n  

e a r n i ngs of m e n  a n d  women i n  t h e  state . T h e re a re n u m e rous fa cto rs t h a t  l e a d  to that  ga p .  P a y  

d i s c r i m i n a t i o n  is  o n e  of t h ose factors. S t u d y  afte r study s h ows that  s o m e  of the p a y  d i s pa rit ies can not 

be ex p l a i n ed away by legit i m a te factors, such a s  d iffe re nces i n  vocation,  ed ucat ion o r  expe r ience. ;  

1257 p rovides a c l e a n  up to cu rrent l aws and c la rifi cat ion on j u r isd ict ion,  statute of l i m itat ions, 

retent ion of record s, a n d  sta n d a rd s .  These c h a nges p rovid e  mod est u pd ates to e n s u re o u r  

e q u a l  p a y  laws m atch cu rrent sta n d a rd s .  These u p d ates a re cr it ica l  t o  a d d ress several  gaps i n  

t h e  cu rrent statute.  E q u a l  p a y  laws h ave become a n  e m pty p ro m i se fo r m a n y  wom en who 

exper ience pay d iscri m i n at i o n .  Th ese b i l l s set fo rth a b a l a nced a p p roach to u p d ate t h e  tools we 

h ave to work toward e q u a l  pay for eq u a l  work.  

Wage d iscri m i n at ion  d oes exist and has con seq u e n ces .  Pay d i s p a rit ies cost wom e n  and t h e i r  

fa m i l i e s  t h o u s a n d s  o f  d o l l a rs each  year wh i l e  t h ey a re working a n d  t h o u s a n d s  i n  ret i rement 

i n co m e  w h e n  t h ey l eave t h e  workfo rce .  It is long p a st t i m e  for the state to act to e n s u re t h at 

t h e  p ro m i se of e q u a l  pay becomes a rea l ity.  Th e N o rth Da kota Women's  N etwork s u p ports 

1257 a n d  ask the c o m m ittee give favo r a b l e  a p p rova l to the b i l l .  

See, e . g . ,  Fra n c i n e  D .  B l a u  & Lawrence M .  K a h n ,  The G e n d e r  Pay G a p :  H ave W o m en G o n e  a s  F a r  a s  They Ca n ?, 

2 1  ACA D .  M G M T. P E R S P .  7 (2007);  C H R I STIAN N E  CORBETI & CATH E R I N E  H I LL, A M .  ASS' N OF U N I V .  W O M E N ,  

GRAD UATI N G  TO A P A Y  G A P :  T H E  EAR N I NGS O F  WO M E N  A N D  M E N  O N E  Y E A R  A F T E R  CO L L E G E  G RADUAT I O N  

( 2 0 1 2 ) .  

1 1 20 Col lege D rive, Su ite 1 00 .  Bismarck. N D  5850 1 • ndwomen.org 



Dear Senators, 

Afte r visiting and discussing my participation with advocates, I am submitting the following information 
with the understanding my name, employers name, and any specific identifying information is withheld . 
In wanting to do what I can to provide testimony on behalf of women's employment issues in North 
Dakota . I don't want my employer to retaliate further for my involvement. I also don't want to 
jeopardize my EEOC investigation . I appreciate your cooperation and understanding. 

And months of working towards a promotion, the position had finally been posted . The next day my 
manager pulled me into his office and said he could not get management's approval to pay me 100% of 
the salary as printed in the position agreement. One reason cited was I would be the highest paid female 
in the company and it would upset other female employees who had been with the company for quite a 
bit longer than I had . Another reason, is management did not want the wage to go above another set 
threshold . At this point, I was upset, but it didn't all hit me until the very next day at the office . I had 
heard certain male employees would be getting an additional raise. The next day I was given an 
insubordination letter for not wanting to discuss the real issue at hand (men getting raises when I 
couldn't even get paid 100% of my salary) . Management pulled the job posting and then I was put on 
paid administrative leave. The union fought and after months I was brought back to work. 

I currently have an EEOC charge against my employer under sex discrimination and retaliation for pulling 
the job posting. Now that I'm back to work I've been subject to micromanagement, changes in accepted 
past practice, extreme minute to minute documentation of my tasks, monitored, etc. I am being treated 
differently than everyone else as a form of harassment and retaliation for filing the EEOC complaint and 
union grievance. 

All I want is 100% of the salary for the position that was withdrawn. As a North Dakota woman in 2015, I 
deserve the same pay for equal work of my male counterparts . I didn't believe sex discrimination was 
real, maybe I didn't want to believe it could still be happening in today 's society. But it is, and I'm proof 
of it. 

Than k you 

Here 's additional background: 
-I'm a homeowner 
-I'm w hite 
-I'm a single mom 
-I have a MBA 
-I'm a voter, tax payer 



Senate Industry, Business and Labor Committee 
House Bills 1257 
March 4, 2015 

To the North Dakota Legislature, 

~.3 

I request for the people of North Dakota to take a deeper look at the wage gap that exists in the 
North Dakota. We as a state has an obligation to take care of all our workers, 

My name is Jonnie Cassens and rm a female truck driver. I've driven for 11 years, 3 of them in 
the Bakken. I've experienced a lot of sex discrimination. 

In job interviews l'm repeatedly told ·'our company doesn ' t cater to females". I am not asking to 
be catered to I just want an equal opportunity. I was denied housing (the biggest expense in the 
Bakken) because I was a woman. They didn ' t allow females in their housing. I said ·'fine, what 
about a per diem I could use for finding myself housing and meals." I was told "no." 

In another case, l was personally told that ·'there has never been a female hired onto this 
company and it 's because you're a di straction on job sites." Why am l the problem? The sexual 
harassers should be the problem. 

Another friend of mine joined me in looking for work. She·s a single mother raising a young 
daughter. She worked for a larger company trucking fl eet in North Dakota. She was hired to do 
accounting. Her pay is half what another man half a thin wall behind her is paid for the same 
position. 

As a single mother, and there are many in ND, she can barely pay for child care and housing. At 
the end of the month there is nothing left. She knows women and children in dangerous 
situations because they lack housing and childcare. 

Equal pay matters. It would bring better conditions for our children and more economic 
independence for everyone. 

I encourage the North Dakota Legislature to take a deeper look into the issue. Even small 
adjustments would lead to healthier and more respectful lives for women in this great State of 
North Dakota. 

Jonnie Cassens 
701-400-4361 
jonniccas"cns(?1.gmail.com 
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N O RTH DAKOTA 
H U MAN R I GHTS 
C O A L I T I O N  

Testimony in support of House Bill 1 257 

From T J Jerke 
Legislative Coordinator, ND Human Rights Coalition 

To Senate Industry, Business & Labor 
Senator Jerry Klein, Chair 

March 4 ,  201 5 

M r. Chairman, and members of the Industry, Business, and Labor 

Committee, My name is TJ Jerke. I am here on behalf of the North Dakota 

Human Rights Coalition. 

The North Dakota H uman Rights Coalition is a broad-based coalition of 

individuals and organizations around North Dakota. Since 2 0 0 2, the 

Coalition has been passionately working to effect change so that all 

people in North Dakota enjoy full  human rights. 

Our Coalition is in support of H ouse Bill 1 2 5 7, which seeks to give men 

and women equal footing when it comes to compensation, and the 

opportunity to seek legal remedies if they know they have been unfairly 

compensated because of their gender. 

Work is one of the most fundamental aspects in a person's life, 
providing the individual with a means of financial support and, as 
importantly, a contributory role in society. A person's employment is an 

essential component of his or her sense of identity, self-worth and 
emotional well-being. Accordingly, the conditions in which a person 

works are h ighly significant in shaping the whole compendium of 

psychological, emotional and physical elements of a person's dignity 

and self-respect. 

The process of securing equal pay conditions requires society and 

employers to actively build equality promoting measures into their 

practices. H ouse Bill 1 2 5 7  will help do just that. This transforms the 



status of employees, enhancing their capacity to be full  participants in 

their workplace and society. It  also recognizes employees as having the 

capacity to contribute to, and advance within the workplace, and to 

resist abuse and harassment. It  supports and sustains b roader economic 

and social equality as well. 

Please, join the Coalition's mission and help effect change so that all 

people in N o rth Dakota enj oy full human rights. I urge you to give House 

Bill  1 2 5 7  a Do Pass Recommendation. 

' 

' 



Real Possibilities in 

North Dakota 
House Bill 1257 - SUPPORT 

March 4, 2015 
Senate Industry, Business and Labor Committee 

Josh Askvig - AARP North Dakota 
jaskvig@aarp.org or 701-989-0129 

Chairman Klein and members of the Senate Industry, Business and Labor Committee, I 

am Josh Askvig , Associate State Director of Advocacy for AARP North Dakota. We rise 

in support of the package of gender equity bill before you today (House Bill 1257). 

Dr. Ethel Percy Andrus, a retired educator and AARP's founder, became an activist in 

the 1940s when she found a retired teacher living in a chicken coop because she could 

afford nothing else. Dr. Andrus couldn't ignore the need for health and financial security 

in America and set the wheels in motion for what would become AARP. We are a 

nonprofit, nonpartisan membership organization with 85,000 members in North Dakota 

and 38 million nationwide. We understand the priorities and dreams of people 50-plus 

and are committed to helping them live life to the fullest , including here in North Dakota . 

The bill you are hearing this morning is aimed at addressing and closing some important 

pay equity concerns on the basis of gender. AARP policy " ... supports efforts to eliminate 

all barriers to women's employment and ensure equality in employment opportunities, 

pay, and benefits. " Occupational segregation by sex and pay inequity among workers 

lead to less retirement income for women . Pay equity is key to enhancing women's 

wages and retirement income. 

Mr. Chairman, thank you for your time and we urge this committee to support HB 1257. 




